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Members of the Assembly Judiciary Committee 

Barbara S. Hutcheon, Aide to the Committee 

April 14, 1987 

COMMITTEE MEETING - MAY 7, 1987 

Please address any comments and questions to Barbara S. 
Hutcheon, Committee Aide. 

The Assembly Judiciary Committee will meet on Thursday, May 7, 

1987 at 10:00 a.m. in Room 403 in the State House Annex, Trenton, 
New Jersey. 

The Committee will consider the following bills: 

A-3035 
Kern 

A-3036 
Kern 

A-3037 
Kern 

A-3038 
Kern 

A-3039 
Kern 

A-3040 
Kern 

AJR-76 
Fe 1 ice 

Provides for liability for failure to warn of the 
side effects of fertility drugs. 

Provides for rights and liabilities of persons engag­
ing in fertilization procedures. 

Regulates certain aspects of artificial insemination 
procedures. 

Provides requirements for surrogate parenthood 
contracts. 

Provides for the possession of frozen embryos in 
divorce proceedings and rights of inestate succession. 

Requires physicians to provide patients with certain 
information concerning sterilization procedures. 

Creates a commission to study the subject of 
surrogate parenthood. 





ASSEJ\iBLY, :No. 3035 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 
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IXTRODT!CED SEPTE~IBER 11, 1986 

By A.ssemblymall KERX 

A-s AcT concermng the, responsibility of a physician to inform 

patients about the possilJle side effects from the me of fertility 

drugs. 

BE IT E-SACTED by tl1e Senate and General As:-cemb1y of the State 

of "1'' cu: Jersey: 

1. As u:c:ed 111 this act "fertility drug,:" nwm1,: any medication 

administered to enhance the child-bearing capahilitie~ of its re­

cipie11t, including gunadotrovin. 

2. Prior to the adrninistratio11 of a fertility drug to a patient, a 

phy~ic-ian :-hall: 

a. ,Yan1 tl1c• Jiati(•ut of the 11ossihle owrf'timulation of the o-rnries 

or of 11ote11tial <lrop i11 lJlood 1n·esrnrc· as a result of takil!p.: a 

fertility drug: 

h. ,Yarn tlie patient of any other possilill' side eff e('t. inelucli11g, 

hut 11ot limitell to, lllultiple births; and 

c. ,Yarn the pati('11t alJout a11y possibility tl1at the me<licatio11 or 

tn,ahm•Jit may rernlt in an inaliility to re11rodueP. 

~l TLe tailun, to (•01,:1:ly witl1 the Jll'OYisions of sec:tio11 2 oi' this 

act shall gin, rist- to a cause of action for compensatory and 1mni­

frn damages. 

4. This act shall take effec-t immediately. 

STATE~IEXT 

This bill 1-ets forth the responsibility of a physician to warn his 

patie11t::, of the possilJle side effect1- inYolwd in taking fertility 

,irugs. Tl1e failme to 1n·0Yide these ,rnrnings shall giYe rise to a 

cause of action for compensatory and punitiYe damages. 

TORT LL\BILITY --'-~XD ~1ALPR_\CTICE 

Prnvides for liability for failure to warn of the side effects of 

fertility drugs. 





A.SSEl\iBLY, No. 3036 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

INTRODUCED SEPTEMBER 11, 1986 

By Assemblyman KER~ 

Ax AcT concerniug in Yitro and in YiYo fertilization. 

1 BE IT E-XACTEIJ uy the Senate and General Assembly of tl1e State 

2 ofJ.:orJerscy: 

1 1. _ls used in this act: 

2 a. "Female clo11or" nwai1s a \\"OllHlll ,rho g1Yes or sells her oYa 

3 for use i11 an in Yitro or in YiYo fertilization procedurl'. 

4 b. "Frozen embryo" mea11s the frozen coHceptus of a11 i11 Yitro or 

5 in Yi Yo fertilization. 

6 c. "In Yitro fertilization" meam the process by which a11 egµ: 1:,: 

i surgieally remoYed from a woman am1 fertilized i11 a pc0 tri disl1. 

8 d. "In YiYo fertilizatio11'' means the fertilization of an egµ: \\·itlti11 

9 a female's body ,rith the intentio11 that the embryo ,rill lie re1110Yel1 

10 and transferred to the body of a11other female. 

11 e. ").Iale donor'' means a man who giYes or sells his sernP11 to a 

12 practiti01wr for use in an artificial insemination procedurfc. 

13 f. ''ProspectiYe parents" means the person or persom who i11te1icl 

14 to raise the offsrJrin;::: of an in Yitro or in YiYo fertilization, and ,Y110 

15 entered in a contract purrnant to section 5 of this act. 

16 g. "Surrogate or surrogate mother'' means a ,rn1wrn at least 18 

17 years of age who consent::: to be artifically insemi1iated with the 

18 semeu of the infertile ,rnman's husband or with the seme11 of a 

19 male donor and to carry the child to full term and tlwn to Yohrn-

20 tarily relinquish her parental rights to that chilll i11 fayor of tlw 

21 prospectiYe parents. 

1 2. In Yitro and in YiYo fertilization procedures shall he performed 

2 by a licensed physician. The freezing seme11, oYa or embryos shall 

3 be performed under the superYision of a lice11sed physician. 

1 3. All persons participating in an in Yitro or ill YiYo fertilization 

2 procedure, except persons who haYe donated their ge11etie material 

3 for that purpose. must execute a contract prior to performing tlw 

4 procedure, which proYides what action is to be taken if olle or both 



2 

5 of the prospective parents dies or otherwise become unable to 

6 assume their responsibilities toward the embryo. 

1 4. a. Prior to performiug the fertilization procedure. the physician 

2 shall, in plain language, explain to the parties the steps that will be 

3 undertaken and the risks involved. 

4 b. Failure to comply with the provisions of subsection a. of this 

5 section shall render the physician liable for compensatory damages, 

6 up to a maximum of $250,000.00. 

1 5. The prospectiYe parents of the embryo or frozen embryo shall 

2 have all rights to the embryo. 

1 6. A female donor shall, in ,\Titing, relinquish all rights to the 

2 offspring of an in vitro or in vivo fertilization prior to providing 

3 her genetic material. 

1 7. In the event a physician fails to retrieve an eml1ryo from a 

2 female donor after a successful ill vivo fertilization procedure, 

3 the female sha11 be entitled to termiHate the pregllancy at the 

4 expense of the prospective parents, unless the parties agrPe other-

5 wise. The parties may agree to continue the prega11cy 1iy exeeuti11g 

6 a surrogate parenthood contract. 

1 8. It shall be a crime of the third degree to sell ernhryoi' or 

2 frozen embryos. 

1 9. This act shall take effect immediately. 

STATE~IEXT 

This bill sets forth the rights and liabilities of persons who wish 

to participate in alternative mea11s of reproduction. It pro,·ides 

definitions for in vitro and in vivo fertilization procedure:;: "·hich 

must be performed under the supervision of a licensPd 11hysician. 

All persons "·ho wish to participate in an in vitro or in vivo fertili­

zation process must execute a written contract which will provide 

the action to be taken in the ewnt of the death or incapacity of 

the prospectiYe parents. The physician must explai11 the nature 

of the procedure and the risks invoked, or be liable for compen­

satory damages up to $250.000.00. If the physician fails to retriew 

an embryo from a female donor, she ,,·ill be entitled to an abortion 

at the prospectiYe parent's expense or to act as a rnrrogate mother 

and bear the child. It shall he a crime of the third dPgree to sell 

an embryo or frozen embryo. 

DO~IESTIC RELATIOXS 

Provides for rights aud lialJilitier,: of persons e11gugiJJg ill fertiliza­

tion procedures. 



ASS E l\I B LY, No. 3 0 3 7 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

IKTRODUCED SEPTE~fBER 11, 1986 

By Assemblyman KERN 

As AcT concerning the regulatioll of artificial insemination pro­

cedures and repealing section 7 of P. L. 1983, c. 17. 

1 BE IT EXACTED l)y the Se11<1fe and General Assembly of the State 

2 of Neu· Jersey: 

1 l. As used in this act: 

2 a. "Artificial insemination" means the introduction of seme11 into 

3 a woman\: vagi1ia, cervical canal or uterus through the use of 

4 instrumr·nt;; or other artificial means with the intent of causiiig 

5 pregnancy. 

6 li. "DPJ)artrnent'' rneans the Department of Health. 

7 c. "Do11or'' or "male donor" rnealls a man who gives or sells his 

8 seme11 to a Jlraditioner for use in an artificial insemination pro-

9 cedure. 

10 d. "Health care facility" means those facilities described 111 

11 section 2 of P. L. 1971. c. 136 ( C. 26 :2H-2). 

12 e."Practitioner" meai1s a physicim1 or a lice11sed health care 

1B provider "·ho works under the direct supenisio11 of a physician. 

1 2. This act shall apply only to artificial insemination proc0dures 

2 performed by a practitio11er i11 a health care facility. 

l 3. The Department of Health shall maintain records of a11 semen 

2 donors. 'l'he records held by the department shall be kept confi-

3 dential and sha11 be exempted from the requiremeuts of P. L. 19G3, 

4 c. 73 ( C. 47 :lA-1 et seq.). The records shall be disclosed hy the 

5 department only to a practitioner "·ho requires the information 

6 to perform an artificial insemination procedure according to the 

i provisions of this act. 

PROPERTY OF 
NEW JERSEY STATE LIBRARY 

AllG 

185 W. STATE ST: PO BOX 520 
TFiENl ON NJ 08625-0520 



,. 
;::: 

1 4.a. A practitioner performing an artificial insemination pro-

2 cedure shall obtain the proposed male donor's records from the 

3 departrneut. If records do not exist for the proposed d011or or if 

4 the records do not contaill inforlllation concernillg the proposed 

5 donor's genetic history, the practitio11er shall scree11 the prnposed 

6 donor for hereditary disorders as defined in Section 3 of P. L. 19S1. 

i c. 502 (C. 2G:5B-3) and obtain a genetic history from him. The 

8 practiti011er shall also test a proposed douor for sexually tran:,:-

9 mitted disease ,Yithi11 0lle week before his semen is donated. 

10 b. A practitioHer shall not use a proposed donor's semell for all 

11 artificial inseminatio11 procedure if the donor has a sexually trans-

12 mitted diseasc-> at the time the semen is donated or if the proposed 

13 donor has a knowu genetic disease or defect. 

1 5. A practitio11er shall 110t; 

2 a. r se a donor's selllen for more than 20 different artificially 

3 inseminated pregnaucies; aud 

4 b. Use semell from more than oue donor iu any one memtrual 

5 cycle of a ,rnmm1 midergoing an artificial insemiuation procedure. 

1 6. rpon the successful collceptio11 of a "·omau through an artificial 

2 illsemination procedure, the practitioHer who performed tlie pro-

3 cedure shall send to the department the records of the donor whose 

4 semen was used in the procedure. 

1 i. A perso11 ,Yho willfully Yiolates this act or any rnle or reg·u-

2 latiou promulgated pursuant to it, is subject to a penalty of $200.00 

3 for the first offeuse and $300.00 for each subsequeut offense. The 

4 penalty shall be collected aud enforced by summary procef'diup-

5 under "the penalty enforcement la,Y," X. J. S. 2A :58-1 et seq. 

1 8. The donor of the semen used for an artificial insc,mi1rn tio11 

2 procedure shall be treated in law as if he were not the natural 

3 father of a child conceiwd by the procedure unless: 

4 a. The donor is the huslJand of the "·oman who has co11ceiYed 

5 the child; 

6 b. The donor adopts the child with the mother's consent: or 

7 c. The doHor aud the mother agree in "·ritiug that the donor shall 

8 he the father. 

1 9. If artificial insemiiiatiou 1s to be performed on a married 

2 woman "·ith semeu donateJ by a man ,Yho is not her huslJanJ. the 

3 married woman and her husband shall sign a consent form. The 

4 practitioner shall certify their signatures and the date of tlw 

5 insemination, and file the consent form with the department. "·here 

6 it shall be kept confidential and in a sealed file. A married "·oman's 

7 failure to obtain her husband's consent for an artificial inserniiiation 

8 with semen donated by a man other than her husband i~ deemed 

9 to be adultery, for the purposes of K. J. S. 2A :34-2. 
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1 10. The status of a child conceiYed through artificial insemination 

2 shall be dctcnni1,ed by :X e,Y Jersey la,Y if the child is born to a 

3 mother domiciled in this State. 

l l 1. This act shall J1ot be co11strued as a change or modification of 

2 the rights or status of a child bon1 before this act is enacted. 

1 12. The Commissio11er of the Department of Health shall pronrnl-

2 gate those rules aLCl regulatim1s pursuant to the "Administratin! 

3 Procedure Act," P. L. 19GS, c. 410 (C. 52 :14B-1 et seq.) necessary 

4 to effectuate the 1iurpose:o of this act. 

1 13. Section 7 of P. L. 1933. c. 17 ( C. 9 :17-44) is repealed. 

1 14. This ad shall take dfect on the 120th day after enactrnent. 

ST.ATE?-IE:XT 

This bill rPgulates certain aspects of artificial insemination pro­

cedures. To remedy the lack of record keeping in this area, thi:­

bill require,: physi('iam: a]l(l other health care practitio11en, per­

forming tl1is 11rocedure to screen the proposed semen donors for 

sexually trai1smitted and hereditary disorders. foforrnatio11 gath­

ered l1y the:::c phy8icialls ai1d health care practitioner:- is to lw 

ginn to the Dep1utlJleJ1t of Health where it ·will be c011fide11tially 

mai11tained. 

rnder tlH0 proYisio11:- of this bill. a married woman's failun• to 

ohtai11 lwr huslmml's conscnt for an artificial inseminatio11 ,Yitl1 

semen do1intl:'d l1y a 111m1 other than her huslmlid is dl:'e111c•,l tn l1v 

adultery allCl therefore a cause for diYoree under :X. J. S. 2_-\ :3-1-2. 

This hill also addresses the questim1 of paternity i11 regard to a 

child c-011cl:'eincl tlll"OUfdl artificial i11serni11atio11. A do11or shall lw 

treated as if he ,wre not tile natural father unle::-s he is rnanied 

to the woman \\·ho has conc·eiYed the child, the mother consents to 

his acloptillg the child, or the mother and he agree in ,niting that 

he shall lJe the fatl1er. 

This bill repeals sectio11 , of P. L. 19S3, c. 17 ( C. 9 :17-44) lweame 

the 1w0Yisiorn: of that sectio11 are incorporated into this hill. 

HK-\LTH-GE:XERAL 

Regulates certain as11ects of artificial inserni11ation procedures. 





ASSE1\1BLY, No. 3038 

STATE OF NEW JE.RSEY 

IXTRODl'CED SBPTE::\IBER 11. 1986 

B:: Assemblyman KERX 

AN AcT conc0n1ing- :-:uno?alC' motlwrhoocl and supplementi11g 

Title 9 of thr, Rt>Yised Statute,-. 

1 BE IT ENACTED lnt tl,e 8euut1: (1/11/ Ocueru/ ,t,.~emuly of tf;e ,Sln/1, 

2 of Xe//' Jersey: 

1 1. Jt i:-: the intent of tlic Legi,-latn:P to faeilitate tl1e ability of 

2 ini'crtile rnmTic•d eou11le.-: to l.wcome pm·cnt:- through the Clllploy-

3 meut of tlw :-en·ice,-c of n , mTosate n1otlir1·. Thr Legislature fiJll1.­

-! alld c10clare,- that ,;;mTog<1tc· J 1a re11t 1100d contract,; a re in ac·c·onl 

;') with tl1e public polie:, of tl1i,-; State. 

l :1. A:-: u:-ec1 in this act: 

2 a. "Artificial in,-rn1in:1tion ·· meaJi,- the plaeement of ,;;ernl'll illto 

3 a \Yomim ''-' reproductiYc tract for pnrpo:-:rs of c.oneeption. 

-! b. '' Genetic- materinl · · n10ai1,c O\'H and ,-;penu. 

~> c. "Health earr facility" lllenn:- tlio:;e faeilitie:- dl:',-;c1·ilwcl i11 

6 section 2 of P. L. 1971, e. 13G (C. 2G:2H-2). 

7 d. '' Hus hand'' mean .. tJ1;, rn:1le partner ot' n 11rnniPcl conph·. 

8 e. "In Yitro frrtilizntioll" men1,s tlw proee"s h:· whid1 an egf.:, 

9 is surgically 1·ern0Yel1 f10111 a \\·onwn and fertilized in a 1wtri 

10 dish with sperm. 

11 f. ";.lale donor"' mea1Js a mal\' who gn-es or S\'ll,, hi,- sperlll to 

1:Z a practitioner for tl1e JH1rJ10,-e of artificial in,-:e111inatim1. 

13 g. '' ;.Ianie<l couple·' rnea11,- tlie per,-on-- who haw, executed n 

14 contract pursuant to section G of this act arn1 who illtend to 

15 adopt the cliilcl born to tlH:' :-:unogate rnother. 

1G h. "Practitioner·' means a phy:;ician or a lieen,-ecl health eare 

17 pro,·i<ler who work1- under tl1e direct supen-ision of a physician. 



lb 1. "Sunogate'' or "sunogat2 mother" mean:, a woman at 

19 least 18 years of age who executes a contract pursuant to r-ec-

20 tion 6 of this act and who intends to relinquish all par0ntal ri~hh 

21 to the child she bear;.. 

1 3. This act shall apply only to surrogate motbe:-J1ood proeednre,-

2 perforn1Pcl by a practitioner i11 a health cure facility. 

1 4. The Department of Health sk,11 maintain records of all 

2 surrogate mothers. The record:- helc1 by the department shall be 

3 kept confidential and shall Le ('Xl'111ptc-cl from the reqniremenb 

4 of P. L. 1963, c. 73 (C. -17:lA-1 c·t ::,eq.). ~Iedic:11 information 

5 may onl~- be disclosed to a phy<-icinn or licen;;:ed 1,ealtli care pro-

6 Yiuer, if that information i,- neee."'sary to care for the child lJro-

7 duced by a surrogate motherliood procedure. 

1 5. _\ practitioner 1Jerfon111J1g a :':'UlTO:!ate motherlwor1 procedun· 

2 shall obtain the rnrrog,1te lllOt lier's Teeorc1:- fro1n the Depn rtm,,nt 

3 of Henlth. If the rel'ord:- rlo not exi,t for tlie propo"ec1 SUlTO.(.!ate 

4 or if the record;;; do not contain inforrnat:on conceming the pro-

5 posed surrogate's f-:enetic hi,-tory, the practitioner ,-hall 1-c-r0c-n 

6 the proposed surro~att: for ~em·Ll' c1=,ea~c-c: or d0fectc: a"' pro-

7 Yidecl ill P. L. 19S1, c-. GO~ ( C. 2G :jB-1 et seq.) and :-:lrnll ohtai11 

8 a genetic history froni hc-r 01· hl'r 1 •er:-011al nwdic-al rc-conl,,. Thl' 

9 practitioner shall a],-o tc,-t a prnpo,-cLl !"Unogate for sexnally 

10 transmit te>cl cli;;;ease;;; J•!·ior to l ,r•rforniin,'.!. tl1(• n rtific-in'. ins0mina­

ll tion or in Yitro fertilizntion. 

1 6. Prior to performi11~ tlw artifici:11 in~cmi1wtion or in Yitro 

2 fei-tilization, a contract :--l1r,.ll 1,(• L'Xf'C•utec1 b>- the rnrrogatc, the 

3 married couple, a1•d tlic· pra<:titionr•r :--nr,erYi:-:ing the proc-r·dnre. 

4 The contract slrnll inc-1nal', hnt i,- not lirnitecl to. th0 follm,:ing 

5 clauses: 

6 a. The terms of paynwnt 01· c-i11!J}lL'll-'«tion, if any. to th0 :-ur-

7 rog:ate, including time and mam1Pr of paymc·nt; 

8 b. The medical treatmc-11t, if any, to be proYided to the sur-

9 rogate, after the birth of the child: 

10 c. A statement pr0Yir1il1g that the ,-uno~'.·ate will relinquish 

11 the child for adoption m1cl that tl1,· maniecl couple will adopt the 

12 child, regardles,;: of tbe chik1 's condition; 

13 d. A statement proYiding that the f:'unogate \\·ill refrain from 

14 sexual intercoun-e whil0 ,-]10 is trying to conce;ye for the rnaniecl 

15 couple; and 

16 e. A ~pecifa mec1il'al rxmnim1tio11 ,-.eJ1edule to b0 followet1 by 

17 thr. sunog:ate. 

1 7. A contract ente>re<l i1,to 1nn"'n:n1t to :--Pdion G of tl1i,- a('t ;-;Jiall 

2 he Yoidable up to the point of c-onc-r>ption. 
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1 8. 'i,Yhenever the child that 1s ge,.,tate<l within the surrogate is 

2 not genetically related to the surrogate or to the married couple, 

3 the married couple :;:hall lian' the fa;;t rigl1t of adoption. proYi<led 

4 that a contract pursuant to ,,ection G of this act ha;:; heel! 0nterel1 

5 into by the surrogate and tl1e marri(0 d coupl<'. 

1 9. If the surrogate is undergoing artificial insemination b:-· donor 

2 rather than by the hu,-hm1d, thC' donor shall liaYe no legal right,-

3 to the child. 

1 10. Artificial insc·rnination of a SUJTO'.!,lte ;.},all be 1wrfornwd i11 

2 a proper healtli care facility and :-hall liC' go\·emed by Statl' health 

:-3 laws µoYerning artifici,11 in--0111i1wtio11. 

1 11. The surrogate ,:,lrnll c-cmtac·t tli0 doc·tor 1w:torrni1!g the a r-

2 tificial i.nsemination. if tlwre ,tl'l· an:, maior cha,ic:(',- in lwr hc,,1ltl1 

3 wLicl1 are of a genetic natun,, after tl1r birth of the cliild. Thi, 

4 duty to cli,-closC' shall lie conti1rnill'.! :im1 the failur<' on tl1e part 

3 of th,, smT0£1.·atc to l1o --n ;;Lall 1·r·n<1,~1 LL·r lia l1]e in co:r,pc,11,:11 nr:-· 

G and punitiYe damage~. 

1 12. The practitioner su1.en·i,-i1!g the artificinl in:-:emi11ntio11 all(! 

2 the pregnancy of the n1rrogate :-:l1all forward a col):· of tlic' p,lrti,·, · 

3 medical recorcl,c: and a e:ori:\· of tlw contract e11te1·e(l into 11m·s1w111 

4 to section G of tlii,; act to the Dep,tl'h1wnt of Health. 

1 13. ~ otwithstanding tl1<' 1wo\·isi Oll', of P. L. 1~183, c. 17 ( C. 0 :17-3"­

., et seq.) or an:· other 1)]'0\·;-.:iu11-.: oi' lm,· to tl1e contrary, tlw lw:--

3 band sliall bC' the 1iaturnl fatl1e>r, witl1 all tl1c· righh, dutie" mid 

4 obligations of thr1t rd«tion:-l1i1,. of tllC' eliild l,orn to n \ro11w11 wlw 

5 agree,c: to act as a sm-rogatc· mnther \,·he11 tl1c chilcl ,rn,., concein,d 

G during tlie period of til!H" c1nring ,y}1;c-J1 it \\·as po:-:Cibl(' for lwr 

7 to haYe c:011eei\·C'd a:- u rc:-ult of the· ~trtjfiL·ial in:-erni1rntiu11 rnadv 

~ under a surrogate parenth(loc1 contrnct. TLe rnt1ul· of tlw lrn:-:bm,d 

9 and the surrogate shall 1.>l' entered on the hirth certificate for the 

10 child a-- the cliilcl 's 1iarC'nts. 

1 14. :211ateria1 a,c:sistnnce }JrOYidl'c1 Ly a agent. filll1n or inter-

2 mediary for or betwC'c>n a married couple and a '-UJTO_'..cate rnotlic,1· 

3 for the purpose of fonning a HHrogatc parent11ooc1 :1nangemC'nt 

4 and executing a surrogatr 11aJ'enthood contract ~liall not con-:ti-

5 tute a ,·iolation of section 3 of P. L. 1077, e. 3r;7 (('. 0 :3-39) or 

G any other conflicting proyi,-ion~ of law. 

1 15. In the eYent of a di:eJrnte n, to t Le cu,toc1, of a ehilcl co;;-

2 ceiYed unclf'r a surrogate 11r1relitlioo,1 contrac-1 tLc· pro\·i,ion-.: of 

3 the contract as to the cn~toc1y of tLc· cliilfl ,-Jwll pre\·ail, unle~" 

J a court fimh that extr:t0n1i11ary cirem11,tm1L·c·:- rcqnil'v otJ,,--n,_·i,l·. 

1 lG. l-:-pon a breac-h of a HHJ og:1te parr11tl10od contn:ct, a court 



2 may grant any legal and equitaule relief it deems appropriate, 

3 including specific performance. 

1 17. A person who Yiohite,; any pro,;ision of tlii;;; act 1s guilty 

2 of a disorderly person-: offen:ee. 

1 18. This act shall take effect immediately. 

STATE:\IEXT 

This hill proYic1E'" for tlw regulation of :c:urro!2·ate parenthood 

arrangement,: ancl surrogate parentliooc1 c-ontractc:. It is t1w intent 

of the Legi,.;lature to facilitate tlw abilit:s-· of infertile married 

couple-: to become parl'1:t,- tl1l'ongl1 tlie 11:-e of smTog·ate mother;,;. 

Tliis hill set;.: forth the J'(•qnirernent-- of a "UJT0!211te 1rnrenthoocl 

contract which 11rn:-:t be executed 11rior to performing artificial 

insemination Ol' in Yitn, fcl'tilizntion 011 the sunognte mothPr. 

The proposed rnnogatP ,Jin]] he te:--tccl for genetic- disea,es or 

defects as well a, sexually tr1111,-Ji1it1e>d disea,-es. 

The bill 111·0\·icks for tlie acknmdeclgrnent of paternity by the 

lrn,-lJand ancl tl1e reli11qni,-;]rnwnt nf ]Jarental ricdit, h:· tlic• ,ur­

rogat(0. Payment~ made to a surrogat(" or to an a~E'nt. finder o;· 

intennecliar;-· do 1wt Yiolat,, exi,tin;::· l:m,-; ,d1icl1 pl'oliil1it pnyment 

in connection with tlw adoptioll of a child. 

1n the eYent of a c-u"!oc1:, cli,1rnt,· tlie pro\·ision, of tliE' ~mTo­

gate parellthood contract ,•;onlll J)J'E'\',1il ancl in tlH· (•\·ent of a 

breach of the contnwt, a ("Ourt i:c: antliorizPcl to grant an:, lega1 

and equitable relief. iuclnding "rwcifk perfonnanee. 

DO:\IESTIC' REL\ TlO;\'S 

ProYicle~ requirernc·11b for H1nogate parenthood contract:--. 



ASSEMBLY, No. 3039 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

IXTRODrCED SEPTE">.fBER 11, 1986 

By Assernl1lyman KER:'.\ 

Ac\' An concerning in Yitro ferti1izc1tioll arnendin; X. J. S. 

2A :34--23 and X. J. S. 3B :~J-8 and supplementing Title 2_-\ of 

the X ew J erse:,- Stc1tutes. 

1 BE IT EXACTED by the Srnote and General Assembly of tllf; State 

2 of Sen· Jersey: 

1 1. X. J. S. 2A :34-23 is amended to read a,,: follm\·s: 

2 2A :34-23. Pending a11y nrntrirnouial action brought in this State 

3 or else,d1ere, or after judgment of diYorce or maintenance, w1eth(•r 

4 obtained in this State or ebe,Yhcn, the court may make rnch order 

J as to the alimony or mai11tenm1ce of tli0 parties, and abo a,: to 

6 tlle care, custody, education and maintenaiice of the d1ilchen, or 

7 any of them, as the circumqances of the parties and tlie nature of 

8 the ca,-e shall render fit, reaso1iable and just, and require reac:on-

9 able seeurity for tlie clue o1Jsen-ance of sueh orders. i-n/ess tlte 

10 JJartirs lia1·e e11tuecl into a 1criften agreement to tlie contrary, tlie 

11 fC/111/I, party shall lial'e tl1e right of possession of a frozen embryo 

12 co11cei1:ul tl1ro11gl1 i11 1:itro fertilization. l;pon neglect or refusal 

13 to giYe such Teasonable security, as shall be required, or upon 

14 default i11 complying "-ith any sueh order, the court may a,rnrd 

15 nnd issue proeess for the immediate sequestration of the personal 

16 estate, and the rents and profib of the real estate of the party 

17 so charged, and appoint a recei,-er thereof, and cause such per-

18 sonal estate and the rent::; and profits of sueh real estate, or so 

19 much tliereof as shall be neeessary, to be applied to,rnrd such 

20 alimony and maintcnanee as to the said court shall from time to 

21 time seem reasonable and just; or the performanee of the said 

Matter printed in italice thus is new matter. 
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22 orders may be enforced by other ways according to the practice 

23 of the court. Orders so made may be reYised and altered by the 

24 court from time to time as circumstances may require. 

25 In all actions brought for diYorce, di,orce from bed and board, 

26 or nullity the court may award alimony to either paTty, and in so 

27 doiug shall consider tlle ac-tual need and ability to pa~- of tbL· 

28 parties and the duration of the marriage. In all actiolls for di,orce 

29 other than those where judgrnent is granted solely on the ground 

30 of separation the court may consider also the proofs made in estab-

31 lishing such ground in determining m1 amount of alimony or maiu-

32 tenance tLat is fit, reasonable and ju:::t. In all actions for diYoree 

33 or diYorce from bed and board where judgment is granted on the 

34 ground of institutioualization for mental illnes,- the court may 

35 consider the possible burden upon the taxpayers of the State as 

36 well as the ability of the plaintiff to pay in determining an amount 

3i of maintenance to be awarded. 

38 In all actions where a judgment of diYorce or di\·orce from bed 

39 and board is entered the court may make such award or award~ to 

40 the parties, in addition to alimony and maintenance, to effectuate 

41 an equitable distribution of the property, both real and personal. 

42 which was legally and beneficially acquired by tl1em or either of 

43 them during the marriage>. HoweYer, all rnch property, real, per-

44 sonal or otherwise, le~a11y or beliefic:ially acquired dming the 

45 marriage by either party by way of gift, de,-i;.;e, or intestate sur-

46 cession shall not be subject to equitable distribution, except that 

47 inter-spousal gifts shall he suhj0e:t to equitable distribution. 

1 2. X. J. S. 3B :3-8 is amendl,cl to read as follo"·:-: 

2 3B :5-8. After born heirs. He la tin,- of the decedent conc-eiwd 

3 before bis death but born 1rifl1i11 300 days thereafter inl1erit a,- if 

4 they had been born in the lifetime of the dec-edent. 

1 3. (Xew section) In the eyent of the death of either party in-

2 Yolwd in a di,-orce proceeding, the sun·iying party shall be en-

3 titled to custody of a frozen emhryo. The noncustodial party shall 

4 not be ordered to pay child support in the ewnt the frozen embryo 

5 is gestated without tliat party'$ written consent. A frozen embryo 

6 shall not be trans£ erred to a third person without the written 

7 consent of both partie,-, The lm::-band shall be entitled to exercisr 

8 sole control and authority owr any of his semen store<l in a 

9 sperm bank. 

1 4. This act shall take effect immediately. 
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STATE~1EXT 

Cunent law bas not dealt with the issue of the status of frozen 

embryos conceived through in vitro fertilization. This bill gi,es 

the female party i11 a divorre proceeding possession of any frozen 

embryos unless the parties haYe proYided otherwise in a written 

agreement. It also provides tbat in the event of the death of 

eitheT party, custody shall go to the sur,i,or. Gestation of a 

frozen embryo, without the written consent of the other party 

shall not render that party liable for child support. It also amend,; 

the intestac:· statute to require that a decedent's relati,es co11-

ceind before bis death, must be born "·ithin 300 days after the 

death in order to share in the estate. Present law bas no time 

requirement. 

CHILDRE~ 

Pro,·ides for possession of frozen embryos in diYorce proceeding., 

and rights of intestate succession thereof. 





ASSEl\'lBL Y, No. 3040 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

IXTRODrCED SEPTE:'.\fBER 11, 1986 

By Assembly111a11 KERX 

Ax AcT concerning surgical sexual sterilization and supplementing 

Title 45 of the Hevised Statutes. 

1 BE IT EX.\CTETI l1y the Senate and General .Assembly of the State 

2 of Xcii: Jersey: 

J 1. Before a pl1ysiciai1 performs a vasectomy, tubal sterilization 

'1 or other sm·.!:.'.·ieal s<·xual sterilization 11rocedure requestPd hy a 

3 patirnt, the JJliysieia11 shall ohtaill ,nitten consellt from the patient 

-l- or tl1t> JJa1il•11t\ autl1oriz1•cl H"']ll'C;.:e::tativP 01: a fon11 ,yJ,id1 ;;+ate,­

,) tl1,1t th(• J,atient has lie<•Jl i11i'onned a:c to: 

(j 

' 
10 

11 

]~ 

] ,, ., 

a. Till· JJU:-.--il1ility tliat the ;c:terilizatioll 1n·ocedure ma:-, fail to 

n,~u11 i': 1,0n:1n,:t•J:t str•rilit:-,·: aul 

h. The ::ivailal1ility <Jf 1,rocedm·p!- to :-tore the patieJ1t\ n°pro­

duc·tin· cell:- for future 11!-0. 

Tl1is seetion ,:Jia11 not h· f'llilS 1runl tn requn·p a ph:,sic·i;111 tn 

0)1:ni11 ti!i:- ,nitt,.1 1 co,1,-,,nt if tl10 f'terilizntio11 JJl'OCe(1nn· is rwr­

fonrn·rl m1rlt•J' ni: enw]'!:.'.'PJ1<·~· :-itun1io11 that inrn1i1wntl:, tlll'eatei::­

tlw li ;·e of tlie patient. 

:?. ,\ 11L~·:c:ic-iu,· ,1·l10 J'ni];, tu c·ompl~· witl1 thi1- act is lia],]., for 

__ ,,e1in1, 11:; tL· St,11,, Board of :'.\Jc.<1icnl Exan1i1wr,.: 1,nr,-ua11t to 

:-l mtiek 1 of chqitn ~I n1' Title, 4:-i of tl1e HPYised Statutes. 

:1. Tliis net :coltall take effrct O,i tlie 90th day after e11adme1,1. 

STATE:'.\IEXT 

'l'his l1ill reqmrt>s a 11hysicia11 \\·ho is requested to 11erform a 

va:-ectorny. tuhal sterilization or other f-:urgical sexual sterilization 

procedure to inform the patient of the potential for the operntion 

to fail to re:;;nlt in sterility. This bill also requires the physician 

to iHform the patie11t about procedures for stora.'.!·e of reprodnctin, 

Ct'lls for future use. The phy:-iciall is not required to comply ,\·ith 

these conse11t requirements if the operation is performed under 

emergenc:, circumstance.,;. 

HEALTH-GE~ERAL 

Hequires physicians to provide patients with certain information 

concerning sterilization procedures. 





ASSEl\IBLY JOINT RESOLUTION No. 76 

STATE OF NEW JERSEY 
INTRODUCED SEPTE:'.\fBER 11, 1986 

By Assemblyman FELICE, Assembly,voman RAXDALL, Assembly­

men Littell, DiGaetano and Assemblywoman Donovan 

A JOINT REsoLrTIO~ creating a commission to study the subject 

of sunogate parenthood. 

1 ,YHEREAS, Presently pending- before the court of Kew Jersey are 

2 several cases im·olving rnrrogate parenthood agreements or 

3 contracts between mi infortik• rouple and a surrogate mother: 

4 and 

,'5 "\YHEREAS, Tllese cases 1>resent noYel issues of law as to the right~ 

6 and obligatiom of each of these parties, as well as isrnt>s as 

7 to the rights of the unborn child: and 

8 ,YHEREAs, Judicial resolution of these difficult questions on a cai-P-

9 by-case basis does IJOt preclude the need for legislatiYe artion 

10 in this area; now, therefore, 

1 BE IT RESOLYED by tl1e Senate and Grneral Assembly of the State 

2 of Neu· Jersey: 

1 1. There is established a com1111>';;1011 to be known as th<' Sur-

2 rogate Parenthood Study Commission. The commission shall con-

3 sist of 11 members, two to be appointed from the membership of 

4 the Senate by the President thereof, who shall not be of the same 

5 political party; two to be appointed from the membership of tlw 

6 General Assembly by the Speaker thereof, who shall not be of 

7 the same political party: the Chief Jus_tice of the Supreme Court 

8 or his designee; two members from the Family Law and two 

9 members from the ·women's Rights Sections of the N" ew Jersey 

10 State Bar Association; and two public members qualified by their 

11 experience in the area of domestic relations, one appointed by 

12 the President of the Senate and one appointed by the Speaker 

13 of the General Assembly. Vacancies in the commission shall be 

14 filled in the manner proYided for the original appointments. l\Iem-



., 

15 bers of the comm1ss10n shall serYe without compensation, but 

16 shall be reimbursed for their expenses actually incurred in the 

17 performance of their duties. 

1 2. The commission shall organize ac:: soon as possible after the 

2 appointment of its members and shall select a chairman from 

3 among its members and a secretary "·ho need not be a member 

4 of the commission. 

1 3. It shall be the duty of the commission to study the subject 

2 of surrogate parenthood ancl the puhlic policy implicatiorn: raised 

3 by the issues presented. The commission shall consider whether 

4 surrogate parenthood contracts are in accord with the public 

5 JJOlicy of this State. It alrn shall consider whetheT sufficient gui<l-

6 ance is proYided to tLe court;; in making determinations related 

7 to surrogate parenthood controYersies and ,Yhether leg-islatiYe 

8 action is necessary. 

1 4. The commission shall be entitled to call to its assistance and 

2 a,·ail itself of the ser,;-ices of the employees of any State, count~· 

3 or municipal department, board, bureau, commission or agency 

4 which may be a,·ailable to it for it!':' purpose and to employ c::t(•110• 

5 graphic and clerical as:-istant-. and incur tranling and other 

6 miscellaneous expen;.e;;; 11ecessary to perform its duties ,\·itl1i11 

7 the limits of funds appropriated or otherwise made aYailable to it. 

1 5. The commission may meet and hold hearings at any plac·e 

2 or places it dec;ignates during tl1e session or recesses of the Lei!'i:--

3 lature and shall report its findings and recommendation:;: to th1.• 

4 GoYernor and the Leg:i,,.lature no later than one year follo,Yin~!.' 

5 its organization. Reconmwnclations may include sugge,-ted lcg-

6 islation. 

1 6. Thi:- joint nsolution shall take effect immediately ancl :-liall 

2 expire upon the submi,-;.;ion by the commi:asion of its report pur-

3 suant to section 5. 

SL-\ TE:.IEXT 

This bill creates the Surrn~at(• Parenthood Study Commission. 

The commission shall consi;.;t of 11 niembers who shall study the 

need for legislatiw action in thi,- area during the year following 

organization. 

The commission shall eon--ickr the publie policy implic-ation:-: 

rai:aed by the <lifficnlt i;;.slH:i' pre,-ented in sunogate motlwr ca"es. 

DO:.IESTIC RELATIOXS 

Creates a commission to stnf1y the c::nl)jec-t of c::urrogate pan•nthood. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN WALTER M.D. KERN, JR. (Chairman): This is 

a public hearing with respect to the following pieces of 

legislation: A-3035, which provides for liability for failure 

to warn of the side effects of fertility drugs;- A-3036, which 

provides for the rights and liabilities of persons engaging in 

fertilization processes; A-3O37, which regulates certain 

aspects of artificial insemin~tion procedures; A-3038, which 

provides requirements for surrogate parenthood contracts; 

A-3039, which provides for the possession of frozen embryos in 

divorce proceedings and rights of intestate succession; A-3040, 

which requires physicians to provide patients with certain 

information concerning sterilization procedures; and AJR-76, 

which creates a commission to study the subject of surrogate 

parenthood. 

This legislation has come about as a result of the new 

medical technologies that have developed. It is not as a 

result of any litigation that has recently finished with 

respect to the trial. The legislation, in fact, preceded the 

litigation. It is trying to address a situation where 

technology has jumped ahead of law. 

I would first of all like to hear from Gary N. 

Skoloff, Esq. 

G A R Y N. S K O L O F F, E S Q.: Good morning, Mr. 

Chairman, members of the Cammi ttee. My name is Gary Skoloff. 

I was one of the trial lawyers representing the Sterns in the 

Baby M case recently completed, and now on appeal to the 

Supreme Court. As a result of my participation in that case, I 

have studied the issue of surrogate parenting and al 1 of its 

ramifications. 

I was sent Assembly Bill 3038, introduced by 

Assemblyman Kern, and asked to come here today to testify on 

the subject. I am here to testify in favor of this Assembly 

bill, which I think is drawn extremely well, very carefully, 

and covers everything that has to be done for the moment. I 
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would urge, as strongly as I can, that the Assembly and the 
Senate pass legislation forthwith. 

The bottom line is that one out of seven married 
couples in the United States of America are infertile. They 
cannot have their own children. The only other alternative as 
a way of having a family is by adoption. I say to you that all 
of the studies indicate that that is no longer a viable 
method. There simply are not children available for adoption, 
based primarily on the fact that abortion is legalized, and 
further that many single women who have a child now decide to 
keep that child, and raise that child. It is socially 
acceptable. Adoption as a viable alternative is no longer in 
existence. 

The ref ore, these one out of seven couples who just 
suffer incredible pain -- they get married and they seek to put 
together the American dream of a good marriage, a home, and a 
family -- fail on the third score. They are not able to have a 
child. As a result, surrogate parenting is the only viable 
option they have. When you take into account the fact that it 
has two very val id aspects to it that adopt ion doesn't, it 

makes it even more meaningful. 
One, the blood and genes of one of the two parents are 

in the baby, and secondly, with al 1 of our concerns about 
physical problems, all of our concerns about illness which 
exist today, such as AIDS, because of the requirements for the 
physical examination, you know that the woman carrying the baby 
-- the odds are very strong -- is a heal thy woman, and is 
the ref ore carrying a heal thy baby. So, for those two reasons 
alone, surrogate parenting makes that much more sense. In 
terms of ever declaring it illegal or invalid, it would be as 
absurd as prohibition. It can never be stopped in this 
country. The urge of any family -- of any husband and wife -­
to have a child is so great, that the only thing you can do is 
accept the fact, whether you really like it or not, that 
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surrogate parenting is here, will be here to stay, and that the 

best that can be done is to set up the kind of legislation that 

Assemblyman Kern put forth in his_ Assembly Bill 3038, · which 

will simply legalize it and set forth procedures for it. 

This bill carries out the intention of what it would 

be al 1 about. 

bill I have 

It is, in some respects, similar to any other 

seen pending anyv;here in the country, a lot of 

which have been sent to me. No state has enacted any 

legislation yet. The time has come, and the quicker the 

better, because my greatest fear is that what is going to 

happen is, unless you have legislation in effect right away, 

unless you have that law set down right away, you are going to 

face two different kinds of problems. One, you are going to 

have more Baby M cases, which would be an embarrassment to the 

legal system and to the Legislatures throughout our country. 

In spite of the fact that we knew about this for many, many 

years, not one Legislature in this nation has enacted 

legislation. Secondly, you are going to have couples who want 

to have that child start making all kinds of side deals, if 

they cannot go through it legally, as we know from what 

happened with adopt ion in prior years, which wi 11 only result 

in al 1 kinds of chaos, further kinds of legal problems, and a 

lot of pain and suffering for too many people. Assembly Bill 

3038 will clear all of that up. 

I also had occasion to look at Assembly Joint 

Resolution 76, which is a commission to study the subject of 

surrogate parenthood. While I think that is a great idea and I 

am always a believer in another commission to do another study, 

to be perfectly frank, we don't need it. I am totally in favor 

of some kind of a study commission that wi 11, a year after 

legislation has been enacted, review what has been happening, 

and see if there are any supplements or amendments that should 

occur to make the legislation work even better and clear 

everything up. But, if we are talking about k i 11 ing another 
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year to go through that on which all of the literature has been 
written everywhere in this country, or all that was produced in 
the Baby M trial, or all that is already available for every 

member of the Assembly and the Senate, you are going to see, 
when we go through a hearing, 200 people take the stand and say 
that which 200 people have said and written about in literature 

amassed throughout the country and the world. 

So, I say have the commission, but utilize it not in 
lieu of an immediate act. Now, New Jersey was the State that 
led the country on the issue. New Jersey litigated the first 
case. New Jersey has a trial opinion of 131 pages, and our 
Supreme Court is going to hear it in September. There is no 

reason why New Jersey should not be the first State to enact 
legislation. In the same sense that many of the states are 
reading the Baby M opinion and making their decisions 
accordingly, let the other states read the first statute 
enacted in the United States, and follow the Kern bill as 
closely as they are willing to. 

I think that is the information I can give you, except 
for any questions, which I would be very pleased to answer. 

ASSEMBLYMJl.N KERN: Thank you very much, Mr. Skoloff. 
We very much appreciate your coming here today. There have 
been comments in the press from some advocates that this would 
be a wonderful procedure for those who are not married, those 
who are homosexuals, and that we could have, in the future, 
"children with parents of the same sex." This legislation 
doesn't propose that; in fact, it prohibits that. Could you 
comment on that? 

MR. SKOLOFF: Yes. I, myself, have mixed emotions on 

those two issues, whether or not a single woman should be 

allowed to have a child through a sur;rogate mother under this 

kind of legislation, or homosexuals. I think that is the kind 
of an issue that the study commission over the years down the 
road can look at and make its decisions accordingly and make 
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recommendations. For the moment, that is a highly 

controversial issue, with heavy arguments on both sides. For 

the moment, having the clean bill enacted, which means a 

married couple -who are infertile, because there is also going 

to be the issue raised one day, suppose there is a married 

woman who could have a child, but because of her career, or she 

is a model, or something like that-- There is actually no 

infertility problem whatsoever, but she does not wish to carry 

a child. One in 50,000 couples would be my guess. But, 

whatever it is, this or something else, let the study 

commission play with those kinds of one-tenth of 1% problems 

down the road. For the moment, A-3038, as it stands, ought to 

just be enacted. 

ASSEMBLYMAN' KER..~: Thank you. Does any other member-

of the Committee have any questions? Vice Chairman Stuhltrager-? 

ASSEMBLYM.~"'J STlTrlLTRAGER: Mr. Skoloff, you 

characterize this procedure as something that with or without 

legislation couples desiring children are going to look at, 

much 1 ike the same argument used with abort ion, or with the 

legalization of drugs, for that matter. 

we may as well move in that direction. 

If we can't stop it, 

Just so I understand, are you saying that simply 

because it is inevitable we have to move forward, or do you 

have feelings that it is also a positive procedure in and of 

itself? 

and of 

MR. SKOLOFF: 

itself. These 

It is very much a positive procedure in 

infertile couples-- Unless you know a 

couple who are married and want children and cannot have them, 

you cannot grasp how much pain there is, how much suffering. 

It encompasses their every day. They look around them at their 

friends who have the house and the family and they' re working 

hard and moving up on whatever ladder they're moving on. These 

people who cannot have a child become engrossed by it. It 

detracts from their everyday living. They want to have a child 
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for al 1 of the good reasons, because it is such a wonderful 
thing to be a family with children. It is a positive thing. 
It is something that can be accomplished through the use of 
this kind of legislation, and it is superior to adoption, 
because the blood and genes of the father will be in the baby, 
and we know that the mother carrying the baby is going to be 
healthy. 

It is something that should be enacted. It should be 
done in the best interest of society. 

ASSEMBLYMA..l\J STUHLTRAGER: How do we answer the 
question, or the charge that it is the haves exploiting the 
have nots? 

MR. SKOLOFF: Oh, I don't accept that at all. It is 
the have and the have nots, not in terms of economics -- which 
is what you mean, sir -- but in terms of a couple who cannot 
have a child and a woman who is wi 11 ing to give the gift of 
life to that couple. That is the haves and the have nots. It 
is not a question of economics. The $10,000 and $20,000 
numbers that come into play-- Almost any couple can work it 
out, the same way that almost any couple can eventually buy 
some kind of a house or rent some kind of a decent place. It 
can be done. It is not an economic question. It is the social 
question of the woman who is infertile and cannot carry a 
child, and that there is someone else who is willing to offer 
to do it for her. Why shouldn't that be al lowed to be done? 
It is a good social purpose -- a good social purpose. 

ASSEMBLYMA...'t\J STUHLTRAGER: I have no further 
questions. Thank you, Mr. Skoloff. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Asserr~lyman Thompson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Counselor, I would like to ask 

you a couple of questions. I notice that under Assembly Bill 

3038 there is no psychological screening of the surrogate 

mother prior to entering the contract. I think that since the 
judge so narrowly decided that case based on jurisdiction, 
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contracts, and another legal term without going into the 

equitable issues, and you were an attorney in that case, 

wouldn't you_ think there should be some prior screening with 

reference to tae psychological demeanor of the surrogate mother? 

MR. SKOLOFF: Mr. Thompson, if what you say is 

correct, then I misread page 2, line 16 e.: "A specific 

medical examination schedule to be followed by the surrogate." 

I thought that meant both physical and mental -- psychological 

counseling -- that sort of situation. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Yeah. 

MR. SKOLOFF: If it only means the physical 

examination, then I agree with you, sir, that instead of 

"specific medical examination," it should say "specific medical 

and mental examination," as well as counseling throughout that 

period of time, which all of the infertility centers throughout 

the country have -- physical prescreening, and then counseling 

during the period of the carrying of the baby. I had thought 

that e., lines 16 and 17, was simply the vague specifics 

encompassing that kind of a situation. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: In essence, this is a very 

crucial issue, because of the woman's prerogative to change her 

mind. 

MR. SKOLOFF: Before she becomes pregnant. 

ASSEMBLW.A."I\J THOMPSON: Wel 1, I don't know, maybe we 

are rushing a judgment. I have a model statute that was 

published in the Georgetown University Law School, called 

"Development and Concept of the Modern Family," and they seem 

to point out, with reference to the psychological screening-­

It isn't just a few sentences saying that you have tests and 

things like that. They give you some direction, so you are 

talking about contract law, where she has complied with it, in 

reference to these terms having been done if you are going to 

resolve the situation on a contract. 
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I am asking you, don' to you think we , should have some 

stronger-language in this legislation, so that we don't come up 

with another lawsuit because it wasn't done, and -you are back 

in court again? 

MR. SKOLOFF : I have no objection to what you said. 

It makes perfect sense to me to simply put in some more details 

in terms of minimum hours, minimum amounts of physical 

examination, minimum amounts of mental examination and 

psychological examination, and counseling throughout. Al 1 of 

that is totally acceptable to me as an alternate to lines 16 

and 17. I really thought this was part of it, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: That is also acceptable to the 

sponsor. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. I would like to 

read into the record, if it is permissible, what the model 

example is. It says: "The certificate of a person who is a 

licensed psychologist or a licensed psychiatrist, but not a 

person described in section 3 of the subsection of this act." 

What it does, in total, is give a breakdown with reference to 

the person as far as qualifications are concerned, and they 

determine how the examination will go to make a determination 

that she is in the right state of mind. 

Let me say this, because I have some mixed emotions 

about this type of legislation. When God created man and 

woman, He said, "You two are going to have to get along." Man 

said, "Well, we' 11 get along, because I am the first to 

speak." The woman smiled at God, and she said, "Yes, we' 11 get 

along, because I will have the last word." 

Now, under the New Jersey law of adoption -- this is 

present law -- the natural mother has 30 days of what is called 

"post-delivery" to decide whether or not she wants to go 

through with the adoption. Now, under this law it seems that 

once the contract is signed, there is no period of law like 

redemption. It's over. I think that goes against nature, and 

against women in general. 
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I will give you an example: A friend of mine, when I 

grew up in high schoo 1-- A gi r 1 had a child out of wedlock. 

She happened to be Irish; he was black. The Catholic Church 

took the kid and put the kid in a convent, or somewhere. Her 

mother went up and grabbed the kid. Out of instinct -- 17 

years passed -- that woman came from the suburbs with her 

family and her husband, knocked on the door on Twelfth Street, 

and told Mrs. So and So, "I want my daughter." Mrs. So and So 

said, "I raised her for 17 years. You can't have her without a 

fight, but I will let her make that decision." That's 

instinct, and I don't see where you can cut something off with 

a contract, just like that. 

MR. SKOLOFF: May I reply? 

ASSEMBLYMA...l\1 THOMPSON: Yes, sir. 

MR. SKOLOFF: Your discussion has to do with 

adoption. Adoption is the delivery of the child by the mother 

to a stranger. That is the whole distinction to me between 

adoption and surrogate parenting. I completely accept the fact 

that in adoption there should be a cooling off period, a period 

of time before the natural mother delivers the child -- her 

child -- to a stranger. There can also be economic coercion 

involved in that kind of a situation, or al 1 kinds of heavy 

duty mental problems of a woman carrying a child and deciding 

to deliver that child to a stranger. I distinguish it totally 

from surrogate parenting, because, first, the child is being 

delivered to its natural, biological father, not to a 

stranger. So, as far as I am concerned, adoption and surrogate 

parenting are night and day. 

In the second case, there is no economic coercion, no 

kinds of heavy duty mental problems on the part of a woman who, 

not being pregnant, volunteers to go to an infertility agency 

and say, "I wish to become a surrogate mother." Then, based on 

her application, or her voluntarily agreeing to do it, she 

becomes artificially inseminated by the man, who knows that the 
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agreement is, "This will be my baby, to be brought up by me, 
and adopted by my wife." That is the clear understanding of 
everyone, and the· baby is going to the natural,' -biological 
father .. So, I -distinguish between adoption and surrogate 
parenting, sir, and I say it is a totally different world. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Just one response .. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Go right ahead. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: The surrogate is the genetic 
mother. 

MR . SKOLOFF : She is the natural mother. By the way, 
sir, let me just talk about that for a moment. The term 
"surrogate mother" creates a real problem. 

that at the trial, one of the mental health 
(phonetic spelling), took the stand and 

You may recollect 

experts, Dr. Saul 

testified and 
everybody gasped when he said it "She is really not a 
surrogate mother. She is really a surrogate uterus." Now, 
that can be a little offensive at the beginning, to hear that 
kind of a term, but I ask you to really think about using the 
term surrogate mother, which is an improper term, very 
emotional, leading, perhaps, to an erroneous conclusion. When 
that woman agreed to carry that baby as a gift of life to 
another couple, she never intended to be a mother. A mother is 
one who nurtures and takes care of a child after birth. There 
was no intention on her part, at the time that this agreement 
was entered into everybody understanding it that she 
would ever be a mother. She would carry the child for another 
couple and deliver it immediately. So, I even have a problem 
with the term surrogate mother as perhaps misleading. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Anyone else? Assemblyman Shusted? 
ASSEMBLW.1.P..N SHUSTED: Mr. Skoloff--

MR. SKOLOFF: Yes, sir? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: --this bill makes reference to 
contracts. Do you have any opinion on how you could limit the 
cost? For instance, is there a dollar value? Do we put a 
ceiling on the stud fee, if you will? 
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MR. SKOLOFF: Well, I don't like using that term, sir, 

but I will say this: I would think that it would be 

appropriate at some time. I would think that perhaps that 

would be what the commission, after a year or two in operation, 

would come up with. I would 1 ike to see one uniform number 

throughout the State of New Jersey, so that it would never be a 

kind of negotiation. Whether the number be $10,000, or a 

higher or lower number, would be something that would be set, I 

think, in legislation at some time, and not negotiated through 

infertility centers. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: Then how do we tackle the 

question of discrimination under those circumstances -- if you 

set a number? I am talking about economic discrimination. 

MR. SKOLOFF: Yes. There is always some kind of 

economic discrimination. If you say the only way to obviate 

economic discrimination is not to allow a married couple to 

have a child, then I say that is worse discrimination. Then 

you are saying because people are out there, both working very 

hard trying to do what they want to do, and al 1 for social 

good-- Because they are making money they can afford to do it 

and another couple cannot, so nobody can do it. That is 

reverse economic discrimination. 

As to what the number is, I would think that if 

Assemblyman Kern's bill does not have a number now, a year from 

now a number will be set, and somewhere down the line it will 

go up or down, depending on a lot of decisions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: But you do feel that there 

should be some uniformity? 

MR. SKOLOFF: Yes, sir. I would like to see that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) What about the issue with. respect to convenience 

contracts, where you have a couple who find it inconvenient to 

conceive and carry a child -- to have one of their own -- and 

go shopping, so to speak? Do you think there ought to be a 
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prioritization with respect to procedures to be utilized, in an 

attempt to utilize the natural abilities of the prospective 

mother at the present time? 

- MR. SKOLOFF: A real tough question. Once again, it 

is one of those one-tenth of 1% situations, because hardly ever 

will you find a woman who can have a child but is not willing 

to do it. There will be some along the way. I read all of the 

arguments on both sides, which go from: "If that is their 

decision, that even though she is not infertile, she doesn't 

want to carry her own child," and there is a woman who says, "I 

understand that you are not infertile, but I am willing to do 

it for you, 11 then who are we, as lawmakers, to say, "You people 

can't do it if you want to do it 11 ? Al 1 the way to the other 

side of the coin of, "Now you are reaching a line that perhaps 

is offensive to public policy." 

So, I certainly would agree that at the moment it only 

be married couples who have infertility problems in their 

broadest definition. And then let the commission look at it 

over the years and make a decision as to whether or not it 

should be expanded. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Do you think that a contract should 

only be enforceable if -- and only if -- it serves the "best 
interests of the child," as in the decision in the Baby M case? 

MR. SKOLOFF: Oh, no, absolutely not. The whole 

reason for this legislation is because nowhere in this country, 

let alone New Jersey, will we go through another Baby M trial, 
for two reasons. In other words, what I am saying is, let the 

contract be enforceable or, as you have in your bi 11, except 

for that very extraordinary situation -- she finds out he just 

got convicted when she is in her seventh month, of rape, or 

some heinous crime -- that sort of extraordinary situation. It 

cannot be a best interest kind of hearing; otherwise, you will 

go through one year of litigation in so many of these surrogate 

parenting cases, and no couple will then do it. You will then 

have destroyed surrogate parenting as a concept, because once 
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they even think they are going to face one year of 

litigation-- It is so expensive; it is so costly in terms of 

emotion, that it would destroy the whole concept. It has to be 

a black and white agreement. She understands it, she carries 

that child, then upon birth, it is delivered -- period. No 

best interest, other than if you want to have a one-hour 

hearing just to make su;-e that the sperm donor, and his wife 

who is going to adopt, are not cuckoo clocks. If you want to 

just take some extreme situation like that, but never the real 

Bessinger (phonetic spelling) hearing in the standard custody 

case, with al 1 the mental heal th experts and al 1 the lawyers 

and the heavy duty drain on the administration of justice 

unnecessarily. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: What about the issue of whether or 

not the surrogate mother has the right to an abortion? 

MR. SKOLOFF: She has that right. She has to have 

that right. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: That cannot be prohibited? 

MR. SKOLOFF: No, sir. As stated in Judge Sorkow' s 

written opinion, that cannot be prohibited. If she wants to 

breach the contract prior to becoming pregnant, she has that 

right also. 

ASSEMBLY?,A'~..N' KERN: Any other questions? 

ASSEMBLYM.L.N THOMPSON: Yes. Is it in the first 

trimester, or the third? Is it limited to the first trimester, 

as far as abortion? 

MR. SKOLOFF: I think it goes a little past the first 

trimester, Mr. Thompson, but I really don't have down pat at 

exactly what moment that is illegal. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Anyone else? (no response) Gary, 

I want to thank you very much for coming today and sharing your 

views with us. I know we are all very appreciative of your 

taking your time to explore this very important issue. Thank 

you. 
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MR. SKOLOFF: Thank you, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I would now like to call Robert 
Arenstein, Esq. 

ROBERT D.. ·A R E N S T E I .N, E .S Q. : Good morning, 
Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. I appreciate the 
opportunity to appear. before you today to express my views 
regarding the issues of surrogate parenting and alternate 
reproduction. I presently chair the Surrogate Parenting 
Committee of the New York State Bar Association Family Law 
Section and the American Academy of Matrimonial La,-,..ryers. I am 
also a member of the New Jersey Bar and a resident of the State 
of New Jersey. I was also one of the former attorneys 
representing Mary Beth Whitehead in the Baby M case. We have 
been studying this area in our Committees in New York, and have 
made recommendations which are in the process of being 
disseminated to our Executive Committees. By the way, I have 
provided a copy of our Committee's recommendations to your 
Committee, not to be disseminated, but for your Committee's use 
in your deliberations. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you very much. 
MR. ARENSTEIN: I stress that the opinions and 

recommendations I will make today are those of my personal 
experience, and do not represent the conclusions of my 
Committees. These recommendations will be made at a later date. 

I have had the opportunity to review Assembly Bi 11 s 
3035, 3036, 3037, 3038, 3039, 3040, and AJR-76, and as part of 
my testimony I plan to comment on these bills and expand my 
views to cover the entire issue of surrogate parenting in the 
State of New Jersey. 

There are many ways in which childless couples can 
seek to have children. The most prevalent way in our country 
is that of adoption. Our State, and all of our sister states, 
have devised laws to protect all parties in the adoption area. 
There are many people who would say that there are not enough 
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children in the adoption process to aid and help childless 

couples obtain children. In fact, they argue that it takes a 

very long time for a couple to adopt a child, and that many 

people, as a result of age, religion, sexual -preference, and 

otherwise, have been denied the right to adopt. There may be 

reasons why these roadblocks have been placed in the adoption 

process, and I believe that a closer examination of the 

adoption process in our State may be in order. 

To look at the issue of surrogate parenting and the 

present bills which are before you, raises many questions and 

problems in my mind. I do not believe that surrogate parenting 

is a concept which is viable in today's society. I have said 

on prior occasions that I consider it to be a form of 

reproductive prostitution, and that it contravenes the 

prohibit ions against buying and sel 1 ing babies. Further, many 

nations in the world have found that surrogate parenting should 

be outlawed, and have taken steps to outlaw the practice before 

it becomes widespread. 

Britain, as a result of the Warnock Commission Report, 

has banned commercial surrogacy, and the issue has provoked 

vigorous national debate. Nevertheless, four countries -- West 

Germany, Norway, Sweden, and the Netherlands -- are considering 

surrogacy bans and, as we speak right now, the Western European 

Justice Ministers are meeting in Brussels at a conference on 

artificial reproduction to ban commercial surrogacy. 

In Sweden and Franch, surrogacy is prohibited under 

adoption regulations, but a Swedish government-appointed 

inquiry has proposed legislation banning surrogacy as "a 

doubtful bargaining with children." Israel has banned 

surrogate parenting as well. The Vatican has strongly 

condemned surrogacy in a pronouncement in March of this year. 

The reports of the Waller and Demack Commissions in Australia, 

and the Warnock Commission in England, al 1 reached the same 

conclusion with respect to surrogate motherhood arrangements in 
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any form. They recommend that it be made illegal to: a) 

advertise to recruit surrogate mothers; ·b) exchange money as a 
result of the contract; and c) th~t surrogate contracts should 
be treated as null and void and unenforceable ..as sCOntrary to 
public policy. 

The basic premise in the legislative intent of 
Assembly Bill 3038 is to facilitate the ability of infertile 
married couples to become parents through the use of surrogate_ 
mothers .. The State may not prohibit the practice of surrogate 
parenting or enact regulations that would have the effect of 
prohibiting the practice. The right to bear and beget a child 
is a protected right, but not necessarily the right to 
contract. The thrust of the European arguments, I believe, is 

infertility that commercial surrogacy through 
are springing up throughout the 
banned. The altruistic act of 

country, can 
somebody who 

centers, which 
and should be 

is involved in 
surrogacy may be for different motivation, but it is clear to 
me that the infertility centers across the country are 
profit-making ventures, evidenced by the large number of 
non-refundable fees which are charged by these clinics. 

In addition to protecting the interests of the child 
born of the surrogate arrangement, the State also has a duty to 
protect the other children who would be irreparably damaged by 
the enforcement of surrogate parenting agreements. Physicians 
who artificially inseminate surrogate mothers usually prefer 
that the mothers already have one or two heal thy children of 
their own. This is to help assure the likelihood of a normal, 
heal thy newborn. The psycho logical implication of watching a 
mother's pregnancy terminate with the giving away or, war se 
yet, the selling of an offspring, can be disastrous. The 
siblings of the surrogate child will wonder if they are soon to 
suffer the same fate, being taken away from their mother for 
some incomprehensible reason. No one has considered the 
unbearable guilt reaction that this child will face whe~ later 
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in life he learns that his sister was carried and sold for 

funds that were put aside for his education or welfare. 

The bills which this Committee is presently 

considering have many flaws, in my opinion. To begin with, the 

parties are still left to make a contract, which would include 

financial - compensation both to the surrogate mother involved 

and to t~e infertility center or baby brokers which broker the 

arrangement. After a careful examination of these bills, I do 

find lacking strict regulations regarding the baby brokers to 

prevent the commercial exploitation of both the infertile 

couples and the surrogate mothers who are involved in the 

process. When the parties are satisfied, the process is fine. 

However, when one of the parties has a problem -- be it the 

mother, the father, or ei the:r spouse the only people to 

profit from that problem are the brokers. Our State has 

strict regulations on hospitals and medical care, yet when it 

comes to the se 11 ing or the purchasing of a child, we do not 

propose to supervise the brokers involved 1n the process. I 

find that to be surprising. Certainly the bill includes a 

provision for independent medical care -- for professionals to 

be involved in the process but the policing of the people 

involved in profiting from the sale needs to be addressed in 

A-3038. 

Additionally, I find various constitutional problems 

with A-3038 itself. There is no definition of infertility, and 

limiting the bill to infertile couples might raise a 

discrimination problem of constitutional proportions. Can you 

legitimately discriminate if you allow surrogate parenting only 

to the infertile? Is being sterile, voluntary or involuntary, 

infertility? Will you let a person who voluntarily became 

sterile use the process? Further-more, the term "child--" Does 

that include a stillborn or a miscarried embryo, or would it 

apply only to that of a fully born fetus? This may create a 

substantial problem for the woman who is engaged in the 
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reproductive process but does not fully deliver a product; 
namely a human being. Many of the arrangements which have been 
used heretofore by the infertility centers diminish payment as 
a result of a defective product which is produced by the 
surrogate mother. This bill does not address that issue, and 
leaves it to the parties. 

Prior to a recent meeting of the Surrogate Pare7:1ting 
Committee of the New York State Bar Family Law Section, I 
received a letter from one of my Co-chairs, Bruno Colapietro, a 
distinguished matrimonial lawyer in Binghamton, New York. I 
would like to read you his comments regarding surrogate 
parenting, as I find them to be relevant and important to this 
forum: 

"Confirming our telephone conversation, I am waiting 
to confirm my views in opposition to the Dunne-Goodhue bill." 
That is one of the bills in New York. "I feel that contracts 
for surrogate parenting are both illegal and immoral. We know 
that we cannot go to a woman and buy her baby and place it for 
adoption, no matter how worthy the adoptive parents are, no 
matter how willing the natural mother is. The distinction 
between this and a surrogate parenting contract eludes me. 

"One of my strong feelings on this is that people with 
money wi 11 be dea 1 ing with people who need money. I do not 
think you will find parents who are less affluent dealing with 
a wealthy mother in order to procure a child. It is unnatural 
for a mother to surrender her child. My experience has bee:1 
that when she does give up her child, it is done out of an act 
of love or necessity -- a feeling that what she is doing is in 
the best interest of the child because no viable alternative 
exists. If you put it on a commercial level, you are placing 
the natural mother in a position where she must learn to 
condition herself to the point where she does not give a damn 
about the child, only the money. This is unnatural, and I do 
not want to think that somewhere down the road we have a 
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generation of 

anything about. 

mothers who bore children they did not care 

I also feel you end up with cases like Baby M, 

where it is a t_ragedy for all concerned." 

In addition, -the -A-3038 bill, -which - allows a court to 

terminate the rights of a mother at the birth of the child, 

leads to grave constitutional implications, in my opinion. To 

begin with, there are no statutes in the country at the_present 

time which allow a pre-birth termination of maternal rights to 

be enforced after the birth of a child, without an after-birth 

ratification of the birth mother. The standard used in most 

states for termination of parental rights is a clear and 

unequivocal standard, and the right to family integrj-ty has 

been held to be a fundamental 1 iberty and subject to a higher 

standard necessary by the court because of the conclusion that 

the right to family integrity is a fundamental right. 

The U.S. Supreme Court, while never expressly 

declaring the right to be a parent to be an absolute and 

fundamental right, has nonetheless implied that the right to 

family integrity is indeed fundamental, and the court has 

generally found such a right on the basis of one of two tests: 

a liberty test and a privacy test. The courts have found that 

the right to associate with one's immediate family is a 

fundamental liberty protected by the state and Federal 

Constitutions. Because the court finds a fundamental right is 

involved, the strict scrutiny standard must be the standard of 

review. The strict scrutiny standard requires a compelling 

state interest to be served by legislation in any proposed 

statute, and there must be no less onerous alternative 

available to achieve the statutory objective. Termination 

statutes across the country are generally used only where there 

is abandonment, abuse, and neglect. In effect, the legislation 

we address today would allow a termination of parental rights 

at the time of birth, without giving the mother a right to 

change her mind after birth. Informed consent clearly means 
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more than simple knowledge of the terms and conditions of the 

agreement, and may not be intelligently given by a birth mother 

until after the birth of a child. That is why the adoption 

statutes in this country have required informed consent after 

the birth of a child. 

There is no statute in this country which allows a 

pre~birth termination to be upheld without a ratification after 

the birth of a child. There must be a right for the birth 

mother to make an inf armed consent after the birth of the 

child. I would suggest that that issue be addressed. 

I futher alluded to the commercialism of surrogacy in 

this country, and I· believe if you limit the payment to the 

medical expenses and maternity expenses of the mother, that you 

will have more than middle and lower class women volunteering 

themselves for surrogacy. Have any of you ever seen a wealthy 

surrogate mother? I have never seen one. I am sure there are 

some whose altruistic beliefs in helping an infertile couple 

will certainly be in the forefront if they are so much in favor 

of this concept. 

I found an interesting letter in The Star-Ledger a 

couple of weeks ago. It asked four interesting questions, and 

I just thought I would throw them out to you: 

"Should the surrogate agencies" -- if there are any -­

"be allowed to discriminate on the basis of race when choosing 

a surrogate mother, thus depriving minority women of this 

economic opportunity? 

"Should the surrogate mothers be paid the minimum wage 

for their services? 

"Should people who receive surrogate babies be 

required to pay the State sales tax when paying for the service? 

"Should a 

unemployment after 

surrogate 

the baby 

mother .be entitled to collect 

is born since her employment 

terminates with the birth of the baby?" 
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I believe these questions raise other questions which 

this panel may want to address to other witnesses in your 

search for·. a-fair-minded bill. 
The abuse - · t,1hich occurs •in the commercialism of 

surrogate parenting is evident throughout the country. Various 

lawsuits against infertility centers have errupted as a result 

~f the profit and money one can make in this field. One woman 

was induced to become a surrogate after five miscarriages and 

nine pregnancies, and after having her cervix partially 

removed. The surrogate in that case went into shock after an 

improper artificial insemination and delivered a premature baby 

who died shortly after birth. When she tried to collect her 

fee, it was refused to her. Finally, this woman, who was 

initially refused her compensation, received a partial 

compensation seven months after the baby died. 

As you can see, I am strongly against surrogate 

parenting, at least in a commercial setting. In vitro 

fertilization would be a better place to develop this concept 

than the present form of surrogate mothering. However, if 

after all the discussions both pro and con, this body and the 

Legislature still feel that surrogate parenting should be 

permitted, I have come up with some specific proposals I would 

like to recommend for adoption into your legislation. I would 

suggest that any bill consider the following elements: 

1) A period of time after the child is born for the 

biological mother to change her mind with regard to the 

agreement; 
2) Psychological counseling of the intended surrogate 

for a reasonable period of time prior to insemination; 

3) Screening of the intended couple similar to the 

adoption statutes prior to 

4) No payment 

purchasing of children, 

expenses; 

insemination; 

to the surrogate for selling or 

only expenses incurred and medical 
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5) Licensing, screening, and regulating of any 

clinics which are involved in surrogate parenting, including 

the centers which are to test and inseminate the biological 

mother; one of your bills does address that; and, 

6) The adoption of ethical guidelines formulated by 

the American Fertility Society, wherein fertile women would not 

be able to use the surrogacy process as a substitute for 

pregnancy. I would say that you might have constitutional 

problems with that, but I am still in favor of that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Well, maybe we would be able to do 

something by way of severability on that. 

MR. ARENSTEIN: The bill before you does not contain 

many of these proposals. There is no period of time after the 

child is born for the mother to change her mind, and I believe 

that pre-birth or at-birth termination is a termination without 

informed consent. I use the words "informed conse!:.t" to mean a 

ful 1 understanding of the personal psychological consequences 

at the time of surrender of the child. One of the basic 

requirements of the validity of a surrender has consistently 

been that it cannot be given any effect if it occurred prior to 

the birth of the child. 

With regard to psychological counseling of the 

intended surrogate, I think we have addressed that with the 

questions you had to Gary. 
There is no requirement for screening of the intended 

couples in this bill. Look at the possibilities. In a recent 

case involving a couple from Rochester, New York, in which an 

infertility center was involved, a transsexual couple sought to 

use the surrogacy process to have a baby for themselves. Since 

they could not have a child on their own, and since they could 

not pass muster in an adoption agency; they used the surrogate 

process to get around the safeguard which society has placed in 

the screening process to have a child under the adoption 

statutes. Whether or not the court will allow such a couple to 
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have a surrogate child may be a constitutional question'. 

However, people who do not pass muster or cannot have a child 

· - -on · that basis should not be able to~ -use .. the - surrogacy 

procedures to buy a child. What if a child molester decides he 

wants to buy a child? 

Furthermore, I believe that payments to the surrogates 

over and above the normal expenses should not be allowed. 

There are no weal thy surrogates. If you look at women who 

present themselves to be surrogates today, you wi 11 find that 

the majority of them are the middle or lower class women. What 

has occurred in this area is the economic oppression of the 

poor by the wealthy or upper middle class. In essence, we are 

talking about buying and selling babies. The opponents of 

surrogate parenting argue that this is not baby buying or baby 

sel 1 ing, but payment for a service. Again, I address to you 

the issues of stillborn and miscarried babies. Is that not a 

service for which full compensation is entitled to be paid? A 

careful look at the contracts will show you that that is not 

the case. 

With regard to the screening of clinics and 

laboratories involved in this surrogacy process, I find that 

the bill does address that area and provides for health care, 

but you must police the clinics and laboratories, or you will 

have reoccurrences of the many problems in this area. You do 

not provide -- in A-3038 -- for the screening of the sperm 

donor for sexually transmitted disease. You do provide for it 

in A-3037, but I think it is necessary in A-3038 as well. 

In addition, the bill does not prohibit the baby 

brokers from making this a commercial venture. If you pay a 

reasonable compensation to somebody for his or her service, 

rather than one of these $10,000 non-refundable fees to these 

baby brokers, you will be doing a service to society. 

Commercialism and exploitation by these people have caused them 

to become very wealthy. One can multiply the 150 births of the 
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Infertility Center of New York by $10,000 and see that $1.5 
million has been amassed in the brokering of babies. An 

·additional 135 babies are on the way in that Center right now, 
--becoming another $1.35 million. Should this be allowed in New 

Jersey? I think not. 

To briefly address the other bills you have before 
you, I would state that I have been following most of the bills 
proposed in New York. We now have four. One of them is very 
similar to AJR-76. Senator Marchi introduced a bill to create 
a commission to study and make recommendations regarding 
surrogate parenting. This topic is so encompassing that a 
study of the area is necessary. The Ethics Cammi ttee of the 
American Fertility Society, in their September, 1986 report -­
which I see you have a copy of -- states: "The Committee has 
serious ethical reservations about surrogacy that cannot be 
fully resolved until appropriate data are available for 
assessment of the risks and possible benefits of this 
alternative." A full study of the issue, without political 
pressure, would be in the best interests of all concerned. 

Assembly Bill 3036, which requires insemination by a 
licensed physician, is in conformance with the trend in this 
country, and I favor that. 

Assembly Bill 3037, which requires the Department of 
Heal th to keep records of semen donors, is also a step in the 
right direction. As of now, it would be possible for two 
different women to be artificially inseminated by the same 
semen donor, and the children produced by those women might 
unknowingly marry, even though they have the same common 
father. I think A-3037 with record keeping would be a step in 
the right direction to prevent that, because many of the 
clinics still don't have records on the- semen donors. 

I have already commented on A-3038, but A-3039 is 
mind-boggling. We are now legislating property rights to 
frozen embryos. If this isn't the beginning of Aldous Huxley's 
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"Brave New World," I don't know what is. The new after-birth 

prov1s1on is interesting. I am not sure why custody of the 

· frozen · embryo ·should go to the female in the -first instance, 

-·but ·I guess that is the way it was drafted. 

I thank you for your time, and am ready to answer any 

questions you might have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: 

litigation that developed in 

frozen embryos when the--

MR. ARENSTEIN: I am. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: 

Thompson? 

Are you familiar with the 

Australia with respect to the 

Any questions? Assemblyman 

ASSEMBLYMA...l-.J THOMPSON: Counselor, do you agree with 

the previous speaker, who stated that the contract should be 

enforced whether or not the outcome would serve the best 

interest of the child? 

MR. ARENSTEIN: I believe that the court should always 

look into the best interest of the child. I think that is the 

focal point, and even ir. the Baby M decision the focal point 

was the best interest of the child, in the judge's opinion. I 

think in any situation which involves a child, the child's 

interest is paramount in this State. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Another question: What about 

the issue I raised previously with reference to psychological 

screening? Do you think that both parties should be screened 

psychologically? 

MR. ARENSTEIN: I do. I think the surrogate mother 

should be screened for a period of time prior to insemination 

to make sure that we don't have a situation like Baby M, 

because in that case she was screened and the screening people 

said she wasn't capable of surrendering. As far as the 

adoptive couples -- as I said in my statement -- I think you 

should screen them as in the adoption process. 

ASSEMBLYMA...~ THOMPSON: Thank you. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much. 
·, -, MR.-ARENSTEIN: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Dr. David Brodzinsky? 

D R. D A V I D B R O D Z I N S K Y: Good morning, Mr. 

Chairman and Committee members. My name is Dr. David 

Brodzinsky. I am Associate Professor of Developm~ntal and 

Clinical Psychology, and Vice Chair for Graduate Studies in 

Psychology at Rutgers in New Brunswick. I was also one of the 

mental heal th experts in the Baby M case, working for the 

guardian ad litem. 
I come before you today not only as a concerned 

citizen, but as a mental health professional with considerable 

research, teaching, and clinical experience in areas related to 

infertility, adoption, and alternative reproductive 

technologies. My comments, however, will not address directly 

the proposed legislation offered by Assemblyman Kern 

although some of it will, I suppose -- but rather will focus on 

a variety of mental health issues that need to be considered 

before informed decisions can be made regarding such 

legislation. 
As you have already heard, there has been a dramatic 

rise in infertility in the past few decades. Currently, 

approximately 15% of married couples can expect to face this 

personal and medical crisis. As you have already heard, in the 

past, the primary alternatives open to these individuals were 

adoption or remaining childless. 
other options which we are 

But today, of course, we have 

talking about artificial 

insemination, in vitro fertilization, embryo transplant, 

surrogate childbearing, among others. Al though most of these 

options have been welcomed by infertil~ couples and the medical 

cornrnuni ty, they certainly have opened up a Pandora's box of 

bioethical concerns. In my brief time, I would like to add my 

own thoughts and concerns to those expressed by others who have 

come before me. 
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My primary concern, simply put, is that we have 

1 i ttle, if any, knowledge of the emotional and psychological 

parameters involved in reproductive techl}_ologies. How will 

these reproductive options impact on the married couple; on the 

children conceived through them; and on the family system as a 

whole? What is the psychological impact on the surrogate 

mother and her family of surrendering a child she has carried 

to term? Can a woman who has agreed to be a surrogate mother 

be expected to fully understand the emotional impact of 

surrendering a child prior to its birth? Should individuals 

conceived through surrogate childbearing or artificial 

insemination by donor have the right to full disclosure of 

information concerning their biological origins once they reach 

the age of majority? These are but some of the questions that 

come to mind related to the short-term and long-term impact of 

reproductive technologies on those individuals who use them or 

are a product of them. In addition, other questions pertaining 

to the evaluation of potential embryo and semen donors and 

surrogate mothers need to be addressed. What safeguards can be 

built into the system to ensure that the motivation underlying 

donors and surrogate childbearers, and those infertile couples 

who work with them, are heal thy and in the interests of al 1 

concerned, expec i ally the interests of the child who is the 

product of these technologies? At the present time, 

do not have the answers to these pressing questions. 

Let me go into more detail about some 

issues. First, it is important to emphasize 

we simply 

of these 

that the 

development of reproductive technologies has occurred in 

response to the needs of infertile adults. In contrast, little 

attention has been given to the rights and needs of those 

children conceived by these technologies. There is a parallel 

to this state of affairs in the history of the adoption 

movement. Historically, the primary emphasis of adoption 

agencies was to "supply" children to adults who otherwise could 
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not have children of their own. The needs of the child and the 

adults who relinquished them for adoption, although not totally 

0 ,,··±gnor-ed, -were -certainly given· less· consideration. This 

· -philosophy, however, changed dramatically in the 1950s and 

early 1960s when agencies began to shift their focus from the 

needs of infertile couples to the needs of homeless children. 

Moreover, it took until the late 1970s and early 1980s for the 

rights and welfare of biological parents -- by that I mean 

those who surrender 

serious consideration. 

have not occurred 

technologies. 

children for adoption 

Unfortunately, these 

as yet in the area 

to be given 

types of changes 

of reproductive 

Let us consider the issue of the right of the child to 

know the truth about his or her origin. From research in the 

area of adoption, it is clear that withholding this type of 

information poses grave risks for the parent-child relationship 

and the child's developing sense of self. Children who find 

out about their adoption accidently, and in less than 

supportive ways, typically feel betrayed by their adoptive 

parents. Their sense of trust in their parents and their view 

of themselves are often seriously undermined. Such findings 

have resulted in nearly universal support by the professional 

community for counseling adoptive parents about the necessity 

and benefits of open and honest communication with their 

children regarding adoption. I would argue that childre~ 

conceived through the new reproductive technologies have a 

similar right to know about their origins. Parents who choose 

to utilize one of these reproductive options need to be 

counseled about the pros and cons of withholding information 

versus disclosing information to the child regarding his or her 

origins. Moreover, parents need to understand that for some of 

these children there may come a day when they will desire to 

make contact with their other biological parent -- a decision 

that an increasing number of adult adoptees are making. 
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Now, admittedly, these recommendations will not be 

easily accepted by many infertile couples. Research suggests 

that most couples who conceive through donor insemination, for 

example, intend to withhold from their child the truth about 

his or her origins. Moreover, this attitude is often 

reinforced by - the medical community. Unfortunately, this 

decision, in ID¥ opinion, is short-sighted and denies not only 

the rights of the child, but the burden that is involved in 

maintaining the deception is a burden that can weigh very 

heavily on the couple's relationship, as well as the 

parent-child relationship. In support of my arguments, I refer 

the Committee to the enclosed report which will be 

distributed, if you haven't gotten it already -- on "Children 

Conceived by Artificial Insemination." This is a summary 

report by a Swedish commission, which I consulted with, dealing 

with the development of guidelines for proposed legislation 

regulating the practice of artificial insemination in their 

country. I think many of the points raised in the report are 

pertinent to the issues being raised here today, not only 

regarding artificial insemination by donor, but other 

reproductive technologies 

childbearing. 

as well, especially surrogate 

A second issue I wish to address is whether a woman 

who agrees to act as a surrogate childbearer for another couple 

can truly give informed consent to relinquish the child prior 

to conception and/or the child's birth. Can a woman fully 

understand how she will feel about a child before it is born? 

Is it reasonable to expect that a woman's decision to 

relinquish a child made prior to the child's conception will be 

unaffected by the experience of pregnancy? And, if the 

experience of pregnancy leads to a change of mind, can we 

expect to hold the woman to a contract that forces her to 

surrender the child even though she no longer wishes to? In 

reality, we have little direct information that bears on this 
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issue. At best, we know that women who surrender children for 

adoption generally experience profound grief over the loss of 

. the-ir- of<fspring _ ..... ·grief · that often· lasts for years; if not a 

lifetime. 

But, of course, there is a difference between 

surrogate mothers and women who relinquish children for 

adoption. ~urrogate mothers generally have greater control 

over the process in which they are involved. They have entered 

into the surrogate process voluntarily and have participated in 

a planned pregnancy. From the very beginning of the process, 

they are working with the infertile couple toward the goal of 

surrendering the child to these individuals. Perhaps the 

degree of control is one reason why many surrogate mothers 

report 1 i ttle or no ongoing grief regarding the 

relinquishment. And yet, ladies and gentlemen, hormonal 

changes accompanying pregnancy affect women quite differently. 

Moreover, the motivation of women to become surrogate 

childbearers is also likely to be quite varied. Consequently, 

there are likely to be more Baby M cases in the future. It is 

likely that these cases will involve women who in good 

conscience entered into a surrogate childbearing contract, only 

to find that once the baby was born they could not surrender 

the child. 
What are we to do in these cases? I would argue that 

the ability of women to give informed consent for 

rel inqui shrnent prior to concept ion and/or birth of a child is 

impossible, at least from a psychobiological perspective. I 

will not argue the legal aspects of it, though. Thus, it is 

imperative that legislation regulating surrogate childbearing 

allow for this possibility. I would urge that legislation 

dealing with this reproductive option· include a provision that 

allows a surrogate mother to change her mind within a specified 

period of time following the birth of the child. Furthermore, 

the surrogate contract itself must be written with this 
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possibi 1 i ty in mind and provide a set of guidelines, agreed 

upon ahead of time by all parties, determining custody and 

-visitation issues in the event that the surrogate mother does 

change her mind. Should either party wish to challenge the 

guidelines regarding custody and visitation set forth in the 

contract, they would then have the option of the -courts. 

Hopefully, it wouldn't get there too often. 

Finally, I would like to make a few comments regarding 

the role of mental health professionals in the area of 

reproductive technologies. As noted previously, our knowledge 

of the impact of these technologies on those who choose to use 

them and those who are products of them is quite limited. As a 

researcher and clinician, I would call upon my mental health 

colleagues to begin to focus their attention on this pressing 

social issue. It is only with greater knowledge that people, 

and society in general, will be able to make informed decisions 

regarding these issues. But, we cannot wait for the outcome of 

the research to act. Advances in medical science wi 11 always 

progress more quickly than our understanding of the impact of 

those advances on society. Mental health professionals need to 

be brought into the arena of reproductive technologies as 

evaluators and therapists even more so than they have been. 

The skills of psychologists and psychiatrists, in particular, 

are well-suited for screening individuals for inclusion in the 

reproductive technology programs. I would emphasize scree:-iing 

both the surrogate mother and the couple who wish the child. 

These professionals are also well-equipped to provide 

therapeutic counseling to these individuals throughout the 

process regarding the issue of the reproduction process. 

In short, ladies and gentlemen, I would argue that 

integration of mental heal th professionals into the heart of 

reproductive technology programs is of fundamental importance 

for the well-being of those individuals whose very lives are 

being touched by these new medical advances. 
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Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any questions from the Committee? 
. ".-Yes, Assemblyman• Thompson?-· --

- --- ASSEMBLYMAN '"THOMPSON: Thank you, --Mr. Chairman. 

Doctor, I would like to ask you a few questions. One is in 

reference to this whole issue of artificial insemination, with 
reference to what happened in history with the German 

experience during the '30s dealing with the attempt,to develop 
a master race, when women were surrogates in Germany, not with 

this type of insemination, but with direct sex. Also, on the 

question of cloning, are we on the edge with this type of 

legislation? 

DR. BRODZINSKY: Well, I am not an expe~t in the area 

of cloning. That is not my area. I don't know how close they 

are. I certainly have concerns about that and its impact on 

society. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Is there a bond between the 

child and his or her genetic mother which develops over the 

period of pregnancy, which cannot possibly be present at the 

time of the signing of the contract? 

DR. BRODZINSKY: Well, let me answer that this way: 

The development of the bond of the mother toward the child 
probably begins during the pregnancy, but f rem everything we 
know, the bond of the child toward its parent, or its 
care-giver, is something that grows over time. We don't find 
any evidence, for example, in research we have done on 

mother/infant attachment in adoptive mothers' versus biological 
mothers' child relationships-- We do not find any difference 

in attachment, even though, of course, the adopted children 

have been separated from their biological mothers. You usually 

find attachments beginning to form over the first few months, 

and you begin to see pretty good evidence of attachment to 

specific individuals around six months of age. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) Doctor, . your research disputes this automatic 

bonding that some people are putting forward? 

DR. BRODZINSKY: Yes. r- think in point of fact what 

they are talking about is less that there is an irrevocable 

bond, than that a child comes into the world preprogramed with 

certain behavioral and emotional signals which facilitate 

bonding. I don't think any reputable scientist would argue 

against that. But whether or not there is an irrevocable bond 

that is formed between parent and child mutually -- I emphasize 

mutually -- at birth-- I don't think there is any evidence to 

support that. Certainly, all of our experience in the area of 

adoption suggests that it is not there. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you. Anyone else? (no 

response) Doctor, I want to thank you very much for coming 

today and sharing your expertise and research with us. 

DR. BRODZINSKY: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Nadine Taub, Esq.? 

N A D I N E T A U B, E S Q. : Good morning. It is a 

pleasure and an honor to appear before your Comrnittee today. I 

am Nadine Taub. I am a Professor of Law at Rutgers Law School 

in Newark. I am the Director of the Women's Rights Litigation 

Clinic, which has been involved in a great many reproductive 

freedom litigation issues in this State, and nationally. For 

the past two years, I have been the Director of a Rutgers 

University Project on Reproductive Laws for the 1990s. 

I commend this Committee for anticipating and 

identifying the very difficult problems facing all of our 

jurisdictions today. I think the issues posed by the new modes 

of reproduction are difficult ones, and perhaps this Committee 

is almost too far ahead of the general public response to these 

issues by coming up with specific legislation at this point. 

The issues you are dealing with are controversial. I 

think they merit study and research, and I would counsel 
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caution and more study before taking any precipitous action. I 
take this position for three reasons: First, I think that the 
number of the substantive positions reflected in proposals are 
not fully worked out. We have already heard so far this 
morning strong and different positions on the surrogacy issue. 
I will be talking a little bit more about that, and trying to 
give some other examples from the legislation. 

Second, I think it is extremely difficult to draft a 
package like this. There are numerous technical problems in 
the drafting which have yet to be worked out. You have an 
ambitious set of statutes, and sometimes you refer to something 
in one statute that may be picked up or defined in another 
statute, but you really need to work out a lot of the details. 

Finally, I think that on the surrogacy issue -- but it 
may impact on a number of these other issues also -- it is 

I 

probably a mistake to act before the Supreme Court rules in the 
Baby M case. I will talk a little bit more about that. The 
argument is in September. My guess is that the court is going 
to move fast to decide, and I think it would be wel 1 to take 
into account their decision. 

So, let me return then to my first reason, that is to 
say, some of the substantive problems within your proposals. I 
will not dwell on the issues about surrogacy. You have already 
heard strong views strong opposing views on those 
issues. There is a basic question: Does the State of New 
Jersey really want to facilitate these types of arrangements, 
both in terms of the immediate parties involved and in terms of 
the commercialization of these agreements? I suggest that you 
can break down the issue -- and you have not yet -- into a 
question about whether the immediate parties should be 
encouraged, and whether commercialization should be encouraged. 

I would second the concerns that have been raised 
about the potential for exploitation. It seems to me that Mr. 
Skoloff's position this morning was too facile, that there are 
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the haves, but the have nots have children. Who has money to 

get involved in this? Who needs that money? I think that is 

very crucial. I am sure you heard -the concerned· -voice thatr· as 

these procedures get more sophisticated and egg implantation or 

embryo implantation become more common, there is a real 

potential for racial exploitation, and the development of a 

breeder class that is analogous to the wet-nurse class. 

So, I think that is an issue that bears study. I 

think you need to look carefully at how likely these procedures 

are to come about. I think the issue of the commodification of 

human life does bear more study and discussion, not only by 

this Cornrni ttee, but by people at large. I think the question 

of whether we are looking only at something that married 

couples should be entitled to, merits more consideration. We 

have expanded our notion of who is eligible to adopt. We are 

very much aware of the households that people are living in 

now. "Ozzie and Harriet" is a TV image. It in no way 

corresponds to current reality. I don't think we would say 

that we would condemn the homes that many, if not a majority, 

of our citizens are in now. If you make this available only to 

married couples, it seems to me that you are implicitly 

condemning others as inadequate childrearers. 

I think we need to ask and study, what are we doing to 

protect and prevent infertility? I would urge this Committee, 

and any study that is set up, to look at how infertility is 

created. Why are we only focusing on the high-tech expensive 

and emotionally expensive solutions, like in vitro 

fertilization, like these kinds of contractual arrangements? 

What are we doing to prevent the "pain of infertility"? What 

are we doing to enhance the ways that people can relate to 

children even if they don't acquire one of their own, even if 

they don't possess one? What are the ways that we are 

recognizing the value of other kinds of relationships 

godparents, aunts, uncles? Let's look at what infertility is 
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about and what society is doing to really help with the problem 

of inf erti 1 i ty, and not try to go through contortions to help 

-""~ peo.ple replicate an "Ozzie and Harriet" type of conventional 

·family. 

I think we also have to study whether the question of 

what your relationship is to a person a child -- whose 

progenitor you ar~, is such a serious question that you should 

be entitled to change your mind. Legislatures have passed laws 

that say you can change your mind within a certain period about 

whether you want to buy a vacuum cleaner. Well, I would submit 

that this kind of a question is of much greater significance, 

and may well merit a modificaiton of the "deal is a deal" view 

of contract law. 

Also, it seems to me that we should consider what 

kinds of mechanisms are important to guarantee informed consent 

and to equalize our bargaining power in these situations. I am 

not going to talk at length about screening. I would suggest 

here, too, that that may sound like a good solution, but it is 

too facile. I noticed this morning there has been a question 

raised and litigation over psychological screening for police 

in New York. It seems to me we al 1 want to make sure we have 

sound police officers on the street, but the racial bias and 

the class bias potential in screening is very serious. I think 

that one of the reasons why we respect family autonomy so much, 

and are so unwi 11 ing to interfere in more conventional ways 

that people procreate, is that we are afraid of imposing State 

values about who is an acceptable parent. I think I heard 

somebody mention the German history today, and I think we need 

to bear that in mind. This country, too, has had a problem 

with eugenics. I think how we want to work out those solutions 

is a difficult question that merits more study. 

I wanted to mention the other bills also. 

ASSEMBLYMA...~ KERN: I wish you would. 
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MS. TAUB: This will not be comprehensive, but I think 

there is a great risk that today's session will be focused 

almost. too much on the surrogacy question.-·- -

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: That is not the intent. I 

appreciate your doing that. 

MS. TAUB: I am going to try to go fast. I don't 

pretend that this is complete. For example, on the 

sterilization bill, I think it is important to give the kind of 

warnings you are talking about, but I would suggest you take a 

look at the New York legislation, and also the requirements 

that have been attached to the Federal Medicaid provisions. 

They are designed to address the problem of sterilization 

abuse, which has been a very painful problem in this country. 

I have already alluded to the problems with eugenics. I am 

sure the people here are old enough to remember the scandals, 

the Relph (phonetic spelling) case, the people on welfare who 

signed consent forms with "Xs." If you look at that 

legislation, I think you will see provisions like a requirement 

that specific things be told, but also that you get a chance to 

think about it; that you cannot be requested to sign an 

informed consent immediately. Your bill says before -- prior 

to -- sterilization. The other bills have a 30-day waiting 

period designed to allow people to get out of the hospital, to 

talk to their friends, and to consult. There are a lot of 

other details I would suggest you take a look at. 

On the fertility drugs bill -- A-3035 -- I think it is 

a question about how much you need this bill. How much are you 

just reenforcing existing potential for tort liability? If you 

are reenforcing it 

practitioners, are 

producer will be 

1 i ab i 1 it y c 1 aim? 

in this area when you are talking about 

you undercutting the assumption that the 

liable that there will be a products 

I think, also, that you want to make sure 

that you indicate there is a continuing duty to warn, not just 

a one-shot thing. If more is known, more must be told. 
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On A-3036, the in vitro fertilization bill, there is a 

big question you haven't addressed about, what happens to extra 

embryos or extra eggs? As these in vitro fertilization 

procedures work, to my understanding, frequently many more eggs 

are extracted than will result in a particular pregnancy, and 

that is because you don't know whether that pregnancy is going 

to work, and you won't have to invade the woman again to get 

more eggs, given the risk and the bodily integrity concerns. 

And then you go ahead and frequently try to fertilize more of 

those eggs than you will need. If you get a successful in 

vitro fertilization implantation on the frist try, what is 

going to happen to those extra embryos? And what about the 

sale of those embryos? You mentioned the sale of eggs and 

sperm. I think you need to think more about the embryos. 

You can see I 

some of the questions. 

am just hopping around trying to raise 

On A-3037, I think there is a societal 

consensus on the need for record keeping regarding sexually 

transmitted diseases. I think there needs to be more study, 

however, on the quest ion of record keeping of the identity of 

the doner. We are very much aware in the adoption context of 

adoptees sensing they need to know who their parents are. It 

is a trickier question on doners, but it seems to me that you 

have to think about it and address it. I don't think you car_ 

just jump over it. 

I think the question about genetic diseases and 

defects -- which I will later mention; I am not sure you have 

the best terminology there in terms of genetic defects -- but I 

think that is a tricky question, too, because there you have to 

decide-- I mean, I have no question in my mind that you should 

not permit sperm to be used if you are going to transmit a 

disease that way. However, I think that as we are able to map 

more and more genetic characteristics, if we allow the 

practitioner then with that information to choose which sperm 

the practitioner wi 11 make available, then we are giving that 
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person tremendous power. We are giving that person the power 

to decide who is going to be born; what characteristics they 

are going to have. And it may well be that-- For example,- if 

you have a mild case of sickle cell, but you have a lot of 

other valuable characteristics, you should be born. You will 

be a contributing person. A lot of times-- Well, it is 

important to understand the 1 imi ts to what we can do with 

genetic screening now. We can tell whether a trait is present, 

but we can't tell what the quality of life for that person will 

necessarily be. With things like Tay-Sachs, we may, but that 

would be a horrible and a short life. But in other situations, 

we may say there is a potential there, but I have very great 

doubts about letting practitioners play God in this area. I 

think that is a question that needs more study and more 

examination. 
There is a basic confusion, I think, in that statute 

about, are you setting it up to provide information ultimately 

to the child who is born, who frequently when she or he comes 

to the age of childbearing wants to know her or his genetic 

characteristics, or are you doing it to tell the practitioner 

not to transmit disease, or are you doing it so that the person 

who is getting the sperm is going to know what she is getting? 

I think there is confusion in the way the statute is drafted. 

It is not set up very clearly, and you may want to take a look 

at that. I think you really need more time to attend to 

details. 
Just one question on A-3039, of the several that could 

be raised. On frozen embryos, I would second the question 

about why do we automatically assume that the woman has 

possession? Maybe you want to resolve it simply; maybe you 

have a particular view about a woman's -role in reproduction; or 

maybe you didn't think about it enough and you want to take 

another look. 
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Let me move then to some examples of drafting problems 
which again, I think, indicate that you need to spend a little 
more ti~e on these bills. One simple example is in A-3036. In 
1. g., you have a definition of surrogate mother, but that term 
doesn't even appear in the statute. Also, you talk about the 
parties may agree to execute surrogate parenting contracts, but 
it is very ha_rd to tell from the context who the parties are -­
what parties_you are talking about. 

Those are just a couple of examples. I think you need 
to go through all of these bills very closely, and make sure 
that your terms are defined and that you are using the terms 
that you are defining. 

On A-3037, you may want to think about including AIDS 
specifically, given the confusion about how it is transmitted. 
Does everybody think of it as a sexually transmitted disease? 
I have a question about why you choose to use the term "natural 
father." For the natural mother, that is to say the biological 
mother in a surrogacy case, you cal 1 her a surrogate. Maybe 
you want to talk about biological father and biological mother, 
but there is a message you' re giving that you may not have 
intended. So I think you wi 11 want to go back and read for 
that kind of thing. 

In 4. b., there is a big question about what a genetic 
disease or defect is. I have bad eyesight. I believe that 
came from my parents, who also had bad eyesight. Is that a 
genetic defect? 

In A-3038, the surrogacy bi 11, you use the term that 
you are going to employ services -- that is in your preamble. 
Do you want the word "employ"? Do you mean to strengthen the 
argument -- and maybe you do; and maybe it is an important 
argument, but you should consider it that this is an 
employment relationship and minimum wage laws apply? I am sure 
you are aware that that is an issue that is coming up in the 
Baby M case. 
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Also, when you talk about employing services, you may 

strengthen the notion that it is perfectly all right to impose 

limits on the woman's behavior during pregnancy. I am not sure 

you want to do that.· I think that a woman's autonomy is a very 

important underlying principle in our system. It has been 

reflected in the contraception and birth control and abortion 

cases. It also comes about in the Karen Ann Quinlan case. Do 

you want to encourage restraints on how a person behaves? 

There is again a drafting problem in section 11. You 

say that if the woman doesn't report major changes in her 

health -- What is a major change? How is she supposed to know? 

-- then she is going to be liable for compensatory and punitive 

damages. To whom? To the child, to the contracting parents? 

It is a drafting problem. You have to decide what you mean, 

and tell us. 
The question has already been raised about what an 

infertile couple is. Aside from the underlying policy 

question, do you want to limit access to infertile couples? 

You've got to say what you mean -- what is an infertile couple? 

-- it seems to me. 
So, those are some examples of drafting problems. I 

think you have the staff and the professional assistance to 

help you. What you really need to do is recognize that you 

need the time to do a careful job. 

Finally, I would suggest that you wait for the Supreme 

Court to rule in the Baby M case. My basic reason for saying 

that is that I think the court is going to have to reach some 

important constitutional questions, that may wel 1 affect the 

legislation that you are going to enact. They are going to 

look at probably what is the constitutional minimum that has to 

be shown to terminate parental rights. I think they are going 

to look at whether Judge Sorkow, once he said the statutes 

didn't apply, had the inherent power to himself terminate 

parental rights. So I think the constitutional minimum of 
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parental rights termination and whether you can waive those 

rights by contract will be spoken to by the court, and cannot 

help but inform your decision. I think it is likely that--there 

may ·- be some allusions to whether there is a Thirteenth 

Amendment problem; financial transactions involving children 

who are, yes, delivered to one of their biological parents, .but 

who are permitted to be adopted by that biological pare~t' s 

spouse. Is the sale of a child such that it contravenes the 

Thirteenth Amendment? I think that is a tricky question 

myself, but I think the Supreme Court may give you some 

interesting guidance on that. 

I think they are also likely to give you an 

interpretation of the existing baby-selling statute, which will 

help you to analyze whether this situation is actually baby 

selling as it is in the adoption statute. This goes back to my 

earlier suggestions, but I think you, yourselves, should look 

closely at the wording of the baby selling statute, because 

there is really nothing in it, I think, that distinguishes 

surrender to father and would-be stepmother. That is actually 

a kind of situation that is contemplated in the adoption 

statutes. There are provisions about how you go about 

surrendering in those situations, and I would guess that the 

baby sel 1 ing statute does apply to that kind of a situation 

when you surrender to permit a spouse to adopt. I think that 

when the Supreme Court addresses that statute, they may give 

you some suggestions about how you want to go about explaining 

whether this is or is not baby selling, once you make up your 

minds, yourselves, whether it is or not. 

Finally, I think the Supreme Court will give you 

guidance on what the rights of the contractual parents are. Is 

there a constitutional right either to procreate or to form 

intimate family-like associations which individuals have? That 

wi 11 give you guidance on your quest ion about, do you want to 

restrict your law, as it is currently formed, to married 
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couples? I understood Mr. Skol off to say, "Wel 1, let's start 

out and let's try it that way," but if the Supreme Court is 

- ·going to tell you in the fall that individuals·-•~-:- .whether 

single or married -- have a constitutional right, why enact a 

law that is unconstitutionally restrictive, that has equal 

protection and due process problems? It may well be that 

non-infertile couples also have those rights and, ag~in, I 

think you would be wel 1-advised to wait to hear the ~upreme 

Court's views on those matters. 

So, I really commend you for taking on these very 

difficult questions. It seems to me that once again New Jersey 

is in the forefront. I would hope that you will have enough 

time to listen and actually allow the people of this State to 

shake down and decide what their views really are on this. It 

seems to me that Baby M has been a tremendous catalyst for 

discussion, and I think you do want to reflect the views of the 

people of this State. I think you should give yourself time to 

hear them. I also think you should give yourself time to 

prepare the best-drafted and most well-thought-through 

legislation you can. 

So, I would urge you to go forward with your 

commission proposal and expand it to go beyond the surrogacy 

question to include the issues raised by the other proposed 

legislation. Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMA..1\J KERN: That is why we commenced these 

hearings. You can't begin to discuss something unless you have 

a proposal on the table. We are holding hearings so we can 

hear from the public, both experts and laypeople. We are not 

only listening to the benefit of somebody's expertise, but 

opinions from anyone who chooses to voice them. That is what 

the process is all about. 

Are you familiar with the "Harvard Law Review" article 

on surrogacy of June, 1986? 
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. MS. TAUB: I have to be honest . I have looked at a 

bunch of different articles, and I am not sure I can keep them 

straight,,,.:, 'Mayl:>e · you can- help me .out a little"·-·.,. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Well, it -deals with the Thirteenth 

Amendment question. 

MS. TAUB: I looked at it, but I am not sure. I would 

want to take a test on it. Maybe you can ask me the_ question 

you have in your mind about it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: It is the view of the editors of 

that journal that the Thirteenth Amendment does not prohibit 

this procedure. 

MS. TAUB: I must say, I find it a very difficult 

question. I was on a panel last night with a woman who feels 

very strongly that it is Dr. Wendy Chafkin (phonetic 

spelling) -- who is the head of Maternal and Infant Care for 

the City of New York. I was trying to press her to explain why 

it was. Her greatest concern was that there is a policy 

expressed in those provisions that we do not intent to sel 1 

human life. For me, the reason why I am not sure the 

Thirteenth Amendment applies is, I think the Thirteenth 

Amendment has to do with buying people so that you have total 

control over the products of their labor. It seems to me that 

we are talking about acquiring children so that we have control 

over them in a different sense. But I guess the thing that 

bothers me is that we are talking about acquiring children; 

that there is an ownership implication involved. So, it may be 

that there are very serious policy questions that are related 

to the Thirteenth Amendment concerns, but the idea of penal 

servitude or slavery really has to do with exploiting the full 

product of every aspect of that person's life. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any questions? Assemblyman 

Thompson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: With reference to the 

Thirteenth Amendment question you raised, does compelling a 
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natural mother to give up custody of a natural child against 

her will-- Do you think, in your legal opinion, it would 

violate the Thirteenth Amendment prohibiting involuntary 

servitude? 
MS. TAUB: There is no question that if you were 

compelling her to go through pregnancy and give birth-- In my 

mind, it is compelling involuntary servitude. That is, in 

fact, something that happens whenever you refuse to permit a 

person to exercise her right to abortion. You are compelling 

involuntary servitude. I think the part that has to do with 

terminating her parental rights, handing the child over, to my 

mind, has more to do with the deprivation of Fourteenth 

Amendment rights -- substantive rights to have relationships 

with your children. So, I think they are both involved. I 

think the compulsion to produce the child to be turned over 

involves Thirteenth Amendment questions. I think that cutting 

off your right to have contact with your child involves 

Fourteenth Amendment questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: All right. This is a follow-up 

which may involve the Fourteenth Amendment also. In your legal 

opinion, is a covenant in which the surrogacy contract 

requiring the natural mother to surrender custody-- In the 

Baby M case, unless I read it wrong, it said this was a 

personal service contract. Do you think it is a personal 

service contract, or do you think it is a transfer under the 

uniform commercial code? 

MS. TAUB: Well, I think in the Baby M case-- The 

contract that was involved there could not possibly be one for 

personal services, because she was not going to get any money 

for the services she performed if there was a miscarriage 

prior, I believe, to the fourth month .. I can't remember. But 

there was a point up to which she was going to get no money. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: No quantum meruit, in other 

words, if something went wrong. 
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MS. TAUB: Right, nothing. And, if there was a 
stillbirth, I think she got $1000. She was only going to get 
the -money if she ·fully performed. However,. I do think it wquld 
be possible to have contracts in another form that could be 
regarded as service contracts, or almost option contracts. If 
you had a deal where the woman retains the right to decide 
you were talking this morning about 30 days ·post-birth, an 
adoption type model someone could enter into a contract 
essentially to be the first possible parent. Or, they could 
enter into a contract that would be almost like a stock option, 
that she retains the right, but if she decides to give up, then 
they would be the first in line. In those situations, she 
would not, I think, be getting money for the services directly, 
and I think you might avoid also the baby selling problem 
there. But, there is no question in my mind, the way the 
contract was drafted in the Baby M case, it was not a contract 
for services; it was a contract for delivery. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Mr. Chairman, I have a couple 
more questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KER.~: Go right ahead. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: One is, well, it is not a 
question. It is just sort of dealing with conflicts of laws. 
In the Baby M case, the parties were domiciled in the State of 
New Jersey. The contract was entered into in the State of New 
York. It was some type of standard contract at a fertilization 
center or somewhere in Manhattan. My question is, should New 
Jersey require -- with reference to val id surrogacy contracts 
-- that they be New Jersey contracts, rather than under the 
circumstances of the Baby M case, where, unfortunately, the 
judge actually enforced the law of another state? 

MS TAUB: You are going a little beyond my expertise, 
in terms of conflicts of law. But, it seems to me that New 
Jersey could require in its statute that it will not recognize, 
or it will not enforce, any contract that does not meet the 
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requisites of New Jersey public policy. In your 

you could set out that those requisites are. 

legislation, 

I am very 

troubled by the form contracts, because I think they are good 

evidence that there was not informed consent in arm's length 

transactions. It seems to me that if there are certain minima 

that you want in your contracts, you can specify them by 

statute. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Anyone else? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: Just 

Assemblyman Girgenti? 

a follow-up on the 

question that Assemblyman Thompson just asked. Does that mean 

that you can go into Pennsylvania and get enforcement? 

MS. TAUB: We 11, I would be happier if you could get 

somebody who is more secure about conflicts of law, but my 

impression is, you might well have a contract in New Jersey 

that violates New Jersey public policy and is not enforceable, 

but you could get enforcement in another state if you could 

establish the prerequisites for jurisdiction in that state, if 

you had sufficient ties with that state. I think that is an 

issue that comes up in al 1 contract law. I am sure there are 

people who can speak to that better than I. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: So, what good is the statute 

then? 

MS. TAUB: Well, I think what the statute would do --

two things. It would make clear what the courts of this State 

will and will not do, and it would also have a powerful 

education and symbolic effect in terms of telling the people of 

this State -- and I think by this time the rest of the country 

is looking at New Jersey, too -- "This is the kind of behavior 

we do or do not want to encourage." 

I think there would be the concrete effect of saying 

what this State would enforce. I mean, New Jersey has law 

about product liability. New Jersey has law about when you can 

fire an employee at will, that does not exist in other states. 
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If you have a national corporation, and they are doing business 
in New Jersey and they need the New Jersey courts, the law will 
be ·enforced -one way there. If--they -are in some· other state 
I think 1 just saw that Oregon does not- -give protections to 
employees at wi 11 then what New Jersey said wouldn't go 
there. But you convey a message to-people here, and to people 
throughout this country, about what you believe should be 
taking place. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: All right, just another 
question. I am asking you because you happen to be here right 
now. Maybe someone else at some point can answer some of these 
questions, too. 

MS. TAUB: I will call my colleague and send him down. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: Suppose the natural mother -­
the surrogate -- wins the New Jersey Lottery, you know, after 
surrendering custody to contracting parents, should the child 
be cut off from inheritance rights, in your opinion? 

MS. TAUB: Well, I think that is a very good question 
to open up a bigger topic. I really think it is important for 
the child to have ties, whether it is a financial windfall or 
an emotional contribution. I personally believe that it is 
important for those children to know the extent to which they 
matter to the person who gave birth. I, for example, would 
like to see, in the Baby M case I know you are not 
legislating the outcome there -- but it seems to me that that 
visitation, that continued contact, is important, and I would 
hope that in whatever legislation you arrive at, if you are 
going to permit and recognize relinquishing custody to a 
biological father and spouse, or to other parents, you 
recognize the importance, and permit continued contact, because 
I really believe that we need to know that we are cared for, 
and not that we were simply abandoned. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: Should the child be allowed to 
choose his legal parents upon maturity? 
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MS. TAUB: I think that by that time the legal parents 

aren't going to matter that much. It seems to me that it is 

important to make clear who the legal parents- arer who can make 

deci~ions ave the ah~ld. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: For inheritance purposes? 

MS. TAUB: For inheritance purposes. My guess is that 

it will be simpler to specify w~o the parents are, and have 

that be a clean transaction. I haven't thought that much about 

it, and I don't see great dangers in doing it. My notion would 

be that it would be simpler the other way. There is always the 

potential of wills to transmit property. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: But, would it serve the best 

interests of the child in every case? 

MS. TAUB: In the inheritance situation? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: Right. 

MS. TAUB: Well, I guess it is a heavy decision, and 

it kind of encourages the child to look at things in a fairly 

materialistic way. I would hope that the child would not be 

put in the position of saying to parents who he truly loved, "I 

really love you, but, you know, I am going to be better off if 

I go with these people. " I have a s 1 ight concern about saying 

it may be in the best interests of the child to put material 

considerations before emotional considerations. If you can 

choose your parents, why shouldn't you be able to choose them 

on an emotional basis? 

ASSEMBLYMA...1'.J GIRGENTI: Well, the Baby M decision was 

decided on materialistic grounds. 

MS. TAUB: I think you' re right. I am not sure it was 

the best decision so far. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: One other thing, Walter. 

ASSEMBLYMA...~ KER..~: There is no coro 11 ary to what was 

just said in the adoption process. There is a straight cutoff, 

right? 
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MS. TAUB: That is true, although there is increasing 

recognition throughout the country of the notion of open 

adoption, whereby the parent who has given up the child can 

continue to have contact, even though there is a legal adoption 

that takes place. I have a recollection of a New Jersey case 

-- you may remember it better than I do-- I thought there was 

a case where a divorced father kept contact with the child even 

though the stepfather adopted. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Yes, there is a case, but the 

statute does not provide for that. 

MS. TAUB: No, no, but I think there is an opening 

·going on around the country, and at least a little entry into 

that in our case law. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: There is considerable discussion 

about it, and there is advocacy in this State, too, to do 

something about it, but there has been no substantive change. 

Assemblyman Girgenti? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: Walter, maybe I can ask you 

this: Do you think that the adopting parents under the 

surrogacy contract should be compelled to take that child? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I think they ought to be, yes. 

That is my own personal view, but I think it is going to be up 

to this Committee to make that policy decision. It is my own 

position that they should stand like any other parents and take 

their chances. I don't think-- That is one of the things I do 

not like about the contract in the Baby M case. 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Mr. Chairman, may I ask you one 

question? 
ASSEMBLYMAN KER.~: Do you want to swear me in? 

ASSEMBLYMA...t.J THOMPSON: I didn't read this case, but 

someone mentioned the fact that there was a decision in 

California where you had the same process, but something 

happened and the man backed up, and the judge said, "You have 

to pay child support." 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Right. There was a California case 

which allowed visitation in a surrogate situation, but there 

was a hereditary contact between all_ three. ,of -the_ individuals 

involved in the case. It was a family situation; - - They -weren't 

strangers, so to speak. 

Are there any other questions of the witness? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: The only other thing I want to 

add is, you strongly urge that no legislation should be passed 

at this point until the Supreme Court makes a decision. 

MS. TAUB: Yes, I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you. Peter Strohm, Esq. 

PETER STROHM, ESQ.: Thank you, Mr. Chariman. 

Members of the Cammi ttee, my name is Peter Strohm. I am an 

attorney at law in this State. I am active in health and 

hospial law and related issues. I was asked by Assemblyman 

Kern to address you concerning some of this pending 

legislation. My comments will be brief. 

I would like to speak to Assembly Bills 3040 and 

3035. I would like to speak against them. These bills deal 

with informed consent. Informed consent is a problem that 

courts, lawyers, and doctors have wrestled with, and are 

wrestling with on a daily basis. For the Legislature to single 

out two specific medical and surgical procedures, I think, 

would be wrong. I think there are many surgical and medical 

procedures which are very important and which involve informed 

consent, and I just don't think at this stage that the 

Legislature should single out these two. 

I see consent forms cross my desk almost every day. 

Doctors are not sure what they should tell patients, how much 

they should tell patients. I am not too sure how much a doctor 

should tell a patient. These are problems that I think are 

more properly dealt with between a physician and his patient, 

as suits the relationship the physician has with his patient. 
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I would like to speak in favor of Assembly Bill 3037. 
Specifically, I think it is very important -- and this was 
mentioned by an earlier speaker -- that there be record keeping 
of donors, and the identity of donors. We are learning more 
and more that many of our diseases and much of the composition 
of our own bodies are hereditary. I think it may very well be 
importa~t as science evolves that we learn who the father is of 
a child, and the child knows who his father was. 

Finally, I would 1 ike to speak in favor of Assembly 
Joint Resolution 76. As was mentioned by a number of earlier 
speakers, I think the issue of surrogate parentage is extremely 
important, but it involves so many related issues that any 
piece of legislation must consider all of these related 
issues. I consider myself relatively knowledgeable in the 
field of health law, and it is only very recently that I read, 
or studied, anything on surrogate parentage. I recently heard 
a talk given by Professor Edgar of the Columbia Law School, who 
raised yet more issues, issues that had never occurred to me, 
and I am sure never occurred to a lot of people, on surrogate 
parentage. I think perhaps Professor Edgar should address this 
Committee. 

In any event, I think there are many issues which have 
to be addressed, and I do not think that at this time, and with 
the knowledge we have, one piece of legislation could encompass 
everything. 

ASSEMBLYMJ..N KERN: Thank you. 
questions? (no response) Thank you. 

MR. STROHM: Thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Alison Ward? 

Are there any 

AL ISON S. WARD: Good morning. My name is Alison 
Ward, and I, like perhaps very few people who may give 
testimony before you, know what it is like to lose a child, 
because I am a birth mother. I lost my daughter to adoption 20 
years ago. For the past six years, since I have been reunited 
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with her, I have been an adoption activist in both New Jersey 

and at the national level. For four years, I was the Vice 

President and on the Board of Concerned United Birthparen.ts, 

which is a.national .group for parents who have lost children to 

adoption. Since last fall, I have been working toward banning 

commercialized third-party reproduction, which is more commonly 

refer_red to as surrogacy. I believe that this process would 

legally, morally, and ethically redefine what it is to be a 

mother and what it is to be a father. I almost believe that 

the very process would change the way the human race is to be 

continued. I don't think that New Jersey should be the first 

state in the country to legalize what other governments have 

banned as a sordid commercial bargain. 

I want to speak briefly about Assembly Bill 3038, and 

explain my opposition to it. My primary objections are: the 

enforcement of pre-birth relinquishment of parental rights; the 

commercialization of third-party reproduction; and what seems 

to be legalization of baby-selling. In addition -- as others 

have said before me it does not define infertility, and only 

provides for the screening of sexually transmitted diseases for 

the surrogate, not for the male donor. 

Unt i 1 March 31, when Judge Sorkow handed down his 

decision in the Baby M case, a pre-birth contract to terminate 

a mother's parental rights had never been enforced in this 

country never. The inability of a woman to have informed 

consent prior to her child's birth has been upheld in all 50 

states. Proponents of surrogacy argue that since most 

surrogates have already borne at least one child, they are 

familiar with the birth process and therefore can make informed 

consent prior to birth. But, if that is true, why isn't a 

woman like myself, who has already surrendered one child to 

adoption-- If I would be considering surrendering a second 

child, why couldn't they terminate my parental rights 

pre-birth? I have already done this, why wouldn't I be able to 

give informed consent? 
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I know firsthand of the changes of heart and mind that 
can occur at a child's birth. Throughout my pregnancy, I truly 
believed that adoption wast-he way to solve_the_problem of my 
untimely pregnancy, but near the end of -my- pregnancy, as my 
child became more real to me, I began to have mixed feelings. 

\ 
At the minute the nurse told me that I had a healthy, beautiful 
baby girl, _I knew I could never lose her. I tried to keep her, 
but I lacked the necessary support to do that. Losing my 
daughter was just as Mary Beth Whitehead described the loss of 
her Sara; it was like losing one of my arms. 

For mothers 1 ike Mary Beth Whitehead, the truth may 
come at the moment of birth, when she realizes that that child 
looks exactly like her other children. The baby brokers like 
to call this a product, or an investment, but it is not. These 
mothers are losing one of their children. 

Pre-birth relinquishment of parental rights is not 
permitted in this country, and I don't think that in September 
when the Supreme Court hears the appeal they are going to 
enforce it either. Even Judge Sorkow conceded that the section 
of the contract which had Mrs. Whitehead prospectively giving 
up her right to choose an abortion during her pregnancy, and 
allowed Mr. Stern the right to demand that she have one, was 
unenforceable. I don't understand how we can argue that a 
woman cannot give up her right to have an abort ion, and not 
also argue that a surrogate cannot give up her right to change 
her mind about keeping her child. How can we say that taking 
away a woman's right to abort is an intolerable restriction of 
her liberty which would treat her like a non-human incubator, 
yet find acceptable taking away a mother's right to choose to 
rear a child she has borne? 

Having your child whom you love and desperately want 
to keep foreably taken from you is, I believe, more horrible 
than forcing a woman to have an abortion. Taking a child away 
from its mother in this manner is even worse, because it 
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creates a situation of lifelong struggle for one or both of 

them to seek to be reunited. Taking away a mother's choices 

about relinquishing parental rights after her child is born 

guarantees trauma and emotional devastation for her. I just 

don't believe that we should ever enforce pre-birth contracts, 

because I don't think there can be informed choice. 

This bill permits payments to ?e made not only to the 

surrogate, but also to baby brokers. Even Noel Keane has said 

that if money is withheld as an incentive, the supply of 

potential surrogate mothers would dry up. Much has been said 

in this situation about the exploitation of less educated and 

less affluent women in surrogacy. Better educated and 

compensated women do not have to enter into surrogacy 

agreements to feel a sense of self-worth and contribute money 

to their families. I can accept altruism as a motivating 

factor for going into a contract of surrogacy, or, as Gary 

Skoloff calls it, "the gift of life to an infertile couple," 

but when you are only giving the gift of life for the payment 

of cold, hard cash, I don't accept it any longer. 

The baby brokers are not even making babies; they are 

just making money. The money they get is almost as much, or 

equal to, the money given to the mother for this service, 

except that the centers which deal in this get up-front, 

non-refundable fees, and the only screening they seem to do is 

of the check the couple gives them. 

If surrogacy is ever legalized in New Jersey, I don't 

believe that any payment should ever be permitted to the mother 

over and above normal medical expenses associated with her 

pregnancy. I don't believe that any payment should ever be 

made to a baby broker. 

I believe that this bill would legalize baby selling. 

Proponents of surrogacy maintain that the mother is receiving 

payment for her services, not her baby. But, if you look at 

the contracts, they prove otherwise. Take, for example, the 

55 



very infamous, but very standard contract between Mary Beth 

Whitehead and William Stern. In the event that she miscarried 

prior-to:.·the··fifth--,month of pregnancy; -she_awould .get nothing. 

So much · for -her .. -services. For a· miscarriage · -later in - her 

pregnancy, or if her child had been born dead, she would have 

gotten $1000. Only if she had a heal thy baby and handed the 

baby over to the Sterns would she receive more than $1000. So, 

it becomes very clear. Her services were worth $1000; her baby 

was worth $9000. 

I do not believe that as a matter of public policy we 

should ever permit the exchange of money for babies. Children 

are not chattel, and I just don't believe that children should 

be born to be sold. 

This whole process requires that we encourage a new 

breed of woman, someone who wi 11 conceive and surrender her 

child according to a contract, or a deal, who promises not to 

form a bond with her child. She is not going to bear any 

responsibility for the child she brings into this world, and 

she has the right to abort the baby, but not raise it. As one 

baby broker said, "We have to find women who believe the 

advantages of all of this outweigh the psychological trauma of 

losing a child." For me, the greatest irony of surrogacy is 

that most of its supporters have never lost a child to 

adoption, and would never be a surrogate themselves. Even for 

the men today at this hearing, would you want your mothers or 

your wives, your daughters or your sisters, to go into this? 

If one of them came to you and said, "I think this is a great 

idea," would you second that notion, or would you say, "Wait a 

minute, I don't think you really understand what you are 

getting into"? 

From studies done on relinquishing mothers in this 

country and in Australia, we know it sometimes takes up to 

eight to ten years, or even more, for the coping mechanism of 

denial to not work any more. In my own case, it took 13 years 
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before I realized the full impact of what I had done, not just 

on myself and my family, but also on my daughter. It saddens 

me to think that these mothers today who are trotting out on 

the "Phil Donahue Show," among others -- who are contracting 

away their children through these contracts -- are going to be 

a new breed of birthparents in the 1990s and beyond. Their 

grief and pain is going to be even worse than mine, becau_se 

they voluntarily did this. They sold their children through 

contracts. I think they are going to have a hard time 

answering to themselves, their families, and, most importantly, 

their children, because that is what children who are 

surrendered for adoption come back and say to us: "Why did you 

give me away? Why couldn't you keep me?" They say this even 

to a woman who was 15 years old at the time. They don't 

understand. It is one thing for men to donate sperm; it is 

another thing for a woman to do this, I think we hold that 

value of motherhood very sacred in our society, and I don't 

think we should change it. 

I also think that most people never talk about the 

impact this has on children; not just the children born of the 

process, but also the older children of the mother. There is 

always going to be pain for these children. Even adoptive 

parents have learned that you cannot love away the pain your 

children have because of this. No matter how much they are 

wanted, no matter how much they are loved, you can't love away 

that pain. I think that people who get children through 

surrogate contracts are going to have a special set of problems 

they will have to deal with. Even donor offspring -- children 

who have found out that they are the result of artificial 

insemination have, over the last several years, come 

forward, because when they finally find out the truth of their 

origins, they are angry. They are really angry. Most of them, 

when they find out, speak of their anguish of not knowing who 

their father is. They realize how destructive it is to find 
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out that one of their parents sold them, with no intention of 
ever loving them or taking responsibility for them. For the 

-- children born of --surrogacy contr.acts,__ __ I _ really-: bel_ieve it is 
going to be-worse; because their-own mothers did--this to them. 

In this process, there are always going to be Tuesday 
and Ryan Whiteheads -- older children of the mother who- are 
half siblings to the child raised by another family. Can we 
begin to imagine what it does to these children to see :their 
mother carry a child to term, and then give the child, or sell 
the child to another family? How can we consider the best 
interests of one child and ignore the best interests of his or 
her older brothers and sisters? 

Other people have talked about the semantics of all of 
this, and I maintain that women who bear children as a result 
of surrogacy contracts are not surrogate mothers; they are 
mothers. They are not alternative reproduction vehicles, Judge 
Sorkow, and they are not surrogate uteri, Mr. Skoloff; they are 
mothers. I really believe we should ban corrunercialized 
surrogacy and not consider this bill any further. We already 
have statutes that can cover those things done between people 

between individuals. We already have good adoption, 
termination of parental rights, and sperm donor statutes in New 
Jersey which cover all of this. 

This Sunday is Mother's Day. It just seems ironic to 
me, at a time when we give great lip service to the values of 
motherhood and the sacred bonds between mother and child, that 
we even consider discussing a process like this, which I really 
believe would destroy all of that. 

Thank you very much. I wi 11 be happy to answer any 
questions you migh~ have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank . you. Any questions? 
Assemblyman Girgenti? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: I have a couple of questions. 
One is that the Stern/Whitehead contract did not require Stern 
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to take Baby M. He had to cut off Mrs. Whitehead's right to 

change her mind. In your opinion, was this a fair and equal 

contract? 

MS. WARD: No. Also, I believe the contract required 

him to take legal responsibility for the child, but did not 

require him to take the child into their home. To be fair to 

the Sterns, they did have respons ibi 1 i ty for the child. I 

think the enforcement of a pre-birth contract, though, is 

illegal and immoral. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: I think you have given us the 

answer already, but just to put it on record, is it accurate to 

say that you disagree that the covenant to surrender custody in 

the Baby M contract was not a personal service, as the court 

held? 

MS. WARD: We can't talk about al 1 contracts, but if 

we just look at that specific contract-- If she had a baby, if 

she went through all of the inseminations, carrying the child 

for nine months, and all the risk to her health that a delivery 

entailed, then why, had Sara been born dead, would she get 

$1000, and $9000 more if she were born alive? Her service was 

exactly the same. So, I can't talk about other contracts, but 

that particular contract was very clear that it was not a 

service she was being paid for; it was a baby. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIRGENTI: So, what was it? 

MS. WARD: I think it was a payment for a baby. Part 

of the payment was for the baby; $1000 was for her services. 

You know, I don't go along so much with the labor law arguments 

about al 1 of this and the minimum wage, because I think there 

are other services that are not necessarily done on that. But 

I think in that particular contract, because they 

differentiated-- Other surrogacy centers, though, have drawn 

up different contracts that kind of circuit that argument. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Anything else? Any other 

questions? (no response) Thank you very much for coming. 
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We are going to adjourn at this point. We are going 

to suspend the public hearing for the moment to do the Senate 

·bil~1-~that is on the agenda. We will reconvene the hearing one 

hour from now. 

(RECESS) 

AFTER RECESS: 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I would like to reconvene the 

hearing now, and call on Edward Trawinski. 

EDWARD TRAW INS KI: Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman 

and members of the Committee. I am Legislative Counsel to 

Assemblyman and Assistant Majority Leader Felice. I am here to 

speak on the Assistant Majority Leader's Assembly Joint 

Resolution 76. He apologizes to the Comrni ttee that he could 

not be present personally. 

Having listened to the myriad of witnesses this 

morning, there is one common theme: The issues are complex and 

they bear study. There was an editorial in The Star-Ledger in 

the beginning of April which essentially said that there are 

times when study commissions are examples of legislative 

temerity, and there are times when they are appropriate. When 

the issues are as complex as you have heard this morning, and 
as you are all generally aware, the time is right to take the 

time to study the issue properly. 

The Assistant Majority Leader is neither opposed to, 

nor in favor of A-3035 through and including A-3040. What he 

says is: "Take the time to think about it. Get the best minds 

in the State that you can to cover the complex issues that are 

there. Then decide whether legislation is appropriate or not." 
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So, we submit to you that the issue before the 

Committee is not whether the Committee should act, but how the 

-Committee ·should· advise the Legislature, and the Assembly 

specifically, best to act. For reasons that are obvious, as 

set forth in the Resolution, and based upon the testimony you 

have heard, we feel the best way for the Committee to advise 

the Assembly to act is to adopt the Joint Resolution. 

That is all I have, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you. Any questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much for coming, Ed. 

Alan Weisbard? 

AL AN J. WE IS BARD: Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman 

and members of the Committee. My name is Alan Wei sbard. I am 

a resident of Montclair, New Jersey, a member of the faculty of 

the Benjamin N. Cardozo School of Law in New York City and, as 

of July 1, I will be assuming the responsibilities as Executive 

Director of the New Jersey Bioethics Commission, formerly known 

as the Commission on Legal and Ethical Problems in the Delivery 

of Heal th Care. I am appearing today in that latter capacity 

on behalf of our Commission's Chairman, Daniel F. O'Connell, 

who is unavoidably out-of-state today. It is an honor to meet 

with you. I found this morning's testimony fascinating and 

instructive. 

As you know, the Commission was established by an act 

of this Legislature, quoting from the statute: "To provide a 

comprehensive and scholarly examination of the impact of 

advancing technology on heal th care decisions." We were asked 

and mandated by the Legislature to help to enable government, 

professionals, the citizens of the State of New Jersey, and 

others around the nation, quote again: "To better understand 

the issues presented, their responsibilities, and the options 

open to them." 

I am appearing this morning in that spirit, to offer 

the assistance of the Commission and its staff as the 
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Legislature moves forward in considering the legal, ethical, 
and social issues posed by .advances in technology in the area 
of surrogate rnothe"rhood and other noveL·or -a·lternativ-e means- of 
human reproduction. 

I would like to add my voice to those raised earlier 
in commending the Chairman and the members of the Committee in 
putting forward the number of bills before you today, i~ taking 
this important step through these hearings and the remainder of 
the legislative process, in bringing these issues more fully 
before the public of New Jersey, and in beginning the long road 
toward careful consideration of these issues and an appropriate 
legislative response by the Assembly and the State Senate. 

The Commission's work, so far, has focused on the area 
of death and dying and is wel 1 under way. We have held a 
number of public hearings around the State considering such 
issues as he definition of death, living wills, durable powers 
of attorney, and other issues related to planning for the end 
of life. We are hopeful that with my arrival as a full-time 
Executive Director on July 1, and with several impending 
additions to the Commission's professional staff, we will be 
able to complete our first interim report to the Legislature, 
including a number of recommendations for legislative action 
relating to death and dying, by this fall. 

These additions to the Commission's staff will bring 
considerable depth and experience in the areas of law and 
bioethics, including expertise highly relevant to the issues 
posed by new reproductive technologies. We are ready and eager 
to put this expertise at your disposal, and to assist you in 
whatever way you may find helpful. 

As is evident from the number of bills now pending 
before t~is Committee, and the scope of their coverage, that 
these new reproductive technologies pose a stunning variety of 
questions with which our State, our society, and our law have 
relatively little experience. The issues go to the foundations 
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of family law, raising questions ranging from abortion to 

adoption to adultery, to concerns raised by some about slavery, 

baby selling, and the commodiflcation of human life. These 

practices raise profound religious and social questions from 

the dignity and sanctity of sexual expression and procreation 

to the role and opportunities of women in our society, to 

indeed the very definition of family and its meaning in 

contemporary society. 

There are also issues regarding the appropriate role 

of contract law in governing the custody of human beings, 

particularly given the close linkages of substantial financial 

payments in connection with the waiver or relinquishment of 

custodial rights, and the timing of such waivers. There are 

issues of informed consent. There are other questions of 

potential tort liability relating to the well-being of the 

child, the parents, and other participants in the process. 

There are troubling issues regarding the appropriate role of 

government action, including both regulatory controls and the 

use of State power in the enforcement of private agreements. 

These touch sensitive matters of family life. 

Many of these questions also implicate important 

constitutional dimensions, as courts and legislators continue 

to struggle to refine the meaning and scope of the right to 

privacy as it applies to sexual and reproductive behaviors and 

to new ways of constituting families. And, there are the 

painful, difficult questions of the implications of these new 

technologies for the welfare -- both physical and psychological 

-- of the children conceived by these means, and of other 

children, potential adoptees, whose potential for being adopted 

and cared for in a family setting may be profoundly affected by 

legislation in this area. 

With this multiplicity of questions, issues, and 

perspectives, it is no surprise that different groups have 

reached different conclusions on how best to proceed. While 

63 



the Baby M case is in important respects a first in the 
American context, several other countries and jurisdictions 
have had occasion to consider these issues and to respond with 

- legislation. Maj or examples within the Anglo-American legal 
tradition include: the United Kingdom, the State of Victoria 
in Australia, and the Province of Ontario in Canada. You heard 
this morning a~out other things pending in continental Europe. 
Each of these sets of legislation follows a somewhat different 
pattern and a somewhat different philosophy. Interestingly, in 
each of the cases I have mentioned, the legislation followed 
from detailed, comprehensive studies by respected committees or 
commissions. While in each case the relevant legislative 
bodies made modifications to the committee proposals -- and I 
should add that that seems to me quite appropriate; after all, 
citizens of the State elect legislators, not study commissions 

the process of committee investigation, discussion, and 
debate appears to have been of considerable benefit in 
contributing to the quality and thoughtfulness of the 

legislative process. 

Drawing on those experiences, I would like briefly to 
sketch out some potential avenues of approach that this 
Committee and the New Jersey Legislature may wish to consider 
on how to proceed. Let me identify three or four potential 
legislative approaches to surrogate motherhood that I think 
will also have application to some of the other ne•,.,• 
reproductive technologies. I will try to do so without 
prejudging their respective merits. 

At one end of the spectrum, the Legislature might 
decide simply to prohibit the entire practice of surrogacy, 
providing criminal penalties for the participants. This would, 

in some respects, 

although on some 

be the simplest approach you could adopt, 

views of the right of privacy as it now 
applies to family and procreative matters, and of certain First 
Amendment concerns, this approach might well implicate the 
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constitutional rights of the participants and would, of course, 

have impact on the profound interests of infertile couples who 

=·so·· ~desperately desire the joys and responsibilities · of 

parenthood. 

A second approach might seek to discourage, but not 

necessarily prohibit the practice of surrogacy. Under such an 

approach, th~ Legislature might restrict or prohibit commercial 

payments beyond necessary medical expenses, declare surrogacy 

contracts voidable and/or unenforceable in the courts, give 

statutory status to the common-law presumption that the woman 

who gestates and gives birth to a child is that child's mother, 

and direct that the protections afforded to both mothers and 

children in the adoptive context could be applied to the 

situation of surrogacy. There might be additional specific 

provisions restricting or prohibiting the role of commercial 

intermediaries in surrogacy situations. This general approach 

would not entirely prohibit the practice of surrogacy, 

especially that involving relatives or close friends acting on 

an altruistic basis, but it would serve to 1 imi t the pr act ice 

overall and to place curbs on areas of greatest potential abuse. 

A third approach would be for the State to accept the 

widespread practice of surrogacy as either a desirable or an 

unavoidable response, I think -- taking off on Mr. Skol off's 

observation this morning -- to the problem of infertility, to 

give formal legal status to the practice, and to structure a 

comprehensive regulatory regime to govern the practice of 

surrogacy, providing protections for the adoptive 

parents-to-be, for the birth mothers, and for the children. 

Such an approach would, in all probability, require extensive 

legal provisions governing the terms of surrogacy contracts and 

the practices to be employed by surrogacy or infertility 

centers. 

A fourth alternative would view surrogacy simply as a 

desirable social practice among consenting adults and would 
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While I do not anticipate that such a process is 

likely to result in any magical resolution acceptable to all 

that, I think, would probably be impossible in a State as 

diverse and pluralistic, and as interesting as New Jersey -- it 

could realistically serve to clarify the issues and the values 

at stake, to provide well-worked-out options for legislative 

consideration, and to permit the members of the Legislature to 

perform their responsibilities in as careful, considered, and 

responsible a fashion as possible. I believe our Commission 

can be of some assistance in this process. We, as a 

Commission, are eager to work with you to develop an 

· appropriate format, structure, and timetable for that process, 

and to turn to this project with necessary expedition. As we 

have learned, creating and staffing a study commission on 

issues of this complexity cannot be achieved overnight. We are 

now in existence and ready to go. We have the statutory 

authority and mandate to create task forces drawing on 

participants with expertise in areas of particular relevance to 

a given topic, which would certainly include new reproductive 

technologies. Let us know how we can best be of service to you. 

I would be happy to respond to questions, or to 

address some of the other issues raised by the other bills. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Are there any questions from the 

members of the Committee? (no response) Thank you very much 

for your presentation, and for offering your Commission's 

services. 

Dr. Ekkehard Kemmann? 

DR. EKKEHARD KEM MANN: Good afternoon. Thank 

you for giving me the opportunity to talk to you. My name is 

Ekkehard Kemmann. I am Associate Professor at the University 

of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey, Robert Wood Johnson 

Medical School, in New Brunswick. I am the Director of the 

Division of Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility; also 

the Director of the first in vitro program in New Jersey. 
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I would like to comment on a number of these bills. 
These primarily address the applicability, as I see it as a 
physician. Regarding Assembly Bill 3035, about fertility 
drugs, it is unclear how the definition of "infertility drugs" 
is meant. The definition, as used in the bill, really defines 
as an infertility drug any drug intended to increase the 
ability to reproduce in a woman. Theoretically, that could be 
a vitamin, if a patient is low in vitamins and the physician 
thinks she needs more vitamins. It could be thyroid medication 
if the patient is thought to be hypothyroid, and therefore 
unable to conceive. So, it is an extremely wide definition. 

In practical terms, there are three or four fertility 
drugs which are clomiphene citrate, human menopausal 
gonadatropins, perhaps GNRH, which is a gonadatropin releasing 
factor, and pure FSH. If we talk about infertility drugs, 
these are the drugs in question. 

Now, the implications of what is explained in the bill 
do not apply to all infertility drugs in general, so it is not 
correct to talk about overstimulation, except for certain 
specific drugs. One of the listed implications which I, as a 
physician, would have to address is a patient with a potential 
drop in blood pressure. I have never seen it in over thousands 
of treatments. I don't think it is a realistic risk which the 
patient should be concerned about. 

Multiple births is a very well-known side effect of 
the specific fertility drugs. Probably every patient today 
knows about it. We certainly do address this issue very 
specifically. We not only talk about this, but we have to put 
it in perspective, because the risk is different for different 

medications. 

One reference is to the fact that 

can lead to an inabi 1 i ty to reproduce. I 

difficulty discussing this with a patient, 

don't know what the reference is to. I 
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experienced that in over several thousand treatments, and I 

don't think this is a realistic risk. I could, of course, say 

that pregnancy sometimes ends in cesarean section, where also 

the uterus has to be removed and then, of course, a patient 

cannot get pregnant any more. 

My feeling is that there are enough regulations, laws, 

and statutes on the board. If a physician does not properly 

counsel the patient, the patient today can take appropriate 

action against that physician. I don't really think the law 

helps the patient or the physician further. 

Regarding Assembly Bill 3036 -- and this applies to a 

number of other bi 11 s, too -- the terminology of donor-- In 

this and other proposals, the terminology of donor is very 

wide, and would include a person whose sperm are used in the 

wife. That is contrary, perhaps, to common medical terminology 

or usage of donor. If we talk about a donor, it is implied 

that this is a person outside the marriage. Donor sperm are 

f ram men -- from third parties. From this angle, then, using 

the donor terminology on the couple, or on the woman even 

herself, if her own oocytes are used-- I think some problems 

arise, because I don't think there is a contract necessary 

between husband and wife when their own gametes are needed. It 

may be very different if other outside parties are involved. 

Also in Assembly Bill 3036, one thing I want to point 

out in section 5 is, "The prospective parents of the ernbryo or 

frozen embryo shall have all rights to the embryo." I don't 

know whether that means the embryo has no rights. I don't want 

to comment on that further, but it is something that I wanted 

to point out. 

Assembly Bill 3037: That is the act concerning 

artificial insemination. Artificial insemination has become a 

very important treatment for couples when male infertility is 

involved. In probably most of these situations, adoption is 

the only alternative. There are not.many other ways to go. 
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The definition of artificial insemination, again, does 
not distinguish between husband's sperm and medical donor 
outside sperm. So, _if you look ,at_ it first~from--a- husband's 
point of view, when a husband's sperm are used, ·it becomes very 
intrusive. It is not a help to the couple, and is probably not 
what may be intended. If I would be a husband in this 
situation, and my sperm would be used on my wife, what the bill 
would ask me, first of all, would be for my records to be sent 
to the Department of Health. As a husband, I would object to 
that. It would request that I would, apparently prior to each 
insemination, undergo testing for sexually transmitted disease 
and, in my specific case, I have myopia, so I have a genetic 
defect, and I would not be allowed to inseminate my wife. 

So, I think you might perhaps consider uncoupling the 
husband's insemination issue from it, because I am not aware 
that there is any regulation currently around to regulate it, 
and I am not sure it is necessary. 

Now, if we talk about donor semen from another party, 
I think that is a very important issue to regulate to create 
stability. In the interest of time, I will refer to my 
colleague later, Dr. Bohrer, who handles the program in our 
institution, and who will discuss that very specifically. 

Assembly Bi 11 3038: We are not doing surrogating. I 
will not repeat the issues which have already been very well 
brought to your attention. I just want to let you know that 
this is not being done at our institution. 

ASSEMBLYMA..'I\J KERN: What about other institutions? 
DR. KEMMANN: I am not aware-- I can't say about 

certain perhaps private physicians' offices, but I am not aware 
that any State institution is invo 1 ved. The only comment I 
have is, I think it is primarily a contractual issue of human 
relations. It actually could be done without a physician. It 
is not a breakthrough in medical technology. 
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Assembly Bill 3040: It indicates that a physician has 

to tell patients about the availability of procedures to store 

the patient's reproductive cells for future use. Now, that is 

not really available. There are no current methods to store 

patients'-- female patients' -- oocytes. It would be nice if 

that were available, but it is not available. Well, they can 

be stored, but I am not aware that a pregnancy has ever 

resulted. Let me be more precise about that. Obviously, you 

can store it, but I am not aware that it has worked 

subsequently. 
Sperm cells, of course, can be stored. I am aware of 

only one study done several years ago in California, where they 

looked at how successful that was as a policy. It turned out, 

if I am correct-- The magnitude was that in about 10% of the 

males, or less than 10%, down the road a pregnancy was achieved 

with those frozen sperm. So, it is not a very good method. It 

perhaps can raise some false hopes or induce the male to 

undergo a sterilization hoping that pregnancy can be achieved 

later, when actually the chance of that is very s 1 im. In 

addition, I am quite sure that there is significant cost 

involved in the continued storing of this. 

I would be glad to answer any questions you might have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Assemblyman Thompson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Doctor, what causes blindness 

in a woman giving birth? To your knowledge, have there been 

any cases where artificial insemination has caused blindness in 

childbirth? 
DR. KEMMANN: Whether use of a fertility drug has 

caused blindness? 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: First of all, to your 

knowledge, what causes blindness to a woman in childbirth? 

DR. KEMMANN: Well, the first thought I would have is 

when a woman might go into a hypertensive crisis, perhaps due 

to a preeklampsia complication of. late childbirth or labor. 
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That could perhaps lead to the rupture of a vessel and it could 
bleed in the eye. So, I would think about that. I don't think 

·,blindness occurring at 

connection to the use 

labor in late pregnancy has 
of fertility drugs per se. 

any 

An 
explanation might be diabetes which becomes recognized or more 
active during pregnancy. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: One more question: With 
reference to artificial insemination, how close-- Let me 

artificial rephrase that question. With reference 
insemination, is that a step toward cloning? 
to the concept of cloning? 

DR. KEMMANN: With artificial 

to 

How close is that 

insemination, we 
distinguish two types. One is using the husband's sperm, and 
one is using-- If the husband has no sperm, or sperm which are 
not expected to achieve fertilization, then we use donor's 
sperm. Artificial insemination was done first in medicine 
about 100 years ago, by Dr. Sims in New York. It really means 
that the sperm are placed into the cervix or the vagina or the 
uterus, and now sometimes into the peritoneal cavity. But then 
fertilization and pregnancy will occur in the natural way. So, 
it only refers to the fact that intercourse does not take 
place, and that a sperm specimen is applied, usually into the 
cervix, to allow the migration, or the growing of the sperm 
toward the egg to fertilize the egg inside. It is not a 
high-tech technology. It has been done for decades. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: What I really want to ask you 
is, is human cloning possible? 

DR, KEMMA.NN: Cloning 
that anybody has done it or 

is possible. 

shown it. I 

I am not aware 

am not aware of 
anybody working in that direction in this country. I think it 
might be possible just theoretically. I think the potential 
reality is still considerably distant. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: It's illegal in this country, 
though, isn't it? 
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DR. KEMMANN: I wouldn't know that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Are there any other questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much, Doctor. 

DR. KEMMANN: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I would like to call upon Dr. 

Michael Bohrer. 

DR. MICH A EL BOHRER: Good afternoon. I would 

like to thank you all for the opportunity to come here to speak 

to you. As the Director of the Donor Insemination Program at 

the Robert Wood Johnson Medical School and the Robert Wood 

Johnson University Hospital, I have a considerable amount of 

contact with both the donors, as wel 1 as couples who come in 

for artificial insemination. So, I would like to give you some 

of my views on Assembly Bill 3037, which was proposed by 

Assemblyman Kern. 

One of the things that Dr. Kemmann certainly brought 

up was that there isn't a clear distinction in the bill between 

husband and stranger -- anonymous donors. So, clearly there 

are a number of things in the bill which were geared mostly 

toward anonymous donors, which really do not apply well to the 

husband donor. Some of those have already been mentioned. 

I also wanted to mention not only the fact that he 

would be required to undergo testing -- extensive testing -­

each time he did a sperm donation, but certainly reiterate the 

point that the general statement, "a known genetic disease or 

defect" would eliminate someone as being a donor -- would, 

indeed, inhibit some of our husbands from being donors for 

their own wives. I don't think it was your intention to wipe 

out genetic illnesses in our time by this law. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: No, not at all. I think it is 

something we can cure very easily by amendment. 

DR. BOHRER: With respect to unknown donors, or 

anonymous donors, to this date that is the way they have been; 
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they have been anonymous donors. It does disturb me a little 
bit -- wel 1, more than a 1 i ttle bit -- that records of al 1 
semen donors should- -then be supplied -to the Health Department. 
What bothers me about this is that these records then can be 
disclosed to any practitioner. A practitioner is anybody who 
is capable of doing artificial insemination. Many of our 
donors are medical students. Many of our donors are 
physicians. They know other medical practitioners. They, 
themselves, will be physicians and will have access to files -­
their own files, as well as files from other donors; people who 
they probably weren't aware were donors; people who may not 
have wanted them to be aware that they were donors as wel 1. 
So, it is no longer a completely anonymous donor. Suddenly, 
people within their own community can become aware that they 
are involved in this process. I think that would inhibit a 
great many of our donors from volunteering as donors, if they 
know these records could be obtained by friends or relatives of 
theirs. 

I also wanted to point out that I agree that donors 
should be screened before being used. We go through an 
extensive screening process with each one of our donors before 
permitting them into the program. Fifty percent of the 
potential donors I see are never allowed to donate a specimen 
for our patients. That is because I do have very stringent 
criteria as to previous exposure to illnesses, as well as 
genetic criteria, by which I protect my patients. 

I think that is probably what you are trying to go for 
here with this idea that no donor who has a known genetic 
disease or defect should be allowed to donate. But, the 
vagueness of the term "defect," certainly would mean that even 
I may not be strict enough for you. To what extent is 
something a defect? What you think is a defect, and what I 
think is a defect, may not be the same thing. Is a big nose a 
defect? I don't know. I don't think so; I have one. Are flat 
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feet a serious defect? Is that something we need to eliminate 

a donor for? 

..... -, .-,._o, - Certainly I am screening for serious genetic illnesses 

-- birth- defects, spina bifida. These kinds of individuals are 

a much increased risk for having offspring who have these 

afflictions as well. - I think they should be eliminated as 

being donors. I am not only concerned about the couples who 

are my patients, but, yes, their unborn offspring are my 

patients as wel 1. They are who I am trying to protect in my 

screening procedures. So, I really screen fairly significantly. 

I also screen for sexually transmitted diseases. The 

term "sexually transmitted diseases" is kind of vague. It also 

opens the question, how often is it appropriate to screen for 

sexually transmitted diseases? Is once a year appropriate? Is 

once a week appropriate? Is each insemination appropriate? 

What is the appropriate amount? Well, when looking at sexually 

transmitted diseases, we look at things such as AIDS, 

hepatitis, syphilis -- things, again, which can be transmitted 

through the sperm, or through the sperm specimen. 

These diseases take a while before their tests turn 

positive. In AIDS, an AIDS victim can be exposed to the virus, 

but it may take up to two months before his blood test turns 

positive. With hepatitis, there is an equally long incubation 

period. The same is true with syphilis. It may take a while 

before the blood tests turn positive after an exposure to 

syphilis. These people are still contagious, so the questions 

is: Is once a week a bit too much? I think that once a week 

is probably quite a bit too much, in that you are not really 

achieving what we are going after. What we are trying to 

achieve here is a safe insemination. In this case, once a week 

is being excessive, and not really achieving our goal; not 

guaranteeing us that we have a safe insemination, because it is 

possible that the donor could have been exposed, is incubating 

the virus, and it is still not showing on his blood test. So, 
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this becomes excessive at once a week. It becomes very costly 
at once a week. And the question is: Who is going to pay for 
all of A:his?.. We are already in an·age when we are trying to 
aim - for- cost containment in medicine. This does just the 
opposite. It encourages us to do a lot of unnecessary testing 
that is probably not going to be helpful. 

Now, what else about this? It means that our donors 
will need to come in once a week to be tested as well. Blood 
tests are one thing, but there are other sexually transmitted 
diseases. What about gonorrhea? What about chlamydia? If you 
really want to test for gonorrhea and chlamydia, you have to do 
urethral cultures. If you were a potential donor, would you 
come in once a week to have a urethral culture taken? The 
donors are not reimbursed that much money. They are reimbursed 
for their trouble. I do my inseminations first thing in the 
morning, which means that they have to get up early in the 
morning, produce a fresh specimen, bring it into the hospital, 
and then go about their regular activities. This all has to 
occur before eight o'clock in the morning. For all of this, 
including what they have to pay for parking at the hospital, 
they get reimbursed $40. No one is going to get rich from that 
kind of money. 

So, you 
to get urethra 1 

donors right out 

can see that having them come in once a week 
cultures, probably could test a lot of our 

of circulation. We do have to be careful 
about being excessive in our surveillance. 

I am also a little bit concerned about records. I 
mentioned also that not only are the records released, but 
after successful conception by a woman through an artificial 
insemination procedure, the donor's records have to go to the 
Department of Health. There really is not a statement there as 
to what happens to those records. Are they kept confidential? 
Are they open to the public so that anybody can request them? 
Is it just physicians who can request these records, and under 
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what circumstances should we try to request these records? Are 

there any limitations as to what is a good reason and what is a 

bad reason to request these records? Is cu;iosity as to the 

name of the donor and what he looks like-- Is that an adequate 

reason to request these records? Who is going to make that 

decision as to who gets these records? Suddenly a donor, once 

he becomes successful, no longer remains ~nonymous. 

Now, the other thing I am concerned about is, if these 

records remain on file and they become public knowledge, then 

we have not suddenly opened up to the world the knowledge that 

these couples have undergone an artificial insemination, 

regardless of whether it was by donor or by husband. Suddenly 

we have now taken something which is very personal to this 

couple, not only their infertility problem, but also the fact 

that they have now tried to achieve a pregnancy-- Suddenly we 

open this up for public examination. I do not think that is to 

the best interests of our couples. I feel it invades not only 

their privacy, but also, to an extent, it demands that 

physicians have to give up some of that recognized confidence 

between the patient and the physician. No longer is this 

privileged knowledge -- privileged information -- between the 

physician and the couple; it can be given up easily to public 

knowledge. 

It also now takes away-- Becoming public knowledge 

takes away the patient's options. Now, people have talked 

about whether or not to tell the children that they have been 

conceived through artificial insemination, by donor or not. I 

don't think that is our decision to make. I think that is up 

to the couple. If this becomes public knowledge that they had 

a donor insemination, that takes away their option not to tell 

that child. These children grow up not knowing about donor 

insemination. They grow up healthy; they grow up 

well-adjusted; they grow 

problem with not telling 

up very nicely. There 

the children, if that 
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couple is comfortable with. By making it public knowledge, we 
are suddenly taking that right away from them. We are suddenly 

.. dictating to, ,them ·what--cthey should tell-·their· chi-ldren. I do 
not think the government belongs in the sacred relationship of 
the family, to tell parents how they should raise their 
children. 

I also wanted to bring up that it reiterates a law 
which is already on file, that the consent form -- basically a 
consent form -- that documents their consent, as well as that a 
donor insemination was performed, should be kept confidential 
and in a sealed file. I am referring to number nine on page 
two. Now, this is already law in this State. The problem with 
that, again, is that I am not sure what is meant by 
"confidential." Does that just mean that that letter is not 
going to be released to someone who requests to see it? If a 
request to see the letter is denied, by saying, "I'm sorry, you 
can't see that letter," that already establishes that the 
letter exists. That is all that is necessary to establish 
that, yes, they have had a donor insemination. Again, their 
silence has been breached by the fact that this letter is even 
in existence; that this can be received. 

Who is allowed to look into this confidential file? 
Obviously, if we want it on paper and we want it filed away, it 
is because someone might want to look at it someday. 
sure who should be allowed to look into this file. 

I am not 
There is 

certainly -- as far as I can see -- no specifications as to who 
that may be. Should that be their attorney? Should it be just 
the couples, just their physicians, or the donor himself? 
Maybe he says he wants to check to see who his inseminations 
were used for. 

Now, also as far as records being maintained in a 
public place, such as the Department of Health-- That bothers 
me to some extent. You know, I fear that there are some people 
who would like to have these records available, in order so 
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that at some point later in 1 ife they would be able to track 

down a person's donor. I am not sure of the purpose of wanting 

to track down the donor at a later point. Medically, there 

really isn't any good reason to try to track down the donor. 

If the child develops a disease at some point later on, do we 

want to track down his donor to find out whether or not it runs 

in his family? We have already screened the donor; we have 

already asked him that question. That was before he even 

donated his first specimen. He has already gone through an 

extensive family screening, as well as a genetic screening. We 

already know that he doesn't have any illnesses of a genetic 

basis running in his family. So, we don't need to try to find 

him for that information. 

Are we trying to find him to be 

this child, who is not his child legally? 

an organ donor for 

I don't think so. 

He has already donated his semen. How much more do we want to 

ask him to donate? So, I don't know why we need this 

information. We do keep files on these patients. The main 

objective of keeping files on the donors is-- Yes, I do think 

we have to keep track of how many pregnancies each donor has. 

By doing so, and by limiting the number of pregnancies each 

donor has, we the ref ore eliminate the chance that two of his 

offspring will possibly meet, and possibly get married and have 

children of their own. I think that by limiting the number of 

donors, that in and of itself, will limit the possibility of 

that happening, without having to make their identity known to 

these offspring. I think that trying to give them that 

information just makes that a little bit redundant. 

That is really all I wanted to comment on at this time. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Assembly Bill 3037 requires that 

the records kept by the Department of Health be kept 

confidential. That is in the bill. 

DR. BOHRER: Right. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: With respect to -the criteria that 
should be utilized in the screening process, I welcome 
suggestions from you as to what- should be screened ·for, etc. - I 
am sure we can amend the bill to accommodate that. 

DR. BOHRER: One of the things I kind of felt in the 
bill was that it was trying to set up what is good medical 
practice. I am not sure that is really for us here in the 
government -- people in the government -- to tel 1 the medical 
field what is good medical practice. Traditionally, what has 
been determined to be good medical practice has been based on 
sound research and past experience, and articles and guidelines 
that are written. That has already been done. There are 
already guidelines for the medical community. The government 
does not have to worry about what good guidelines are, or 
should they write down and determine what these good guidelines 
are. 

The American Fertility 
these guidelines. I have a copy 
They specifically determine what 
any donor program. 

Society has already written 
of them right in front of me. 
the minimal criteria are for 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Do you want to supply those to the 
Committee? 

DR. BOHRER: Sure, 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: 

I can give you a copy of that. 
I would appreciate it if you would 

do that. Don't you think it is important to keep records, 
though, with respect to donors, in case the progeny may need a 
kidney, or something of that nature? 

DR. BOHRER: No, I don't think we should have to call 
upon our donors. How much can we ask of these people? I am 
not sure it is their place. We have already told them that 
these are not their children, which is right in the same bill. 
They are not the children of the donors, regardless of whether 
the recipients are married or not. Then we are going to go to 
these people and say, "Now I want you to donate a kidney to 
this person"? 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Well, requiring and requesting are 

two different things. 

it is still a lot to ask. I do DR. BOHRER: Well, 

keep track of my donors. I keep my own personal records. What 

it is not that we keep track of the 

don't want them to be public where 
bothers me most 

records; it is 

about 

that I 

another physician e:ould obtain them, and say, "I need a donor 

for my patient. Well, let me call Dr. Bohrer's donors." I 

don't want them being contacted by other heal th care 

professionals. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: We could 1 imi t that. We could do 

that by legislation. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: What if there is a genetic 

deficiency and you don't discover it? Suppose there is a human 

error, and it comes up through the years and there is no 

record? Then what? 

DR. BOHRER: That is entirely possible. That may 

indeed happen. The patients are well counseled about that. I 

sit down with each one of my patients who is about to go 

through artificial insemination, and I very painstakingly go 

through artificial insemination with them. It takes me over an 

hour to do so, so they can understand al 1 of the medical, 

legal, and emotional r ami f icat ions of art if ic ial insemination. 

One of the things that may happen is, at the time of screening 

-- at the time we saw the donor -- he may have had nothing in 

his family history that would be significant. But, just like 

in your family, later on in 1 ife they may al 1 start to get 

diabetes, which prior to that no one in your family had. I am 

not sure what information that would give us -- going back and 

saying to the donor, "By the way, did anyone in your family 

develop diabetes?" just because this child now has diabetes at 

age 14. Does that change anything for that child? It just 

makes us want to try to go back and step into the private life 

of this person, who donated a specimen, and who was trying to 

help infertile couples back 14 yea~s ago. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Go right ahead. 

___ AS.SEMBLYMAN • .. THOMPSON:, -Well, ·fol·lowing up on your 

answer,· I am not a physician, by any means, but it would seem 
that if you had some prior information and some records, you 
certainly could warn persons who were going to get involved in 
this artificial insemination that there was a trace-- Maybe 
the grandmother was a diabetic, or something. 

DR. BOHRER: If they have that history, they are 
eliminated from being a donor. If there is any increased risk 
above the general population that that person is carrying a 
gene that may be detrimental to that child, he is not in the 
donor program; meaning that if he has a grandmother, a 
grandfather, and a father who all developed diabetes, albeit 
late in life, there is clearly a pattern forming in that 
family. Clearly there is something in that family -- not even 
definitely, that can happen by chance alone -- but still, there 
is a good chance that that family is carrying a propensity to 
develop diabetes. That person is eliminated from being a 
donor. They are already getting screened for that. There is 
no way of warning the patient that the child may develop 
diabetes, because no one in the family had diabetes at the time 
of the initial screening. But, five years down the road, three 
people ended up getting diabetes, after the insemination had 
already been done. 

All I can do-- I can't guarantee anything. Just like 
when two people get married, there is no guarantee about what 
kind of children they are going to have. The only thing I can 
do is not increase their risks above the general population -­
above random chance. Even birth defects-- No matter how hard 
you screen, everybody has some genetic defects in their genes 
that amass by the fact that you have a (indiscernible) of 
normal genes. There is no way of tel ling if these genes may 
actually somehow mix with the recipient's genes, and this could 
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end up with a birth defect, even without any prior history in 

that donor's family. In fact, if you look at people who have 

birth defects; and go to their families, many of them don't 

have any prior history of that in the family. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Are you 

Shockley in California, 

genetic doctor? 

DR. BOHRER: Yes. 

a controversial 

familiar with 

I guess he 

Dr. 

is a 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Are you familiar with the fact 

that he runs a private clinic in California dealing with 

artificial insemination? 

DR. BOHRER: Yes. He has a program which has been a 

Nobel Prize program. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Yeah. He only accepts donors 

who have a certain high I.Q. -- medically know as Mensa -- and 

he doesn't accept blacks or Jews. Are you familiar with this? 

DR. BOHRER: Yes , I am. I am not saying that with 

artificial insemination. Of course, with everything that goes 

on, there is going to be a certain fringe element, and that is 

where I like to put him. Respectable, normal insemination 

programs do not follow the precepts of Dr. Shockley. Yes, we 

do try to find donors-- I am not going to take donors who have 

below average intel 1 igence. Clearly that is a defect; clearly 

that is something I need to protect the offspring against. But 

I am not going out and soliciting only the cream of the crop, 

and discriminating by race, creed, beliefs, unless there is 

some reason to think that these would be medically harmful. 

There are certain things that are medically harmful. 

You may have very intelligent people who may be schizophrenic. 

All right? Schizophrenia is, to some extent, genetically 

involved. Clearly these people are eliminated from being 

donors, I don't care how smart they are, or how many other 

redeeming values they may have. Schizophrenia is-- It is hard 

to redeem that as a donor. So, I don't think you need to be 
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afraid that people are going to follow suit with Dr. Shockley. 
I mean, artificial insemination has been going on since the 
1800s, and people haven't really gone. the -way of Dr.· Shockley 
in 200 years. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 
Probably Dr. Shockley doesn't 

There 
receive 

may be a 
any Federal 

reason. 
or state 

funds and, the ref ore, cannot be sued on those grounds, but I 
still think his concept is strange. 

DR. BOHRER: His concept is strange. 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: The more we listen to this, 

although it isn't cloning, it seems to me that we are creeping 
closer and closer to the "Boys of Brazil" and that whole German 
concept. 

DR. BOHRER: There is a tremendous difference between 
artificial insemination and cloning. With normal intercourse 
-- everybody has a mixture of genes -- you give up half of that 
mixture of genes to your offspring. Okay? The way that 
mixture is distributed is randomly, which makes for extreme 
diversity among us all. That is why we all look so different. 
Even offspring from the same donor, not even considering they 
are going to end up having different mothers, but even from the 
same mother-- I am sure we have all seen couples with more 
than one child, where the children don't look anything 1 ike 
each other. That is because of this random assortment of 
genes. There are no guarantees. You can take the smartest, 
most handsome donor you can find, but there are no guarantees 
as to what that offspring is going to look like, which is very 
different from cloning. 

Cloning is not being done in this country with human 
beings. But if it could be done -- if it could be possible at 
some point -- the difference is that you would take the entire 
genetic make-up from a single individual, place it into an egg, 
and then get that egg to develop into another individual. 
Basically, it is 1 ike having an identical twin at that point, 
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and you could make multiple, multiple identical twins, which is 

basically like a "Brave New World" type of situation, where 

they make one just 1 ike the next, each one being exactly.· the 

same genetically, eliminating variation from one to the next. 

Artificial insemination by donor is quite different. 

There is a mix of genes from both the donor and the mother, and 

there is a random assortment of the donor's genes to each one 

of the offspring. 

public gene pool, 

"Brave New World." 

So, it ensures a variety of genes in the 

so we are not getting anywhere near the 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: I would 1 ike to ask you just 

one more question, through you, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Go right ahead. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: With reference to your clinic, 

are the recipients told the racial and ethnic background of the 

donor? 

DR. BOHRER: Yeah. One of the things is that each one 

of the donors is matched very specifically to the couples. 

They are matched on the basis of blood type, hair color, eye 

color, body build -- which is height and weight -- and even 

ethnic background, to some extent. So, recipients -- okay? -­

can state that they want any type of criteria for their donor 

at all. If they want their donor to be of a specific ethnic 

background, then I wi 11 only use a donor within that specific 

ethnic background. So, that information is supplied to the 

couples. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: What about race? 

DR. BOHRER: With race, I will only use-- Yes, the 

race is supplied to the couples. I will use whatever race 

donor they request, meaning that if I have a black couple, and 

they request a black donor, then I use a black donor. If I 

have a white couple who wants a black donor, I will use a black 

donor. I don't have any problems with that. They have to be 

comfortable. Most of the time, the only place where that 
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becomes an issue is if I have a mixed couple, where one is 
black and one is white. There they will usually request one or 
the other. Most everyone else requests whatever their own race 
is. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Do you receive any Federal or 
State funds for your project? 

DR. BOHRER: Being part of the Medical School, I would 
imagine that there are some funds that go directly to fund our 
Division. I am sure that most of my salary comes from UMDNJ, 
so it is a State check. Yes, I guess I do get some funds, but 
basically the program itself is not controlled by that. It is 
a fairly self-sufficient program. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: No more questions, thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KER.~: Doctor, I would appreciate it very 

much, on behalf of the sponsor, if you would supply those 
criteria and, also, what you categorize as defects. That might 
be very helpful. 

DR. BOHRER: Okay. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you very much. 
DR. BOHRER: Thank you very much. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 
response} Thank you, Doctor. Dr. Cecilia Schmidt? 
D R. C E C I L I A S C H M I D T: My name is Cecilia 
Schmidt. I am Assistant Professor at UMDNJ, NJMS, at Newark, 
sister school of Robert Wood Johnson. I am the Director of 
Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility. I am also the 
Director of the In Vitro Program. 

First of all, I would like to comment right now on the 
bill which Dr. Bohrer just commented on, by saying that that 
was an excellent presentation of my feelings, and I echo 
exactly what he said. I have nothing more to add to that. 

With respect to Assembly Bill 3035, Dr. Kemmann dealt 
with the problems inherent in this bill in an appropriate 
manner. It seems to lack physician input, because these 
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fertility drugs are, as Dr. Kemmann pointed out, truly a mixed 

bag, and the specific complications -- potential complications 

-- that are listed here do not truly exist. If this bill is to 

get any further, it needs a significant amount of physician 

input. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Do you think you can give that to 

us? 

DR. SCHMIDT: The bi 11 would certainly not be this 

long; it would be much longer. It would also take away from 

the physician the fact that we are going over, with the 

patient, informed consent, on an individual basis, because even 

the drug that is being used has to be tailored to the patient, 

since her complications may be different, depending upon her 

individual characteristics. For instance, a patient who is 

being treated with Pergonal, who is known to make huge ovarian 

cysts on Clomid, wi 11 be more 1 ikely to make more cysts. So, 

her complication rate is going to be different from another 

patient's. It really entails the informed consent on an 

individual physician basis, but if you want more input, I would 

be happy to give· it. 

ASSEMBLW~.N KERN: Good. I would appreciate it if you 

could do that for us. 

DR. SCHMIDT: Okay. With respect to Assembly Bi 11 

3036, we were talking about in vitro and in vivo fertilization 

at the same time, specifically pointing to the fact that a 

patient is allowed to give or sell her ova with either of these 

procedures, but the sale of embryos is specifically 

prohibited. Well, with in vivo fertilization, this means that 

the patient is ovulating herself, and is passing her own egg. 

Her egg then drops into the uterus after being fertilized. So, 

at that point, the retrieval of that is really an embryo. If 

she then gives it away, she is, in fact, giving away, or 

selling, an embryo. So, it is still contradictory. Again, it 

lacks physician input. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: 
limitation. 

Probably there should be a time 

DR. SCHMIDT: Well, no, there is no such thing as 
retrieval from an in vivo fertilization that is involved in 
ova, because an ova only exists in the fallopian tube, and it 
is retrieved from the uterus, at which time it has been 
fertilized. Otherwise, if you are taking out an ova-- _Nobody 
has been doing that, because it is not retrievable, and it is 
past the age of fertilization. So, it would be a useless cell 
to have. 

The other thing is some of the terminology, such as 
"in vitro fertilization in a petri dish." That does not 
necessarily occur. Petri dishes may not be used, such culture 
tubes maybe. As Dr. Kemmann said, there is no way at present 
to freeze with the thought of retrieving an ova later on. 

Assembly Bi 11 3037: Dr. Bohrer did a nice job of 
treating that. The only thing I would like to add to his 
treatment is, many of us have moved to use frozen semen as a 
way of better protecting against the AIDS virus. What you can 
do in that case is screen a donor, take possibly 10 or 20 
samples, freezing those, and not using any of them until three 
to four months later, when you have had an opportunity to 
rescreen the donor, and then take out of quarantine the 
previous samples. At this point, that gives the patient the 
best method of avoiding AIDS. It has not quite become the 
standard of care because of the fact that fertilization with 
frozen sperm may be at a lower rate than with fresh sperm. 

The surrogate mother issue addressed in Asse~~ly Bill 
3038 is certainly a complex issue. At this point, we have very 
little data to go on. The only model that is close to this is 
the adoptive system. I think there are probably less than 500 
babies born of this process at this point, so it is really 
going to require a lot of input and a lot of study. I would 
rather leave that bill untouched at this point. 
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In Assembly Bill 3039, we are again talking about in 

vitro fertilization, but this time with informed consent. The 

consents that most of us have with -in vitro f erti li,zation -are 

approximately six or seven pages long, dealing with all of the 

possible complications. The procedure itself is not a single 

procedure. There are several different ways of getting eggs 

out. One involves an abdominal approach, which has r~sks that 

are different from an ultrasound approach, which would simply 

mean that you would put a needle through either the abdomen or 

the vagina, under the guidance of a sinography. So, there are 

different possible complications. 

This seems to be provided for in the individual 

programs, so if this is going to be acted upon, it is going to 

have to entail a lot more details than are goinJ on now. 

The sterilization bill also suffers the same as saving 

ova. At this point, it is not possible to save ova, and it 

would really not be necessary to save ova. If you do a 

sterilization procedure on a patient, namely if you are able to 

tie her tube -- to ligate her tube, rather -- the reversal 

possibility on that is about 80%, if she changes her mind later 

on. Furthermore, she would st i 11 be able to undergo in vitro 

fertilization, because we would still have access to her eggs 

in the same manner that we have access to anyone's eggs. To 

obtain eggs from a patient is not a simple procedure, in the 

sense that it takes about two weeks to develop those eggs 

beforehand, so you would be going from a tubal ligation, which 

can be a simple day procedure in surgery, to one that would 

take up two weeks of the patient's time. Even more than that, 

if a patient wants her eggs saved, she is entering into a 

sterilization procedure which really should be thought of as 

permanent not with her mind totally settled. She is saying, "I 

will have the sterilization procedure, but I know those eggs 

are sitting there, and if I really want to become pregnant I 

can." That is not a good way to approach a sterilization 

procedure, because it gives false hopes. 
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Right now, with embryos, which we are able to freeze, 

we are able to thaw only between 50% and 70% of them. So there 

. _ is at . least a 20% to 50% chance of not getting embryos back out 

of the freezer. It is an unrealistic hope at the present time. 

I would be happy to answer any questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Yes, Assemblyman Thompson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: I have one question, Doctor. 

What we are attempting to do in the legislation is be 

consistent. We are not good at it all the time, but sometimes 

we are. I am quite sure that as a physician you are familiar 

with the Karen Ann Quinlan case. 

DR. SCHMIDT: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: We attempted to come up with 

some legislation to deal with that. We worked on it, I 

imagine, for a period of two years, dealing with the living 

will and the question of, where a person is dying of a terminal 

illness, that person has a right for this document to be 

effective. In that process, there was a revocation clause. In 

that process, it could be the eleventh hour, and if the testate 

said, "I changed my mind," they couldn't pull the cord. 

I use that in trying to go back to some questions that 

were asked earlier by several members of the panel, and that 

were also brought up by some of the people who testified. Do 

you think the medical doctrine of informed consent should be 

applicable to a woman's decision to become a surrogate? If so, 

what would constitute an informed consent in that context? 

And, most important, what if the woman later changes her mind 

about custody of the child? 

DR. SCHMIDT: Wel 1, at UMDNJ at Newark al so, we have 

not done surrogate mothers as a State institution, so I do not 

have any firsthand experience with this. But, the major point 

of that consent would seem to be that this patient is going to 

give away a baby who has been born of her own ova. As far as 

she is concerned, this baby will be as much a baby to her as 
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she has experienced before, other than having her husband's 

sperm. She will go through the same process. If it is a woman 

who has given birth before, she will at least have an idea of 

what that is 1 ike. If she decides that that is what she wants 

to do, then that would be fine. But, to make that decision 

before she is pregnant, when her hormone levels are totally 

different, and her feelings may be totally different, her 

attachment to a fetus that she has not experienced before may 

be different in the pregnant state, and this really can't be 

answered before she is pregnant. 

So, it would seem that the consent could start before 

she was pregnant, but not be finalized until afterward; again, 

using adoption as a model, since we have no other model. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Do you think she should have a 

right to change her mind? 

DR. SCHMIDT: I personally think she should have the 

right to change her mind, again following the adoption process. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much. Kathryn Quick? 

K A T H R Y N Q U I C K: Mr. Chairman and members of the 

Committee: My name is Kathryn Quick. I am not a la-wyer; I am 

not a doctor; I am an infertile woman. Five years ago, with my 

blessings, my husband boarded a plane to the West Coast with 

the sole purpose of getting another woman pregnant. On May 30, 

1983, our beautiful Gerard was born to our surrogate mother. 

Now, Gerard was the end product of many years of 

dreaming and trying and fa i 1 ing. I have had sever a 1 

operations, one of which was an eight-hour, delicate, 

microsurgical procedure, only to be told after each one -chat 

nothing was changed, I was still infertile. My husband and I 

spent 18 months in an in vitro fertilization program, where a 

total of 15 embryos were transferred to my body in four 

different attempts to become pregnant. They al 1 failed. My 
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husband and I have been poked and probed and prodded, injected, 
and studied, with no success. 

,..,_;; ,.Surrogacy was our final hope of increasing our family, 
and we have gotten more than we could ever hope for with our 
son. I - have heard many arguments today about this wonderful 
concept, and most of them were against it. I cannot agree with 
any one of them. Surrogate mothers are special w~men, who give 
the most precious gift any human can give another: human -- the 
gift of life -- by giving a part of themselves. They are 
totally unselfish, mature, wholesome, g1 v1ng, and mainly they 
know that once they agree to help an infertile couple fulfill 
their dream, there should be no turning back, and that is for 
the sake of the child. 

They have been accused of baby selling; we have been 
accused of baby buying. This is not so. Any money agreed upon 
is not payment for the child, but rather payment for a service 
that cannot be performed by the infertile woman. Men can sell 
their sperm; why shouldn't women be able to contract to aid in 
the conception and care for the developing fetus until the 
birth? Money is a rational reason to become surrogate mother, 
but with the surrogate mothers I know, it is not the only 
reason to become one. 

I have heard arguments saying that surrogates are not 
rich; there are no rich surrogates. My surrogate is upper 
middle class. She is very well off. She and her husband own 
two homes, three cars, and property. They did not need our 
money, but we contracted with them and gave them this money to 
compensate her for the time she lost from her job while bearing 
our child. I have heard arguments that said surrogate 
motherhood is akin to slavery. This woman contracts by choice, 
not by force. She is well-aware of what she is about to do, 
and many times has the advice of counsel. Many would have us 
believe that surrogate mothers are shanghaied, locked away for 
nine months, and then discarded. Quite the contrary. The 
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surrogate mothers I know are-cared for and cared about, before, 

after, and during the pregnancy. 

- . -Those O opposed· to surrogate' motherhood stand 

maternal bonding. They feel that the child belongs 

behind 

to the 

mother because the baby is carried within her body for nine 

months. Should the mother own this child, or. can this child 

have a father who cares for the baby, even th_ough it was not 

carried below his heart for nine months, but inside his heart 

for those nine months. 

There has been a position taken that surrogacy takes 

conception out of the sanctity of the marriage contract. Quite 

the opposite. It is the marriage contract itself that gives 

the couple the desire to have the child, the stamina to 

investigate all of the options, and 

surrogate motherhood and see it through 

I have been told to adopt or 

the courage to 

to its final joy. 

to get a foster 

choose 

child. 

Well, adoption is not that easy, and foster children can be 

taken away. I also felt very strongly that if my husband could 

have a child of his own bloodline and his own heritage, we must 

try that option. 

But, surrogacy does need strong regulations, so that 

the concept is not misused. Both the couple and the surrogate 

mother must be protected. The surrogate mother must know that 

once she enters the contract there is no turning back. If the 

laws are strong and the contracts enforced, there will be less 

women entering surrogate contracts who are uncertain about 

relinquishing the child. They need counseling; they need 

evaluation and medical and psychological testing, to make sure 

they are not taking unnecessary steps. 

Let me remind this panel that Mrs. Whitehead was 

turned down by one surrogate mother program and actively sought 

out another. I believe that once a woman has been turned down, 

she should not be allowed to enter another program, just so 

there will be no more Baby M children. 
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The couple must feel confident in knowing the child is 
theirs. After all, this child would not have been conceived if 
it had not been for the initiation on the part of ,the infertile 
couple. But they must also realize that this child- is theirs, 
no matter what the mental or physical condition of this child 
is at birth. Would Mrs. Whitehead have fought for this child 
if Melissa were any less than perfect, or wo~ld the Sterns have 
fought for this child if she were any less than perfect? I 
don't think so. 

The surrogate mother must be protected in the event of 
miscarriage or stillbirth. Our contract provided for four 
payments to our surrogate mother -- equal parts, one at the 
beginning of each trimester -- to cover her service through 
that trimester. If she had miscarried our son, the money she 
had received would have been kept by her, and the contract 
terminated. If our son had been a stillborn baby, the full 
contract would have been paid to her. 

We do need the agencies to search and screen and have 
laws to protect all the people involved. I urge this Committee 
not to brush this issue away by making this concept illegal. I 
commend this Committee for having the courage to face the 
future, with all of its technology. Please do not brand the 
children of surrogacy as a product of an illegal act, to have 
their origins hidden away and spoken about in the shadow of 
whispers. Let's help them to be conceived, and greet them when 
they are born as the modern generation of brave new children, 
the product of a very special type of love. 

Thank you. Are there any questions? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you very much. Any questions? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: I have a question. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Asserr~lyman Shusted? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: If I may be presumptuous, may I 
ask you how much you paid? 
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MS. QUICK: Our surrogate mother contract was 

$17,500. It was a private contract, not through an agency. It 

_ was a private contract between the two families. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: You mentioned also that you know 

many surrogate mothers. How many do you know? 

MS. QUICK: I am closely related with Dr. Betsy Agen 

(phonetic spelling), who runs a surrogate mother clinic in New 

York. She has done a study on about 200 surrogate mothers. 

She and I worked together with these mothers, doing counseling--

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: So, you personally know--

MS. QUICK: --and a support group. Yes, I have sent 

many women to her agency also. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: Have any of those women you know 

had any repercussions after surrendering their children? 

MS. QUICK: None that I know of, sir, but I know there 

are some that do exist. I read about some in the media. I 

follow these cases closely. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) I think you have given us some very valuable input, 

and I very much a pp rec iate your coming forward. I know it is 

not easy, but I think you have done a lot to enlighten us, 

enabling us to see the other side of the issue. Thank you. 

present) 

T. PA 

MS. QUICK: Thank you very much. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Mary Strong? (Ms. Strong not 

Mary Strong isn't here? 

TR IC K HILL: She asked me to stand in for her. 

ASSEMBLYMP-...N KERN: All right. You're Patrick Hill? 

MR. HILL: Yes. I want to thank you very much for 

this opportunity. I am representing the Citizens' Committee on 

Biomedical Ethics, which is a grass-roots movement set up in 

New Jersey in 1983, with two specific purposes: One, to 

provide public forums throughout the State, by means of which 

the general public could become engaged in a discussion of the 
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medical ethical issues that confront us, particularly in the 
latter part of this century, and secondly, to conduct a 
statewide survey~of public opinion oh a range of these issues, 
including things like the use of living wills, the treatment of 
the terminally ill, the whole issue of the right to refuse 
treatment, the question of organ transplantation, and the 
issues related to the cost and the payment of medical care. 

It is a coincidence that earlier this morning, the 
Citizens' Committee conducted a press conference in this 
building, during which we made public our preliminary findings 
on these issues. I will merely quote from one of the 
preliminary observations that I think may be of interest to 
your Committee: "The general conclusion is that Americans are 
thought of as pragmatists, not ideologues. This study, even 
among the partially self-selected group of interested people, 
bears out this generalization. The common theme throughout the 
results is that while arguments about issues in biomedical 
ethics often tend to be dominated by those with strongly held 
feelings, often representing extreme polar positions, the 
majority hold much more complex and" -- this is significant 
"centrist views." 

One example of this that came through in our survey, 
which represented the findings of respondents numbering 1251-­
There was an overwhelming majority of support, for example, for 
the concept of living wills, and allowing the inclusion of 
instruction about heroic measures to keep someone on 
respirators or artificial means of support, this in the course 
of -- that is, in the form of a living will, but only half of 
that same number actually felt that the use of living wills 
should be allowed to include instructions on such things as 
withholding artificial food and hydration. 

What I think emerges and this is the interesting 
question for policymakers in these issues -- is that generally 
the question must be where is the middle ground, rather than 
which polar position is preferred. 
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One of the other significant things that came through 

in our study was that the general public clearly wants guidance 

, ~rom the Legislature, in the sense that they certainly feel the 

need. for parameters to be clearly laid out. However, within 

those parameters, the general public would like to be assured 

that there is room for individual choice. 

One of the other issues that was covered in this 

particular survey, which I think may. indeed be of considerable 

interest to your deliberations, was an extensive section on the 

whole question of confidentiality of records. The findings 

were somewhat complicated, and I would be more than happy to 

leave those with you. 

ASSEMBLYMJI.N KERN: I would appreciate it if you would 

do that. That may be very helpful, since that is an issue that 

has been talked about a lot today. The bills provide for it, 

and there have been comments as to whether or not the 

protections are sufficient. I would appreciate it if you would 

leave that with us. 

MR. HILL: I think finally, again speaking on behalf 

of the Citizens' Committee, which is a nonpartisan group, our 

feeling is -- and this reflects the consensus that we find 

around the State, having conducted some 125 community and 

professional meetings since last April, and will, in fact, be 

continuing until December -- that the public needs time to 

assimilate these very complex issues. They need time to 

reflect on their implications, and they need this time because 

these issues touch each of us and our, not only fundamental 

societal values, but also our personal values intimately. 

Therefore, we would hope that before any kind of 

legislation is, in fact, passed, that systematic efforts will 

be made to engage the public -- this is one of the functions 

that the Citizens' Committee has taken upon itself -- in such a 

comprehensive and deliberate discussion. 

I would be happy to answer any questions, if there are 

any. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any questions? 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: One _question. You mentioned 

living--wi.11s, ·. and I brought- up.that ·.-issue .to a -previous 
witness. -- In a - living will situation, which is a contract 
basically, you have a revocation clause. With reference to the 
issue we are faced with here now dealing with Mrs. Whitehead, 
she entered a contract, but in the ~ecision of the Baby M case, 
she had no right to revoke that c~ntract. In other words, the 
court said, "A contract is a contract is a contract." 

Do you have any suggestions in reference to some type 
of balance that we could possibly reach here, especially since 
in a living will you are dealing with someone who is near the 
end -- someone with a terminal illness -- but who still has the 
power, at the eleventh hour and 4 5 minutes, to say, ''No, don't 
pull the cord"? That protection is in the legislation we 
passed, but in the Baby M case, which was decided by a judge -­
and it is on appeal now -- that type of protection is not 
there. I would like to know if you have any input or some type 
of suggestion on this. 

MR. HILL: I think this is a good example of human 
beings being put in the horns of a dilemma. Obviously, if you 
insert a revocation clause, then one of the consequences will 
be to render the contract unsure from the very beginning. And 
one of the consequences of that, obviously, may be that there 
will be fewer and fewer people willing to enter into these 
contracts. So, one would have to consider if this, in fact, 
would not be to undermine, first of all, the contractual system 
used in this particular situation, but the very procedure of, 
say, surrogate motherhood. 

I think, again, that this is a situation where clearly 
public policies and our ethical positions have been caught off 
guard. It seems to me that we need to-- This is precisely a 
good example of where, in fact, the technology and the medical 
possibilities have, in fact, gone ahead of the public policies 
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-- the ethical expectations. We are presented, in a sense, 

with a fait accompli. It seems to me that we have to ask the 

fundamental question, do we want surrogate motherhood? If we 

do, then we would have to construct contractual provisions 

which would secure the viability of those contracts. But, as I 

said, if, in fact, you introduce a revocation clause, 

particularly in a situation like this, clearly the danger is 

that you will undermine the contract from the very beginning. 

You wi 11 render the parties uncertain, and that could have a 

very serious inhibiting effect on the whole medical process as 

a result. 

What I am saying, I think, is that I do not have a 

direct and clear answer to your question, Assemblyman. 

Thank you. ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other 

response) Thank you very much, Mr. Hi 11. 

that material, I would appreciate it, and 

questions? (no 

If you would leave 

if you have other 

material you want to share with us, please give it to the 

Committee Aide. 

MR. HILL: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Angela Hanlon? 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: She had to leave. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Okay. Professor Richard Kruse? 

p R 0 F E s s 0 R R I C H A R D A. K R u s E: I am 

Richard Kruse. I am a Professor of Social Sciences at 

Fairleigh Dickinson University, and Co-Chairman of the New 

Jersey Citizens Against Surrogate Parenthood. I have provided 

a three-part statement to the Committee. The first part will 

be an analysis of Judge Harvey R. Sorkow's opinion in the Baby 

M case, which is done from the position of my speciality -­

decision analysis. The second will be an analysis of the 

issues of commercial surrogacy agreements; and the third will 

be a pithy comment on Assembly Bill 3038, which you may attack 

in any way you want. I thank the Committee for hearing me. 
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On March 31, 1987, Judge Harvey R. Sorkow issued his 
121-page opinion· in the Baby M case. Sorkow' s decision_ .gave 
custody of the child to William Stern, stripped •-.the . natural 
mother of all parental and visitation rights, and declared the 
surrogate contract legal. This sweeping decision was greeted 
with cries of victory by Noel P. Keane, a Michigan lawyer and 
head of the Infertility Center of New York, and Harilyn Quill, 
a spokeswoman for the newly farmed 61-member National 
Association of Surrogate Mothers. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: If you are going to read your 
statement-- I notice it is seven pages. We have it -- all of 
the Committee members have been given a copy of it -- and we 
will make the statement a part of the formal record, if you 
would like. I know you and I have talked about this issue. 
You gave me some highlights the other day, and perhaps that 
might be very important to put on the record. 

PROFESSOR KRUSE: I have changed a lot of it. If you 
want me to skip the--

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: You have changed the statement then? 
PROFESSOR KRUSE: 

statement on Tuesday. 
Well, I gave you a preliminary 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: 
PROFESSOR KRUSE: 

statement. 

We have your statement today. 
No, I have not changed 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: You have not changed that? 
PROFESSOR KRUSE: No. 

that 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: If you want, we will make it part 
of the record, in the interest of time. I have six more people 
who are listed to testify. If you want to read the statement, 
that's fine, but that may mean that we will have to go another 
day. That's all right, too. But, if you want, we will make 
the statement part of the record, because this hearing is being 
recorded and will be transcribed, instead of reading the 
statement in its entirety. 
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PROFESSOR KRUSE: Well, I will leave that to the 

Committee. I really wanted to put into the record the analysis 

·of· the opinion.,, because 1~-

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Why don't you do that? 

PROFESSOR KRUSE: I have noted that certain Committee 

members have asked questions about the logic of Judge Sorkow 

and his method of arriving at this opinion, and some of the 

things he approved and disapproved. If you want me to omit 

that, I will be happy to do it. It is up to you, you know. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Well, we are not in a position to 

appeal Judge Sorkow's decision. You may be very valid in your 

analysis. 

think it 

I am not going to argue that one way or another. I 

is more important to hear what you think of the 

legislation. I know your organization is opposed to surrogate 

motherhood as a commercial enterprise. Perhaps you can give us 

some enlightenment on that, which I think is a little bit more 

on target to what we are about. 

PROFESSOR KRUSE: Okay. In number one, the analysis 

of the opinion, there is a second part. If I start there, I 

will eliminate most of the things in the interest of time. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: We will make the analysis part of 

the record, but it is not pertinent to our process. It may be 

pertinent for the appeal. I mean, you may want to file that as 

an amicus curie. 

PROFESSOR KRUSE: Let me then turn to page 4. I will 

eliminate that much, thank you, and deal with some of our other 

issues. 

Legal scholars, religious, and political leaders and 

other thinking people differ over whether physical custody of 

the child should go to the Sterns or the Whiteheads. But there 

was virtual unanimity condemning Judge Sorkow's decision to 

declare the contract legal. Prior to the decision, Robert E. 

Gould, a psychotherapist who specializes in child, adolescent, 

and family therapy, stated: "Surrogate mothering should be 
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outlawed. If proliferating middlemen -- lawyers and agents -­
were eliminated, this inherently evil practice would virtually 
grind to a halt." 

Following the decision, Larry I. Palmer -- who is a 
friend of mine -- Professor of Family Law at Cornell University 
Law School, cal led the . contract "fundamentally flawed." He 
compared commercial surr'?gacy to donating bodily organs. "We 
want people to give kidneys, not sell them." He continues: 
"The Federal statute that created the computerized listing of 
donors and patients actually forbids the sale of organs. It 
has a lot to do with the way we view ourselves as a society. 
There are no contracts; no money changes hands. I think having 
children, too, falls outside the scope of a market decision." 
Professor Palmer's remarks direct us to the central issues of 
commercial surrogate parenting and public policy. 

The question of whether we should allow commercial 
surrogate contracts is for you, our legislators, to answer. It 
should not be the province of judge-made law. We elect and 
depose our representatives over issues of this sort. 
Legislatures, when considering the legality of surrogate 
contracts, should consider the experience of other countries, 
religious authorities, and intelligent independent voices. 

Daniel Lazare, writing in The Record on April 8, 1987, 
pointed out that: "Commercial surrogacy is banned in Sweden 
and France, while legislation outlawing such practices is 
expected to be introduced shortly in the Netherlands." It has 
been introduced, by the way. "A British court ruled, just last 
month, that a woman who bore twins for a childless couple had a 
right to change her mind about giving them up. In Strasbourg, 
France, Frits Hondius, Deputy Director of the 21-nation Council 
of Europe, told The Christian Science Monitor that the 
consensus was already strong against surrogate motherhood on a 
commercial basis." 
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Great Britain is years ahead 

least 10 years medically ahead. The 

f erti 1 i--zat-ion, Louise Joy Brown, took 

1984, the famous- - Warnock Committee 

of us 
first 

place 

in this area -- at 

successful in vitro 

there in 1978. In 

Report concluded: "We 

recommend that legislation be introduced to render criminal the 

creation or the operation in the United Kingdom of agencies 

whose purposes include_ the recruitment of women for surrogate 

pregnancies or making arrangements for individuals or couples 

who wish to utilize the services of a carrying mother. Such 

legislation should be wide enough to include both profit- and 

nonprofit-making organizations. We further recommend that the 

legislation be sufficiently wide to render criminally liable 

the actions of professionals and others who knowingly assist in 

the establishment of a surrogate pregnancy." Subsequently, the 

Parliament passed overwhelmingly the Surrogacy Arrangements Act 

of 1985, which forbids, under penalty of fine and 

imprisonment: l) advertisements designed to bring together 

would-be commissioning couples and surrogates; and 2), 

negotiating or making of surrogacy arrangements on a commercial 

basis. I have appended to my opinion that piece of legislation 

from Parliament. The New Jersey Citizens Against Surrogate 

Parenthood suggests this approach to the New Jersey Legislature. 

Disparate voices, such as A. M. Rosenthal, George 

Will, Roger Rosenblatt, and many others, have called Judge 

Sorkow's decision poor judgment and bad law. The Roman 

Catholic Church's "Instruction on Respect for Human Life in Its 

Origin and on the Dignity of Procreation," issued last year, 

opposes surrogate motherhood. Rabbi Joseph Friedman, speaking 

for the Board of Directors of Jews for Morality, an Orthodox 

Jewish group, denounced Judge Sorkow' s decision as, "Unethical, 

an affront to traditional family life, and a violation of the 

dignity and human rights of the surrogate mother." Rabbi 

Friedman added: "The main victim of this baby selling is often 

the baby itself." 

103 



Judge Sorkow's decision omitted the ethical, 
philosophical, or public policy aspects of the problem. This 

· .. ._, is for people and their legislators to consider. Yet 
legislatures, impelled by Judge Sorkow' s lega~ly indefensible 
and aberrant judgment, should not rush to hastily pass laws in 
this area. Existing law, which holds that a woman who bears a 
child is the legal mother until she knowingly gives up her 
legal rights, should meanwhile prevail. Legislative bodies 
should hold paramount the welfare, happiness, and security of 
the yet unborn. What are we to do when a child born of such an 
arrangment is unhealthy and unwanted by the receiving couple? 
Where does that child turn for love, security, and welfare? 
Surely not to the surrogate, who consciously avoided forming a 
loving attachment to the baby. When I was in the Bergen County 
Freeholders Chamber awaiting Judge Sorkow's verdict, one of the 
surrogates present, when asked what her boyfriend thought, 
answered: "My boyfriend said it is 1 ike watching someone's car 
for nine months." That kind of uncaring attitude should not 
prevail. Should the contracting couple be forced to take the 
unwanted child, as in your legislation? Does the unwanted 
child become a ward of the State? It is clear that a 
commercial surrogate contract is not an appropriate way to 
bring a child into the world. 

Upon close examination and with careful deliberation, 
state legislatures should provide legislation that commercial, 
for-profit surrogacy contracts are contrary to public pol icy. 
Such legislation should not only be based upon existing laws 
against the selling of babies, but upon the commercial 
exploitation of both needy women and couples who desperately 
feel the need for a child. Alexander Morgon Capron, who holds 
the Topping Chair of Law, Medicine, and Public Policy at the 
University of Southern California, and is arguably the leading 
expert in family law in the United Sates, has stated: "The 
only clarification needed in the. law is that for-profit 

104 



brokering of surrogate contracts should be seen for the illegal 

and undesirable activity that it is; illegal because of the 

baby selling laws,· and undesirable- because the. financial motive 

wi 11 lead to inadequate screening of surrogates. Not only is 

it unseemly to profit in this way from such a desperately felt 

human need, but also lining up a group of potential surrogates 

for inspection by infertile couples resembles nothing so much 

as the role of a madam displaying her wares in a bordello." He 

is an expert on this contract. 

The real issue lies beyond all legal theories and 

legislative considerations. It is the commercialization and 

depreciation of our basic humanity. The decision to have and 

raise a child is a costly and uneconomic enterprise, which 

violates the self-centered notions of a narcissistic society. 

Such a decision should be entered into in the spirit of loving 

and caring, values which can never be quantified. The urge to 

love and care for a child is one of the best aspects of what it 

is to be human. it is our declaration of hope in the future of 

humankind. The fundamental issue in the Baby M case is, 

therefore, the nature of our humanity, our essence as human 

beings. It is into this area that contracts and commercialism 

should not enter, for when they do we diminish our human status. 

I have appended something I call "A Decalogue of 

Don'ts: Or, What We Find Objectionable in the Kern Bill" -- as 

it now stands, remember, because we had discussions on this. 

1) The bill contains a Machiavellian blend of in 

vitro fertilization and surrogate parenting in a brazen attempt 

to give support to the latter. These are separate questions 

and should be treated separately. I thought you would enjoy 

that, so I wrote it that way for your delectation. 

2) The provision for forced separation of a child 

from its mother by means of a contract is contrary to existing 

law and the experience of all civilized societies which always 

provide a period for the natural mother to change her mind 

before an adoption. 
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3) The bill provides for the legalized exploitation 
of one human being by another, based on the law of supply and 
demand. There is a demand for white .babies,. so--we must· invent 
a method of supplying the demand. · We oppose this 
commercialization of life. 

4) The bill assumes that a human being -- a child 
can be owned and treated like chattel. 

5) The bill operates on the assumption that money and 
social class are paramount in life. We hold that there are 
such things in life as the good, the beautiful, and the true, 
which stand beyond these things. 

6) The bi 11 approves of the idea that the 1 if e of a 
person -- the mother -- and the mind of a child can be put at 
risk because of the desire of a childless couple for a child. 

7) The bill sends a message to children that they, 
too, may be sold. It says to them that we hold money deare: 
than love and devotion. In this sense, it contributes to the 
unhappiness of children and their disrespect of adults and 
authority. 

8) An approved fee structure, presently about $30,000 
in commissions and fees, reduces the procedure to a kind of 
prolonged prostitution. If you cannot rent a woman's body for 
30 minutes, why should you be able to do so for nine months? 

9) Forcing the contracting couple to take a child 
they deem to be physiologically or mentally defective is 
socially unsound and potentially harmful to the innocent child. 

10) Finally, commercial surrogacy, as approved in the 
bill, fosters the existence of an uncaring, insensitive, and 
amoral society. 

I thank you for your time. I will be happy to answer 
any questions you may have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any questions? ( no response) 
Thank you very much, Professor. 

PROFESSOR KRUSE: Thank you. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Jim Samuel? 

J A M E S S A M U E L: Good afternoon. My name is Jim 

Samuel. The organization I represent is RESOLVE, Inc. 

is the peer support group for persons and couples with 

f erti 1 i ty. We are the population most affected 

RESOLVE 

impaired 

by the 

discussion today. Our national organization is 10,000 members 

~n 47 chapters in 34 states. There are four chapters with New 

Jersey members. Our population is larger than most people 

realize. One couple in six, of child-bearing age, has 

difficulty in conceiving and maintaining a pregnancy. That 

works out to 10 million Americans who either have a fertility 

impairment or are part of a couple who have 

impairment, and are involuntarily childless. 

This number is on the increase for a 

reasons, but more importantly, resolving impaired 

much more difficult than it was, say, 15 years 

traditional resolutions are less available. 

a fertility 

variety of 

fertility is 

ago, since 

Back then, 

fertility work-ups were relatively cursory, and couples who 

could not create children adopted healthy, white newborns 

easily. But, nowadays, problem pregnancies are terminated; 

single women often keep their children; and birth control is 

more widely practiced. Next year, we expect the month-after 

pill to be available by prescription, and the already tight 

baby pool wi 11 be constricted further. Not al 1 of us -- in 

fact, very few of us -- fit the profile of persons who adopt 

hard-to-place kids, which is 40s or older, with kids already. 

So, many of us adopt internationally or trans-racially. But, 

there are waiting lists and expense, and these options are not 

right for everybody. Besides, pushing additional people toward 

adoption would exacerbate an already overloaded situation, and 

just lengthen the waiting list for everyone. 

I find it no coincidence that surrogate parenting 

began as a commercial practice in the 1970s -- 1974, I believe 

shortly after the Supreme Court set guidelines for the 
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legalization of abortion; 1974 was also the year that RESOLVE 
was incorporated. With uncertain success rates in f ert i 1 i ty 
medical treat!:[l€nt, and an ever-shrinking pool of healthy,·white 
newborns for adoption, things , were getting tough- - for 
infertiles, and they started seeking other options and support 
from one another. 

The emotions of infertility have been linked to the 
emotions couples feel when they experience the death of their 
children. I would think that what I experience is also like 
the difficult experience that parents of missing children face, 
daily grief and constant frustration. I don't know if I will 
ever see my children, just as they don't know if they will ever 
see their children again. 

Assemblymen, we need all the legal and honest options 
available. Please don't abridge any of them. I applaud 
Assemblyman Kern for taking an interest in our population. I 
have a few specific comments. I will keep them short. We have 
a few pages of them, but I sent this to the Committee back in 
January, and also back in April. 

On Assembly Bill 3036, section--
ASSEMBLYMAN KER.~: We will make that part of the 

record. 

MR. SAMUEL: Okay, thank you. May I just stress, for 
maybe two minutes, the things that stand out most? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: All right. 
MR. SAMUEL: 

be separated from AIH. 
of the constrictions 

In A-3037, we echo that donor AID should 
If the husband is the donor, then some 

really shouldn't really apply. Also, 
testing donors just within one week of when the donation is to 
occur is a problem, because you don't really know when 1:he 
woman is going to ovulate, and you don't know-- Some of the 
tests take longer than a week to do. So, maybe semiannually 
would make more sense. There really isn't a problem with 
communicable diseases in AID at this time. 
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Also, the recording of donors compromises 

confidentiality, which will lead to a shortage of donors. AID 

is widely practiced -- something like 20,000 births . in the 

United States annually. If you constrict AID, you•are going to 

leave a lot of couples without the option that is the best one 

for them. By forcing the recording of donors, a lot of these 

donors won't come forward. The man in the street really 

doesn't know what confidentiality procedures are in place at 

the Department of Heal th, and may be reticent about coming 

forward. 
On A-3038, the main objection we have is a minor one. 

we are not really sure that doctors really need the whole 

medical history of the surrogate. That might be a compromise 

to her privacy. We are not really sure that is necessary. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you very much. Any 

questions? Yes, Assemblyman Thompson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Just one quest ion. With 

reference to this whole issue, with the predictions of medical 

groups throughout the country saying there will be an increase 

in AIDS and other communicable diseases at this time in the 

history of this country, don't you think we should have 

overemphasis with reference to the Assembly Resolution as far 

as the study commission is concerned dealing with this whole 

issue, rather than trying to enact legislation in the dark? 

MR. SAMUEL: I agree with Dr. Bohrer, who said that 

every week would be very cumbersome, expensive, not practical, 

and not workable. It couldn't work. In particular, our 

organization, RESOLVE-- Our Medical Coordinator notes that 

there is not a problem of communicable disease in AID 

artificial insemination by donor. Even though it is a problem 

for the population at large, with AID it doesn't seem to be a 

problem, maybe because the donors are medical students and they 

take care of themselves better, or maybe because they are more 

109 



carefully screened. I don't know, but it is not a problem with 
AID. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: Thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any other questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much. Brian Kelly? 
B R I A N J. K E L L Y, E S Q. : Thank you, Mr . Chairman 
and members of the Committee. I am here on behalf of the New 
Jersey State Bar Association. I have listened to all of the 
testimony that has been given today. I think al 1 of you can 
agree that much of it has been expert; some of it has actually 
been moving. 
said. 

I have three observations about what has been 

The first is, it is clear that reasonable minds 
indeed intelligent, expert minds -- can differ on the issue of 
surrogate parenthood. The problem is clearly a multifaceted 
one which requires an appropriate response -- a multifaceted, 
interdisciplinary response. For these reasons, the Bar 
Association has taken the position that the most appropriate 
approach to surrogate parenthood is through the Joint 
Resolution that is proposed. It is the position of the State 
Bar Association that this ought to be an ongoing, extensive 
inquiry into the problems surrounding surrogate parenthood. 

Thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you. Anything else? (no 

response) Any questions? (no response) 
That helps me out, too. Albert Anouna? 
right; I probably didn't. 

Thank you very much. 
I hope I got your name 

A L B E R T A N O U N A: I compliment you on your 
distinctive pronunciation. Thank you for allowing me to speak. 

Mine are just a few comments, and inasmuch as I am an 
owner of a commercial sperm bank within the State of New 
Jersey, you would be interested to know that there are no -- I 
am sure you know this criteria for establishing a 
bank. I have been in touch with the New Jersey 
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Department of Heal th for many years, and to no avai 1. We, 

however, as a sperm bank, belong-- I, as an individual, belong 

to the American Association of Tissue Banks, which has a 

subcommittee referred to as a Reproductive Council. I: also 

belong to the American Fertility Society. I am a bioanalyst 

laboratory director, which brings to mind that the way we. 

operate the sperm bank in New Jersey follows the rules, 

regulations, and proficiency testing of laboratory work. 

Besides being a sperm bank, the other corporation which I own 

and operate in New Jersey is ·a medical laboratory. 

established standards and guidelines that 

So, we have 

are very 

comprehensive and very proficient in making sure that our donor 

population, or human homologous sperm population, has been 

tested or kept properly. 

In view of those points, one of the i terns in your 

Assembly Bill 3036, line 22, referring to "the freezing of 

semen, ova, or embryos shall be performed under the supervision 

of a licensed physician--" Keeping what I just said in mind, 

we do operate under those guidelines, but we have to affirm the 

health related care facility, and I am considered to be one of 

them, at least that is my opinion. That should be included in 

our format. 

We do follow one established guideline by the American 

Association of Tissue Banks and CDC -- the Center of Disease 

Control -- which is quarantining all human donor samples for at 

least three months. We are the only sperm bank in the country 

that does monthly testing a series of chemical and 

biochemical tests which I have forwarded to the members of 

the board, which includes AIDS, drug testing, genetic testing 

-- which means to look at the chromosomes and the normalcy -­

chemistry, sexually transmitted diseases, and others. Our 

intent as a sperm bank is to make sure that the donor is 

protected and the recipient is protected. A donor is not 

accepted if he does not remain in quarantine for three months; 

if he does not submit himself to a monthly testing. 
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So, it is very vigorous. You don't just become a 
donor because you get paid, but because you follow very strict 
regulations. "' 

The other issue relates to the next bill, which is 
A-3037. Again, the health care facility does come under our 
abi 1 i ty to obtain peer supervision under the American 
Association of Tissue Banks. It is organized so that we are 
inspected by qualified individuals who are themselves in the 
business of sperm banking, or who are well-known in that area. 

The other issue on that same bill is the use of donor 
semen for more than 20 different official inseminations. There 
is no way I know of to obtain the physicians' cooperation to 
let us know when a pregnancy takes place. It is so anonymous 
that the only time you get feedback is when accidentally they 
say, "By the way, we did get a pregnancy." By the same token, 
I don't think that releasing those records the donor 
records, that is to the State Department of Heal th, and 
operating as a State Motor Vehicle agency or USDA agency, would 
help us in any way. We are professionals; we do maintain a set 
of records. The donors are aware that their records are in our 
keeping. We do not destroy anything. We are very much aware 
that we are liable under medical legal practices. Our 
insurance company is behind us, and so are the attorneys who 
are helping us. 

The testinq of the donor is so vigorous that only 20% 
of the individuals who present themselves as possible donors do 
become donors at our sperm bank. You really have to have a 
high sperm count, have a high recovery count, to be a~le to be 
a donor. Only the healthiest sperm do maintain to the freezing 
and thawing process. It is really amazing -- and I welcome any 
of you to come to our sperm bank to see how we do it, because 
it is not difficult once you know what you are doing -- to see 
how well a living cell can be frozen and brought back to life 
with the right environment. This has. been done since 1866, and 
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documented in some of the august clinical facilities. It has 

been promulgated since then, but the first birth in the United 

States occurred in 1953, using frozen sperm. 

The other objective the sperm bank has is that we work 

on a very personal level. Our brochure points out that the 

individual recipient gets to choose from a list of donors. We 

answer their questions; we work with them. We let them know 

what testing has been done. I feel the only way to approach 

the subject is on a one-on-one basis. We do not run a 

supermarket of choice, but ours is a very qualified, very 

detailed medical facility. The donors themselves have to fill 

out a 13-page information heal th record for us to be able to 

evaluate them. That information -- the donor questionnaire or 

the recipient questionnaire or any of the forms we may use on a 

day-to-day basis -- can be made available to the Committee. 

I would be happy to answer any questions you may have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Do you charge a fee to the 

recipient? 

MR. ANOUNA: I charge a fee to the physician, who in 

turn charges it to the recipient. We do not deal with the 

recipients directly. We get the information -- the statistical 

analysis and characteristics the recipients would like us to 

match, or the recipients themselves want to match -- but the 

fee is charged to the physician, who in turn bills the patient 

for the delivery, depending on which part of the country we 

have to ship the sperm to, or which part of the world we have 

to ship the sperm to, plus the specimen itself. We do not 

charge the patient or the physician if the number of sperm 

moving and their motility do not satisfy a level of fertility. 

That is a motility of greater than 60%, and a number of 40 

million sperm, which is considered a very healthy, normal 

specimen. So, our target is really a healthy pregnancy. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I see. What is the amount charged? 
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MR. ANOUNA: We charge $75 per vial, and that is one 
cc of human sperm, that can be either used as is, or as in the 
medical, now progressive, technology where the sperm is washed 
and placed in the uterus directly. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Yes, Assemblyman Thompson? 
ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: One question: On your -13-page 

questionnaire, do 
have been any 
background? 

you ask a question about whether or not there 
mental disorders in the person's family 

MR. ANOUNA: Yes. We try to go back four or five 
generations whenever possible. It is very hard. Donors have 
to meet with me, or with an individual at my facility, at least 
four or five times. We get to know them very personally. It 
does not operate the same as a blood bank. You cannot just 
walk in, drop your specimen, and never be seen. If someone 
asks me for a profile of a donor, there are very high moral 
ethics. They are not just there for the money. They are 
giving people. There are not too many of them. There is a 
shortage of donors that is truly unbelievable, as you can see 
by the numbers that were given to you. Parenting is a very 
dear and important part of the infrastructure these days. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KER..~: Could you give us a copy of the 
criteria you utilize? 

MR. ANOUNA: Sure. I will be happy to forward that. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: I would appreciate that. Now, 

suppose a physician were required to report back to you with 
respect to whether or not a pregnancy occurred? 

MR. ANOUNA: At the present time, we are attempting to 
undertake a statistical analysis, because there are no true 
statistical analyses as to how many pregnancies have occurred 
using a sperm bank. We have been in business -- I, on my own, 
that is -- for the last six years. What we are attempting to 
do is ask the physicians for the number of vials used on 
individual patient X, Y, Z, whether there was any course of 
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treatment or medication, whether there has been a pregnancy, a 

loss of pregnancy -- what happened to that specimen? Those 

statistics are being asked of recipients and-physicians at the 

same time. Does it work? We know it does. What is the 

percentage? Are they heal thy_ pregnancies? As far as we know, 

they are, because sperm bank freezing is a way of eliminating 

all unhealthy sperm. Only healthy sperm can take t~e freezing 

and thawing process, because of the membrane conditions -- the 

cell membrane. 

ASSEMBLW..AN KERN: Assemblyman Shusted? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: I assume you pay the donor. Is 

that correct? 

MR. ANOUNA: Yes, it is. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: What kind of a fee do you pay 

them? 
MR. ANOUNA: Again, we are one of the highest paying 

sperm banks in the country. We pay $75 for a good sample. It 

has to meet very stringent er i ter ia. It has to be over two 

cc's. It has to have a count of over 100 million cells per 

cc. It has to show 90% motility. In other words, if it is not 

there, I cannot charge someone else for that, 

does not get paid, because he just drops off a 

has to be a good, viable sample. 

and the donor 

specimen. It 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: Do you have donors who are 

repeat donors? 

MR. ANOUNA: Oh, yes. Do you mean where pregnancies 

occur, or--

ASSEMBLW...AN SHUSTED: No, I am talking about the donor 

-- the sperm donor. 

MR. ANOUNA: Oh, the 1 if e span of a donor with our 

facility is anywhere between one year and three years. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SHUSTED: What steps do you take to be 

certain that that sperm is the sperm of the donor and not of 

someone else? 
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MR. ANOUNA: Well, first of all, again, we follow very 
strict laboratory procedures. Everything is dated, numbered, 
and logged. ~--on our vial, we etch a -number that is 
non-removable, with the donor identification number and the 
date it was frozen. It is segregated, depending on the date 
and the type of donor. So, to the best of our ability, it is 
done the same way we would handle your blood spec~men compared 
to other blood specimens; that is, by name and the proficiency 
and the expertise of the person doing it. We follow State 
health regulations. 

ASSEMBLYMAN THOMPSON: I think the Assemblyman brought 
up a good question. One of the problems we had in New Jersey 
quite some time ago -- which we resolved -- was in reference to 
methadone programs, where the addicts were coming in and 
switching the urine. They were out drinking and getting high, 
and the urine was showing up clear until they had to clamp down 
and screen them to find out whether or not it was their urine. 

MR. ANOUNA: Well, I have to try to trust my donors. 
There is no way of identifying under the scope whose sperm they 
are, but you would be surprised, once you have done it many 
times, there is a particular finger pattern on what a sperm 
looks like from individual donors. Each one of us, upon 
ejaculation, may look a 1 i ttle different -- not that I am an 
expert, by far, or can look into a crystal ball. But, you have 
to trust people. You have to test them, and they are aware of 
it. They usually give us the same volume. They do not vary 
greatly. You know, they have particular patterns. 

We do not pay them immediately. They are three months 
behind in being paid, so it is not-- Their money is banked, as 
we say. There is no immediate cash on hand. But, they are 
serious people, and we need them to come over and over again, 
because the requests of people who have conceived once are that 
they want the same donor for their next conception. We have 
that available as well. It is a very high practice to create a 
family unit. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Over what period of time can you 

keep frozen sperm? 

, MR, ANOUNA:- It has been !)rornulgated by ... individuals in 

the same field, 500 years or more., And, nobody would want to 

come back. (laughter) 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Are there any other .questions? (no 

response) Thank you very much. David Hollander, M.D. 

D R. D A V I D H O L L A N D E R: Assemblyman Kern and 

honored members of the Committee: My name is David Hollander. 

I am a New Jersey native. I reside in Hillsborough. I am a 

physician; I am a cancer researcher; I am on the faculty of the 

University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey in New 

Brunswick. But I am also a member of Central New Jersey 

RESOLVE. I am here today not as a physician, but to bear 

witness as one who is deeply, personally affected by the issues 

you are judging today. 

I am a husband in this situation. For three years, my 

wife and I have been trying to conceive. For the past two 

years, we have been under medical care for fertility 

treatment. We yearn for a child. We dream and fantasize about 

our child, but we remain frustrated daily. 

Let me first address some feelings on a personal level 

about surrogate parenting. Surrogate parenting surrogate 

mothering, in particular -- is a wonderful gift. It is absurd 

to portray surrogate mothers as one monolithic class of people 

who are victimized by a system. They are not all the same. 

The mention of Mary Beth Whitehead today -- I have lost count 

of how many times-- She is an aberration, an exception to the 

rule. I wish we could discuss the dozens, in fact hundreds, of 

other successful surrogate parenting situations. It is as if 

we are here to condemn blood transfusions because of one 

transfusion reaction. 

Surrogate parenting as I say is a wonderful gift 

from a woman to a couple. It is more than lifesaving; it is 
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1 ife-gi ving, It is a sharing of an abi 1 i ty that one person has 
that she can develop and share with another. In the last three 
years,. my wife and I have personally_ received, ·.unsolicited, 
three offers of help from three adult women. - .They are not poor 
women one· an elementary schoolteacher, one a physical 
therapist, and the other a physician. They have all offered to 
act as surrogate mothers, if it would help us. 

We appreciate the concern of this . Committee meeting 
today. We appreciate the opportunity to speak. We live in a 
society that is overwhelmed by the fear of conception. Our 
society strives for the perfect contraceptive for those of whom 
I am envious, those who are so capable of fertility that they 
can't control it. Well, I am jealous. It is difficult to find 
sympathetic, understanding 1 i steners, who are wi 11 ing to 
discuss difficult issues regarding infertility. 

These legal acts -- these proposals today are not 
perfect as they stand. They must be refined, and they must be 
established so that practices are regulated. There are 
clauses, there are conditions, that I feel are medically 
inaccurate; some that need more medical input. There are also 
invasions of privacy that I object to, invasions that fertile 
couples are deemed immune from. 

Let me point out when we discuss confidentiality, that 
it has nothing to do with shame. None of us who are infertile 
are ashamed of our infertility. Maybe in the first few moments 
in the first few months of dealing with it, because we have 
become so used to blaming ourselves for everything, we are 
shameful. Once we come to understand that it is a medical 
illness, it is not something that we brought on ourselves, it 
is something we have been victimized by, the shame is gone. We 
are not proud of being infertile, but we are not ashamed of 
it. Confidentiality has to do with both private 
confidentiality -- the acts of privacy; people have a right to 
have control over what is known about them -- and there is also 
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medical confidentiality. It is not a matter of people 

unwilling to"admit to having a child by donor insemination, or 

- by surrogate parenting;· it is a private matter. - -I don't mean 

to become crude, but for those of us who were conceived in the 

traditional, natural way, there is no record in the State 

Department of Health about what sexual intercourse our parents 

were in, or the date and time we were conceived. That is a 

private matter, and so should other matters of fertility 

treatment be private. 

These acts are not perfect. I appreciate your 

efforts. I would have comments about specific items on the 

different bills, but I agree with the feelings of Dr. Kemmann, 

Dr. Bohrer, Jim Samuel, and Dr. Schmidt, who have already 

addressed you, and delivered copies of their statements. There 

are medical and technical aspects of these bills which I would 

not expect legislators to automatically understand. I am a 

scientific writer. I cannot write legislative language, and I 

can't expect you to intuitively know how to write medical 

language. 

I would appreciate it if future workings on these 

bills were in conjunction with medical professionals, as well 

as people on both sides of the issue who can contribute from 

personal experience. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: We'll put you to work. 

DR. HOLLANDER: Yes. We ask that you treat us, and 

this issue, with the same respect and concern shown to fertile 

people. I would 1 ike to point out it has already been 

pointed out -- that there is a great deal of misunderstanding 

and confusion over some of the items, which clearly cannot be 

passed as they stand now in these bills. It is very obvious 

that the issues of infertility in these bills have nothing to 

do, with all due respect, to cloning or blindness, and it is 

very irritating to hear discussions about living wills and 

blindness brought up. It is evidence that there has not been 
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enough research, and we are not at a point in this hearing 
where people are knowledgeable enough to decide matters that 
af feet peopl.e like me. 

•- That is al 1 -the statement I have to make. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Thank you. .We_ are going to put you 

to work. If you do not have copies of the bills, we will give 
them to you. If you can work on refini~g them so that they are 
much more accurate, as far as medical terminology, etc. is 
concerned, we would welcome your suggestions. These are a 
beginning point. They are really working drafts. You have to 
start somewhere. That is why we are holding hearings, so that 
we can get the input; we can get the expertise; and we can 
develop a product that is superior, and not just a mere 
suggestion. 

questions? 
Gans? 

(no response) Thank you 
Are there any 

very much, Doctor. Mary 
M A R Y L. G A N S: It is a privilege to be with you, and 
I thank you very much for the opportunity to come. 

I could not agree more that the trauma of 
childlessness is one of the most difficult things for any 
couple to bear. My mother miscarried al 1 of her children. I 
was born at the seventh month; I weighed three pounds. My 
brothers and sisters were lost. My mother miscarried as I 
say -- nine times. I had one brother who was born when I was a 
teen-ager. I spent my sibling life praying that I would have 
brothers and sisters. I do understand the terrible tragedy of 
losing children. 

Compassion is a prime requirement for mutual 
interaction in personal and national relations. But, wisdom 
and experience, and the existence of basic moral concepts must 
be equally considered. Maudlin sympathy cannot be allowed to 
obfuscate reason and truth. The inability to conceive and 
carry a child is, indeed, a grave sadness, but many painful 
conditions exist in the world. They must be considered and 
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assisted where possible; they cannot be solved by imposing 

injustice on innocent others by opening and protecting by law 

the right of a weal thy few to purchase a child; to place the 

woman in temporary bondage and contractual obligation; to sell 

the use of her body, and finally her child; to bind herself, 

though willingly; to allow her child to be killed by abortion 

or embryo discarding if that child in any way fails to measure 

up to its purchasing parents' standards. Even if that paternal 

parent is the donor of the sperm, his right to take possession 

of his child, however conceived, is limited by the guaranteed 

legal rights of that child, a citizen of our country, where no 

man can be purchased by another. It is a er ime in this country 

for a parent to sell a living child, even to the other 

biological parent, or any other person, even though that person 

may be better able to care for the child. 

Shall we take children away from less qualified 

parents? What criteria shall we use to decide? Shall we test 

for parenting permission, wealth, education, emotionally and 

religious attitudes? We have long rejected the argument that 

the condition of the "savage black man" was improved by the 

kind slave owner who bought him. We would all decry the 

licensing of parents with reusal for those who did not qualify 

to master race standards. Yet, the right to procreate is not 

an unrestricted right. No one can be forced to procreate by 

partner or government. No one can force an unwi 11 ing partner 

to attempt procreation. 

What we are doing in legalizing contracts to sell a 

bearer's body that is, the natural mother and the 

product, the baby, is an outright renewal of slavery. Now, in 

upholding the founding documents of this great country, perhaps 

we must consider that we are "one nation under God," and 

whether that obliges us to consider the inalienable rights of 

all men who are endowed by their creator not by their 

government with their right to life. We might find it 
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necessary to consider the expert advice of the diverse experts in the fields of religious service, which our country also guarantees. We seek legal and medical advice, but surely this issue cries for religious advice, unless we are to violate our principle of sovereighty under God. 
Religiously speaking, morality has always had the consensus that natural parenting was a right, and that family rights preceded government. The assumption that new technology has replaced old morality is rash indeed, and contrary to our own fundamental documents which we have sworn to uphold. When a government attempts to legislate the sale of children to governmentally approved child raisers, to consider methodology for child improvement through juggled parenting, gene control, or entl)ryo management, we are opening the way to the same kind of imbalanced, self-seeking, and, finally, vicious and inhuman practices that we have seen before in Nazi Germany. Let us remer;ber that human life is a gift of God, and the duty of gove!"nment is to defend and protect each innocent life. The fact that a thing is possible does not necessarily mean that it is .:se, or even right to do it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KERN: Any questions? { no response) Than'i you very much. 
That concludes the formal list of people who submitted an a:inouncement that they wished to testify. We will be rece:.ving a statement from the National Association of surrogate Mothers, which wi 11 be placed into the record. That is t,eing forwarded to us from California. 
This particular hearing is concluded. Undoubtedly, there will be future hearings on these very complex issues. 
I want to thank everyone for coming to voice their opi~bns, and those in the audience who came just to listen. 
The hearing is adjourned. 

(HEARING CONCLUDED) 
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A Statement on the Issue of Surrogate Parenting and Assembly 

Bill No. 3038 

The New Jersey 
Hon. 

General 
Walter 

To 

Assembly Committee on the Judiciary 

H.D. Kern, Chair. 

by 

Richard A. Kruse 

Professor of Social Science 

Fairleigh DicK in son University 

Co-Chairman, New Jersey Citizens Against Surrogate Parenthood 

This statement is in three parts: The first part will be an 

analysis of Judge Harvey R. SorKow 1 s opinion in the Baby M Case, 

the second an analysis of the issues involved in commercial 

surrogacy agreements, and third, comment on Assembly Bill 3038. 

It is my hope that this information will aid the Committee and 

the General Assembly in their deliberations on the subject. 

On March 31, 1987 Judge Harvey R. SorKow issued his 121 page 

opinion in the Baby H case. SorKow 1 s decision gave custody of 

the child to William Stern, stripped the natural mother o-f all 

parental and visitation rights, and declared the surrogate 

contract legal. This sweeping decision was greeted with cries 

victory by Noel P. Keane, a Michigan lawyer and head of the 

Infertility Center of New YorK, who arranged the Sterns., 

contract, and by Harilyn Quill, a spoKeswoman for the newly 

formed 61 member National Association of Surrogate Mothers. 

William Handel, lawyer-Director of the Center for Surrogate 

Parenting of Beverly Hills, California, proclaimed that 

•surrogate parenting is here to stay.• This statement is 

premature. Judge SorKow 1 s verdict is not legal precedent, even 

in New Jersey, until it is affirmed by the New Jersey Supreme 

of 

Court. As Judge Zoran Popovich of the Superior Court of 

Pennsylvania has pointed out "A verdict and judgment by 

court is binding on no one except the litigants of the 

may be •unprecedented" in the historical sense, it is 

a trial 
case. It 

not 

precedential in the legal sense.• 

Judge SorKow 1 s 
several theories 
a human being is 

reasoning legalizing the contract is based upon 

aimed at overturning the common law dictum that 

not the proper subject of a contract. 

SorKow asserts that if a man is free to sell his sperm than a 

woman has a similar right to rent her uterus. The comparison is 

faulty. Biologically the sperm equivalent is not the womb but 

the ova. This •uterus rental" deprives the woman, SorKow 1 s legal 
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A particular odious effect of in vitro fertilization 
and surrogate motherhood is its threat to the unity and stability 
of the family. No one will deny the strong interest of society 
in the preservation of the ~raditional family. Indeed, many of 
the ills of society can be blamed on the loss of traditional 
family values. Logically then procedures which threaten the 
stability or integrity of the family also threaten the stability 
of society at large. It is in this context that we maintain that 
in vitro fertilization and surrogate motherhood are contrary to 
the public policy of this State and urge this committee to affirm 
that policy by rejecting these bills. 



United 
up the 

of the 

tenant, of the right given in all fifty 

Western countries to reconl:>ider giving 

This right is based upon the recognition 

mothers become attached to the child and 

States 
child 

and 
after 

all 
birth. 

fact that most 
cannot 

collection 
of a nine 

give him 
and 
month 

or her 

up. Moreover, the contention that the 

implantation of sperm is the equivalent 

and labor is ludicrous. 

pregnancy 

A second SorKow theory, that the surrogate contract is not the 

trading in human life that is prohibited by the 13th Amendment, 

is refuted by the terms of the agreement. The contract provides 

that Mary Beth Whitehead is to be given $10,000, deposited with 

the Infertility Center of New YorK to await delivery of the 

child. For this she is to "assume all risKs, including the risK 

of death." In exchange William Stern can demand (1) cessation of 

the contract with no payment to Mary Beth Whitehead if there is a 

miscarriage within the first five months of pregnancy, and (2) 

medical tests of the fetus between the sixteenth and twentieth 

weeK of pregnancy and, if "physiological abnormalities" are 

detected, abortion •upon demand of William Stern.• If the Stern 

demanded abortion or miscarriage taKes place after the fourth 

month, Mary Beth Whitehead is to receive $1000. The Infertility 

Center of New YorK is to be paid a •nonrefundable" fee of $7500 

in advance and is exempt from all liabilities if Mary Beth 

Whitehead does not become pregnant or abide by her "contract" "to 

surrender custody." These clauses belie SorKow's claim that this 

is a contract for services and not for the sale of a delivered 

baby. SorKow argues that a man "cannot purchase what is already 

his." It is, however, the common practice that a joint tenant to 

property can pay the other tenant to give up his or her rights to 

that property. SorKow is once again legally wrong. William 

Stern contracted to pay not for services but for a baby without 

"physiological abnormalities." He did not have to accept the 

child. If such "abnormalities" were detected before the 20th 

weeK of pregnancy, he could then demand an abortion. Can a 

contract that demands that a woman be forced to have an abortion 

be legal? I realize that the proposed Kern legislation 

forecloses this possibility. The contract undermines the 

sentimental aspect of human nature. Decent ordinary people 

accept what they get when a child is born, loving and nurturing 

the unhealthy or physiologically imperfect child even more than a 

healthy or perfect child. They base their efforts in behalf of 

the child on need. This is the living basis of family life. 

Sorkow tacitly approves insurance fraud. The legalized contract 

states that William Stern is to pay all medical expenses not 

covered by Mary Beth Whitehead's medical insurance. The 

insurance in question was a "family" policy attained through 

Richard Whitehead's employment. Sorkow's theory maKes William 

Stern the sole beneficiary of this "family" contract. No 

rationalization, no matter how flagrant, could maKe Stern a part 

of the Whitehead family. 

Here, too, does SorKow violate the logic 

the Supreme Court of the United States 
of the 1973 decision 

in Roe v. Wade. This 
of 



decision was based upon the •substantive due process• clause of 
the 14th Amendment and holds that a woman has a right to control 
her own body and therefore has the right to an abortion in the 
first three months of pregnancy. It bases this conclusion on an 
assumption of a woman 1 s right of privacy. As controversial as 
this decision is, it surely prohibits someone other than the 
pregnant woman to "demand an abortion• as specified in the 
surrogate contract. It also should give the woman the right to the product of her body. 

Judge Sorkow sweeps aside laws against the sale of children. 
These laws exist in every civilized society and in the fifty 
states to protect the exploitation of the needy by the affluent. Sometimes temporary economic or emotional distress causes people to make rash judgments or bad decisions. Laws against the sale 
of children recognize this human frailty. Mary Beth Whitehead 
claims she made such a mistake. Sorkow answers that such ideas 
are "insensitive and offensive to the intense drive to procreate 
naturally and, when that is impossible, to use what lawful means as possible to gain a child." This statement falsely assumes that surrogate contracts are "lawful means." The "intense drive to 
procreate naturally" is precisely what laws against the sale of 
children were designed to control. 

But had the Sterns exhausted every means of conceiving naturally? The contract reads: "The sole purpose of this Agreement is to 
enable William Stern and his infertile wife to have a child which is biologically related to William Stern." Elizabeth Stern is 
fertile. Her mild case of Multiple Sclerosis, originally self-diagnosed, has not deterred many women who were older and with more severe cases of MS from successfully conceiving and bearing healthy children. In fact, there was medical testimony that Mrs. Stern 1 s "extremely mind" case of MS might even improve during pregnancy. The Sterns never tried to conceive or adopt. One of the tests of parental fitness is the willingness to adopt. 

Sorkow follows with a novel legal theory first expounded by John · R. Robertson of the University of Texas. Robertson argues that married couples have a "right to procreate." He bases this right 
upon the "substantive due process clause" of the 14th Amendment 
the Supreme Court decision in Roe v. Wade. Sorkow 1 s decision 
states: "This right of procreation is bottomed in an individual 1 s 
constitutional right of privacy, secured by the 14th Amendment." Almost all constitutional scholars consider Robertson 1 s theory an absurdity. To rank a so-called "right to procreate" with the 1st Amendment freedoms of speech, press, and assembly places this 
shallow claim in perspective. Civil liberties are necessary to 
the proper functioning of a democratic society and should be 
cherished and fostered. Judge Sorkow's distorted assertion of a right to procreate is a far-fetched assumption in complete 
opposition to the purpose and logic of the 14th Amendment and Roe v. Wade. 
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POSITION REGARDING ARTIFICIAL HUMAN PROCREATION 

*********************************************** 

The National Coalition of Clergy and Laity adamantly 

rejects all civil legislation which would confer undue 
legitimation upon practices contrary to the fundamental 

norms of the moral law in matters concerning human rights, 

human life and the institution of the family. 

The Church teaches that Human procreation requires 

on the part of the spouses responsible collaboration 

with the fruitful love of God, The gift of human life 

must be actualized in marriage through the specific and 

exclusive acts of husband and wife, in accordance with 
the laws inscribed in their persons and in their union. 

As the recent Vatican document relating to bioethics 

states; "By comparison with the transmission of other 
forms of life in the universe, the transmission of human 
life has a special character of its own, which derives 
from the special nature of the human person. The trans­
mission of human life is entrusted by nature to a personal 
and conscious act and as such is subject to the all-holy 

laws of Goa, immutable and inviolable laws which must be 

recognized and observed. For this reason one cannot use 

means and follow methods which could be licit in the trans­

mission of the life of plants and animals," 

l(X 
"You are Peter, and upon this rock I will build my Church, 

and the [!ates of hell will not Drevail aPn;n,., ;,_" - l\.fr Tfi 1 ~-10 



NCCL - ARTIFICIAL HUMAN PROCREATION 2. 

It is our hope, that those who, by reason of their role and 
their commitment are involved in this issue will avail themselves 
the excellent instruction contained in the document Respect For 
Human Life In It's Origin and on the Dignity Of Procreation. It is 
vital, ·as·emphasized by Joseph Cardinal Rat~inger, Prefect of.the 
Congregation·For The Doctrine Of The Faith that, "~ .. all will 
understand the incompatibility between recognition of the dignity 
of the human person and contempt for life and love, between faith 
in the living God and the claim to decide arbitrarily the origin 
and fate of a human being." 
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William F. Bolan, Jr. 
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TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

Members, Assembly Judiciary Committee 

New Jersey Catholic Conference 

A-3035, A-3036, A-3037, A-3038, A-3039 

A-3040 and AJR-76 

In the current debate over the legality of reproductive 

technologies certain basic principles have been overlooked. 

Specifically, there are inalienable rights of the person which 

must be recognized and respected by the body politic. Primary 

among these inalienable rights is every human being's right to 

life and physical integrity from the moment of conception until 

death. A human being is a gift from God called into existence 

through the love and physical union of husband and wife. In 

fact, we use the term procreation when we refer to the 

reproduction of a human being. Because it flows from human 

reason and will procreation makes certain procedures 

inappropriate for human beings which would be acceptable for the 

transmission of life of plants and animals. The State should 

neither promote nor facilitate any procreation outside marriage. 

It is to married couples alone that the moral law reserves the 

contribution of the life-giving elements required for 

procreation. For the welfare of the families and the children 

involved, civil law should recognize that reservation. 

In vitro fertilization is unacceptable because it 

substitutes a laboratory procedure for the conjugal union of 

husband and wife. Furthermore, this practice which usually 

involves the further abuse of the destruction of some embryos, 

commonly called "spares," which are not transferred to the 

genital tract of the woman will be done with legislative 

approval. Regretably, A-3036 explicitly permits a female donor 

to submit to an abortion if the physician is unable to retrieve 

an embryo. Thus, for some embryos these procedures will serve as 

a death sentence. This is clearly a violation of the right of 

every human being to life. 

Equally unacceptable is A-3039 which deals with the 

ownership of a frozen embryo conceived through in vitro 

fertilization. Although freezing of embryos is highly debated 

among practitioners and ethicians, this bill pays no heed to that 
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debate. The freezing of embryos is offensive to the respect due to human beings because it exposes them to grave risks of death or harm to their physical integrity and deprives them, at least temporarily, of maternal shelter and gestation, thus placing them in a situation in which further offenses and manipulation are possible. 

The issue of surrogate motherhood raises the fundamental question of whether it is ethical for someone to create a human life with the intention of giving it up. We think not. Succinctly stated it is the position of the Catholic Bishops of New Jersey that surrogate motherhood is legally wrong because it violates the public policy of this State (by making licit the sale of a child, albeit through the subterfuge of renting the womb of a woman) and is morally wrong because it violates biological and spiritual unity of the husband and wife and the parental relationship of parents and child. 

The concept of surrogate motherhood as a legal wrong is firmly grounded in the public policy of this state for a myriad of reasons but most significantly because it exploits a child as a commodity and exploits a woman as a "baby-maker." In the former situation it promotes injustice and, in the latter, it utterly disregards social responsibility. 

Children are a gift of God. As such they can never be treated as chattels or commercial pawns or as commodities to be produced as service rendered in exchange for a service fee. The practice of surrogate motherhood is an affront to the human dignity of a child. This human dignity is not only recognized but is protected by the state under the doctrine of "parens patriae," a doctrine that is traceable to our heritage at common law. In conformity with this doctrine the New Jersey adoption laws not only prohibit the payment or the receiving of money or any valuable consideration in exchange for the placement of a child for adoption but also makes the material assistance of an agent, finder or intermediary a criminal act. The entire concept of surrogate motherhood reduces the creation of a child, a human being, to the level of a commercial transaction. The womb is leased to produce rather than to love a child into existence. When the natural mother surrenders her child for financial remuneration, she is exploiting the most precious thing she can bring into existence, her own child. 

The rights of the child itself are also violated. Every child has a right to true parents. Surrogate mothering confuses the relationship by introducing a second mother. The natural attachment a woman has with the child in whose creation she has participated is denied. The process destroys the parent-child bond and is a grave injustice to the child. 

The concept exploits women as a part of a "human machine." The surrogate mother uses he~ womb for commercial use. 
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When her days are accomplished and her contract labor is 

finished, she is made to surrender an integral part of her life, 

her child, and with it to surrender any natural claim or bond to 

the child. She has allowed herself to be used for financial gain 

.and all that remains is the money -- and the broken bond and, 

perhaps, some broken dreams. The _probability cannot be ignored 

that this concept may also put undue pressure upon poor women to 

use their bodies to support themselves or their families. It 

would not be unfair to say that the concept of surrogate 

motherhood would not be the subject of discussion today if money 

was not involved; money for the mother; money for the clinics 

that invented the concept and money for the legal community which 

has mapped out the particulars of its operation. 

Nor should one disregard the fact that the concept of 

surrogate motherhood is morally wrong. It is morally wrong 

because it violates the biological and spiritual unity of the 

husband and wife and the dignity of the person of the child as an 

object for which the parties negotiate. 

Central to the marriage covenant is the joining 

together of two people for the procreation and education of 

children. To introduce a surrogate mother as a third party into 

the marital relationship to assume the procreative role is to 

threaten the unity of the relationship. 

The practice of surrogate motherhood is a threat to the 

stability of the family. Rather than experiencing a child as a 

bond between a husband and wife, a child born of a surrogate 

arrangement can easily be a divisive force. The potential 

psychological impact of the stress caused by the acts of 

conception, pregnancy, delivery, surrender of the child and the 

acceptance by another of the child, involving an individual 

outside of the marriage relationship, cannot be underestimated. 

Nor can we underestimate the impact on the family structure 

within the family of the surrogate mother. The interest of 

siblings must be considered. How do they react to the fact that 

their baby brother or sister has been given to a stranger? 

The legal and emotional turmoil aroused by the question 

of a baby's parentage plays out in very human terms the moral 

dilemma created when the laws of nature are subverted. Who 

indeed should be considered the child's parent - the man whose 

sperm artificially inseminated the woman or the woman, acting as 

a surrogate, who carried the child and gave birth? The question 

does not submit to a quick or easy answer. Each adult party has 

something to gain or lose by a decision. It is the child, 

though, who ultimately bears the most lasting impact. The child 

has become a pawn whose destiny is determined by the 

persuasiveness of each side in the dispute. 

To some minds, this transfer of a child from a 

surrogate mother to a biological father and his spouse ~1ight 
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appear to be no different from adoption. One could argue that in 
a surrogate situation the child has some genetic relationship to 
the father while in an adoption, no such relationship exists. 
The differences, however, are vast and are rooted in biology as 
well as the moral and ethical standards of the human community. 
A child is placed for adoption because of the circumstances of 
the mother which prevent her from caring for the child. Her 
concern for the child's welfare seeks a permanent and stable home 
for her offspring. In a surrogate situation, a child is 
deliberately conceived with the intention of transferring all 
responsibility for the child to others, contrary to ethical norms 
and without regard for the best interest of the child. 

The concept of surrogate motherhood can only be 
described as a concept that is a legal outrage and a moral 
disaster. It is totally incompatible with the sanctity of 
marriage and the nurturing of the family, the basic unit of our 
societal structure. The creation of human life cannot be reduced 
to the status of the pecuniary consideration of a contract which by its very terms ignores the essence of the humanity of those 
involved. Legislatures and courts in other jurisdictions have 
consistently refused to sanction this concept. 

We would hope that not only will the bill or the study 
resolution not be acted upon in New Jersey but that action will be· taken by the Legislature confirming that surrogate parenthood 
contracts violate the law and the public policy of our state. 

We are likewise troubled by A-3040. That measure 
requires a physician who performs a vasectomy, tubal 
sterilization or other surgical sexual sterilization procedures 
to inform the patient of the potential for the operation to fail 
to result in sterility. Our objection goes to the procedures themselves. We reiterate our long held opposition to human 
sterilization which violates the unitive and procreative aspects 
of marriage. We see in non-therapeutic sterilization a parallel 
to self-inflicted mutilation of a God given power and human 
integrity, a mutilation which should be abolished by society and society's lawmakers. We note that the finality of sterilization 
is an increasing problem and the fact that it is often promoted 
among the poor and minorities argues against any state approval 
or acceptance. This bill provides only the most minimal 
regulation. 

A-3035 requires a physician to warn a patient of the 
possible side effects from the use of fertility drugs. We 
recognize that infertility is a difficult trial for a husband and 
wife who.are unable to attain their legitimate aspirations to 
motherhood and fatherhood. We applaud and encourage technologies 
which restore the healthy functioning of the human reproductive 
system or which help conjugal intercourse achieve its procreative 
potential. 






